THE ROLE OF THE NRF2/KEAP1 SIGNALING PATHWAY IN THE EARLY EVENTS FOLLOWING JURKAT T CELL ACTIVATION

By

Joseph Ward Zagorski

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Cell and Molecular Biology—Environmental Toxicology—Doctor of Philosophy

ABSTRACT

THE ROLE OF THE NRF2/KEAP1 SIGNALING PATHWAY IN THE EARLY EVENTS FOLLOWING JURKAT T CELL ACTIVATION

By

Joseph Ward Zagorski

Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) is a stress activated transcription factor, which is activated by reactive oxygen species, reactive electrophiles, and other xenobiotics. Under basal conditions, Nrf2 is tethered in the cytosol by its canonical repressor, Kelch-like ECHassociated protein 1 (Keap1). Keap1 acts as an adapter protein to an E3 ubiquitin ligase and facilitates the continual polyubiguitination and degradation of Nrf2 by the 26s proteasome, in unstressed conditions. In the presence of stressful stimulus, such as electrophilic compounds, key cysteines on Keap1 are modified, disrupting the ability of Keap1 to facilitate Nrf2 turnover, resulting in Nrf2 nuclear accumulation. In the nucleus, Nrf2 heterodimerizes with small Maf proteins and binds its consensus regulatory element, the antioxidant response element (ARE). To date, Nrf2 has been shown to drive the transcription of well over 100 genes, which are largely cytoprotective in function. Recently, Nrf2 has been shown to have a role beyond the antioxidant response. Studies have shown that Nrf2 plays a pivotal role in modulating immune response and inflammatory disease, ranging from autoimmunity to sepsis. Additionally, our lab demonstrated that activation of Nrf2 by the electrophilic food preservative tBHQ skews CD4 T cell fate toward a Th2 phenotype, in primary mouse CD4 T cells, which may increase susceptibility to allergy. In the present studies, we aimed to determine the role of the Nrf2/Keap1 system in human T cell activation, using the human Jurkat E6-1 cell line. In my first study, treatment of Jurkat T cells with the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, resulted in a dramatic reduction in the early cytokine IL-2 at 24h. Although not as marked as the suppression of IL-2, tBHQ treatment also significantly decreased CD25 expression in these cells but had no effect on CD69 expression, indicating T cell activation was not suppressed as a whole. In correlation with the decrease in IL-2 induction, tBHQ also inhibited the transcriptional activity of NF B, an important transcription factor for IL-2 gene regulation. These were the first studies to demonstrate that the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, suppresses the early events of T cell activation, using a human model; but it did not address whether the effects observed were due to the activation of Nrf2 or rather to off-target effects of tBHQ. Toward this end, we used CRISPR/Cas9 to generate Nrf2-null Jurkat cells. Treatment of wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells with tBHQ demonstrated that the suppression of IL-2 and NFkB by tBHQ was largely independent of Nrf2, whereas tBHQ-mediated inhibition of CD25 induction was largely Nrf2 dependent. To further characterize the role of Nrf2 in this model, 1[2-Cyano-3,12-dioxooleana-1,9(11)-dien-28-oyl]imidazole (CDDO-Im), a more potent and selective Nrf2 activator, was used. Interestingly, treatment of Jurkat cells with CDDO-Im resulted in a Nrf2-dependent suppression in IL-2 secretion. These were the first studies to demonstrate that activation of Nrf2 by tBHQ/CDDO-Im modulates immune function in a human model, but did not address basal genotype differences in the absence of xenobiotic. To address this, I utilized CRISPR/Cas9 to knock out the repressor of Nrf2, Keap1, resulting in Jurkat T cells with constitutive Nrf2 activity. Analysis of early endpoints of T cell activation in wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null cells show a marked increase in IL-2 induction in Nrf2-null cells, which is consistent with the Nrf2dependent suppression of IL-2 by CDDO-Im. Furthermore, Keap1-null cells, which have constitutive Nrf2 activity, show marked suppression of IL-2 secretion. Interestingly, Keap1-null cells also displayed a substantial increase in apoptosis, which may be the mechanism by which IL-2 is suppressed in these cells. In addition, modulation of nuclear translocation of c-jun and NFkB was observed in both Nrf2-null and Keap1-null genotypes. These are the first studies to demonstrate that the Nrf2/Keap1 system significantly modulates a number of early immune endpoints of T cell activation, including cytokine production, cell surface protein expression, and cell viability. These are the first studies, using a human model, to demonstrate a role for the Nrf2/Keap1 pathway in modulation of the early events of T cell activation.

This dissertation is dedicated to my loving wife, MacKenzie. Thank you for taking part in my endeavors and supporting my dreams. I love you more than I could ever say in words.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To begin, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Cheryl Rockwell. Thank-you for mentoring me over the last six years and for making me think like a scientist. Your willingness to listen to some of my ideas, even the bad ones, has helped me learn the process of doing and interpreting science. Beyond the research, you have fostered a culture of teamwork and collaboration within the lab, where we can have a dynamic mix of scientific discussions and light-hearted joking. Furthermore, I would be remiss if I didn't acknowledge the plethora of discussions revolving the craft beer scene in Michigan, and the quality brews we have recently had. My time in your lab has truly been a pleasure.

To my coworkers and fellow lab mates, thank you for your listening ear and willingness to help me hone ideas. Alex, thank you for your no-nonsense approach to things. This has been a much-needed juxtaposition to my often ready, shoot, aim mentality. Jenna, thank you for all the behind-the-scenes work you do for the lab on a daily basis. Rob, you have an easy nature and find a way to always make everyone laugh. Thank-you, that is needed in the sometimesstressful atmosphere of research. Bekah and Sheng, I have only gotten to know you over the last year, but I am glad that I did. Bekah, you have provided good advice, both personally and professionally. Sheng, you are a research magician. I am always in awe over your knowledge and I greatly enjoy your stores. Together, you all have made my time here enjoyable and productive; I will miss seeing you all every day.

I would like to thank my committee (Dr. Narayanan Parameswaran, Dr. James Pestka, Dr. John LaPres, and Dr. Linda Mansfield) for their guidance over the last several years. You have challenged me and helped me develop as a scientist. Although difficult at the time, thank-you

v

for the challenging discussions and committee meetings. Your suggestions have been integral in my success at Michigan State.

Finally, I would like to thank my family. You all have played roles in laying the ground work for my success, long before I stepped on campus. Thank-you for listening to me vent my frustrations, and encouraging me to not give up. Even if I would have been met at Michigan State with nothing but success, I would have been lost and not made it without you. You have kept me grounded, and, when needed, gave me the kick in the pants needed to be spurred forward. Thank you for your support and love. You are all the biggest blessing in my life, and I love you all.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURESix	
KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS	xi
CHAPTER 1	1
Literature review	1
Discovery of the ARE and Nrf2	2
Keap1, the classical negative regulator of Nrf2	3
Nrf2 activation and the ARE	4
Post-translational regulation of Nrf2	5
Other mechanisms of Nrf2 regulation	6
Nrf2 and cancer	7
Nrf2 and immune modulation	8
Nrf2 and NFκB cross-talk	10
T cell activation and signaling	11
IL-2 regulation	12
Physiological role of IL-2	14
NFkB, NFAT, and AP-1 regulation of IL-2 transcription	15
CRISPR/Cas9	16
Rationale of the present studies	18
REFERENCES	19
CHAPTER 2	34
The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, differentially affects early events following stimulation of Jurkat of	cells34
Abstract	35
Introduction	36
Materials and Methods	38
Results	43
Discussion	56
REFERENCES	60
CHAPTER 3	64
Nrf2-dependent and –independent effects of tBHQ, CDDO-Im, and H ₂ O ₂ in human Jurkat	T cells
Abetract	04 65
Introduction	05
Materials and Methods	88
Regulte	00
Discussion	73
	07 Q1
CHAPTER 4	96
The Nrf2/Keap1 system alters early human Jurkat T cell activation	96
Abstract	97
Introduction	98
Materials and Methods	101
Results	107

Discussion	
REFERENCES	122
CHAPTER 5	
Summary, significance, and future directions	127
Summary of findings	
Significance of the findings	
Future directions	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Diagram of Nrf2 functional domains
Figure 2: Depiction of CRISPR/Cas9 molecule interacting with genomic DNA 17
Figure 3: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, inhibits production of IL-244
Figure 4: tBHQ, causes nuclear translocation of Nrf2 in Jurkat T cells45
Figure 5: tBHQ causes induction of Nrf2 target genes in Jurkat T cells46
Figure 6: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, causes a modest reduction in CD25 expression in activated Jurkat cells
Figure 7: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, has a modest effect on the nuclear translocation of c-fos and c-jun
Figure 8: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, delays and decreases the magnitude of calcium influx in activated Jurkat T cells
Figure 9: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, does not affect NFAT DNA binding or transcriptional activity in activated Jurkat cells
Figure 10: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, modulates AP-1 and NFkB transcriptional activity in activated Jurkat cells
Figure 11: CRISPR-Cas9 induced INDEL formation in Jurkat T cells75
Figure 12: tBHQ increases Nrf2 nuclear accumulation and target gene expression in wild-type cells, but not Nrf2-null clones
Figure 13: Suppression of IL-2 production by tBHQ is largely independent of Nrf278
Figure 14: Treatment of Jurkat T cells with tBHQ suppresses CD25 in a partly Nrf2-dependent manner
Figure 15: NFkB transcriptional activity is decreased by tBHQ treatment independently of Nrf2
Figure 16: Suppression of IL-2 production by CDDO-Im is Nrf2-dependent82
Figure 17: Treatment of Jurkat T cells with CDDO-Im suppresses CD25 in a partly Nrf2- dependent manner
Figure18: Nrf2-null Jurkat clones are more sensitive to exposure to hydrogen peroxide86
Figure 19: CRISPR-Cas9 targeting of Keap1 results in Keap1-null clones
Figure 20: Keap1-null Jurkat T cells have constitutive Nrf2 activity

Figure 21:	Expression of Nrf2 and Keap1 alters IL-2 secretion in Jurkat cells10)8
Figure 22:	Keap1-null Jurkat clones express significantly less CD25 after stimulation, than eithe WT or Nrf2-null Jurkat cells	er I O
Figure 23:	Nrf2 inhibits c-jun nuclear accumulation in Jurkat T cells11	12
Figure 24:	The Nrf2 Keap1 axis alters p65 nuclear accumulation11	14
Figure 25:	Keap1-null Jurkat clones have increased caspase activity and cell death after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD2811	16

KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS

β-TrCP	Beta-transducin repeat containing
¥с	Common gamma chain
15d-PGJ2	15-Deoxy-Delta-12,14-prostaglandin J2
AhR	Aryl-hydrocarbon receptor
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AKT	Protein kinase B
ARE	Antioxidant Response Element
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BHA	Butylated hydroxyanisole
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
BLIMP1	B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein 1
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
bZip	Basic leuicine zipper
Cas9	CRISPR associated protein 9
CCL2	Chemokine ligand 2
CD3	Cluster of differentiation 3
CD4	Cluster of differentiation 4
CD8	Cluster of differentiation 8
CD25	Cluster of differentiation 25
CD28	Cluster of differentiation 28
CD69	Cluster of differentiation 69
CD80	Cluster of differentiation 80
CD86	Cluster of differentiation 86

cDNA	Complementary DNA
CDDO-Im	1[2-Cyano-3,12-dioxooleana-1,9(11)-dien-28-oyl] imidazole
CNC	Cap n' Collar
CRAC	Calcium release activated calcium channel
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
CTLA4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4
Cul3	Cullin 3
DDCt	Delta-delta cycle threshold
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTT	Dithiothreitol
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EGTA	Egtazic acid
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FRA-1	Fos-related antigen 1
Fyn	Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Fyn
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GSK3	Glycogen synthase kinase 3
gRNA	Guide RNA
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HMOX-1	Heme oxygenase (decycling) 1
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell

ICAM1	Intracellular adhesion molecule 1
IFN-y	Interferon gamma
lκB	Inhibitor of kappa B
IKK	Inhibitor of kappa B kinase
IL-2	Interleukin 2
IL-4	Interleukin 4
IL-2Rβ	Interleukin 2 receptor beta
INDEL	Insertions and deletions
JNK	c-jun N-terminal kindase
Keap1	Kelch ECH-associated protein 1
LCK	Lymphocyte-specific tyrosine protein kinase
MAF	Small musculo-aponeurotic fibro-sarcoma
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinases
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MOG	Myelin Oligodendrocyte Glycoprotein
mRNA	Messenger RNA
Neh	Nrf2 ECH-homology
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T cells
NFDM	Nonfat dry milk
ΝϜκΒ	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NP40	4-Nonylphenyl-polyethylene glycol
Nrf1	Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 1
Nrf2	Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2
Nrf3	Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 3
NQO1	NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase 1

OCT1	Octamer-binding transcription factor 1
p62	Sequestosome 1
p65	RelA
PAM	Protospacer-adjacent motif
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBST	Phosphate buffered saline with tween 20
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD-L1	Programmed death ligand 1
PERK	PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase
PI3K	Phosphoinositide-3 kinase
PKC	Protein kinase C
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
Rac	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate
Raf	Rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma
Ras	Rat sarcoma
RBX1	RING-box protein 1
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPL13a	Ribosomal protein L13a
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate - polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
shRNA	Small hairpin RNA
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SP	Sulforaphane
STAT5	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5

Src	Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src
TCR	T cell receptor
TBET	T-box transcription factor 21
tBHQ	tert-butylhydroquinone
ТВТО	Tri-n-butylin oxide
Th2	T-helper cell type 2
ΤΝFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
Treg	Regulatory T cell
qPCR	Quantitative PCR
ZAP-70	Zeta-chain-associated protein kinase 70

CHAPTER 1

Literature review

Discovery of the ARE and Nrf2

Organisms experience an almost continual barrage of stressors from both endogenous and exogenous sources. As a result, cells have evolved mechanisms to both repair the damage caused by these insults as well as resolving the root cause. These responses include reducing agents, such as glutathione; induction of metabolic genes, such as cytochrome p450s; and efflux pumps. In the early 1990s a unique regulatory element was discovered in the rat phase II metabolism glutathione S-transferase Ya gene, which is responsive to the synthetic food preservative, and electrophilic xenobiotic, *tert*-butyl hydroquinone ¹. The newly discovered responsive element became known as the antioxidant response element (ARE). Similar AREs were, a short time later, discovered in the regulatory regions of cytoprotective genes in both humans and mice, implying an evolutionary conservation of this cis-regulatory sequence ^{2,3}.

Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) was first cloned while determining proteins that bind to and drive the hypersensitivity site 2 within the beta globin locus ^{4,5}. Analysis of protein sequences of Nrf2 demonstrated that Nrf2 has a high degree of sequence homology to the basic leucine zipper (bZIP) family of transcription factors, as well as homology to structural Cap n' Collar proteins, shown to be necessary for drosophila mandibular development ^{4,6}. In mammals, this class of transcription factors is composed proteins such as Nrf1, Nrf2, and Nrf3 ^{4,5,7,8}. Furthermore, CNC transcription factors are known to heterodimerize with other bZIP proteins, including small Mafs ^{5,9}. In comparing Nrf2 homology between multiple species, including human and chicken, six highly conserved domains of Nrf2 were discovered and delineated as Neh1 through Neh6 (Fig. 1). The N-terminal Neh2 domain is necessary for Nrf2 turnover by its canonical repressor, Keap1. Beyond the Neh2 domain, the Neh4 and Neh5 domains are responsible for the transcriptional activator function of Nrf2, the Neh6 domain

interacts with a noncanonical repressor, β -TrCP, upon phosphorylation, and the C-terminal Neh1 and Neh3 domains function together to bind the ARE regulatory element ¹⁰.



Figure 1: Diagram of Nrf2 functional domains

Keap1, the classical negative regulator of Nrf2

Although Nrf2 contains 6 highly conserved regions (Neh1-6), it is the most conserved region, Neh2, which was found to be necessary for Nrf2 turnover. Using the Neh2 domain of Nrf2 as bait, Keap1 was identified as the classical repressor of Nrf2¹⁰. Keap1 is a cysteine-rich protein with at least 10 thiol groups adjacent to basic amino acids, serving to lower their pKa, and increase their reactivity to electrophilic compounds. These cysteine residues then act as electrophilic sensors, allowing electrophiles, such as *tert*-butylhydroquinone (tBHQ) to form adducts ^{11–13}. Under basal conditions Keap1 acts as a homodimer and is anchored to the actin cytoskeleton within the cytosol, where it serves as an adapter protein to an E3 ubiquitin ligase, RBX-1/Cul3 ^{14–17}. It is this interaction that facilitates the continual polyubiquitination and subsequent degradation of Nrf2. Two domains within the Neh2 region of Nrf2 are known to interact with Keap1. The DLG and ETGE have differing binding affinities to Keap1, with the ETGE domain binding with higher affinity, effectively tethering Nrf2 within proximity to the ubiquitin E3 ligase complex, RBX-1/Cul3, and resulting in the subsequent degradation of Nrf2 by the 26s proteasome ^{10,16,18-20}. Interestingly, Nrf2 has been shown to also facilitate its own turnover by driving the transcription of both RBX-1 and Keap1 ²¹. Furthermore, though Keap1 is

classically thought to tether Nrf2 within the cytosol, evidence has shown that Keap1 itself can be shuttled into the nucleus, serving to further suppress Nrf2 activity and adding to the complexity of Nrf2 regulation ²².

Nrf2 activation and the ARE

The interaction of Keap1 with the ETGE and DLG motifs on the N-terminus portion of Nrf2, under physiologically unstressed conditions, results in a half-life of less than 20 minutes for Nrf2 $^{23-25}$. The retention of Nrf2 within the cytosol is further facilitated by the tethering of Keap1 to the actin cytoskeleton ^{10,24}. Induction of Nrf2 can occur under a variety of stressful stimuli, including electrophilic xenobiotics and reactive oxygen species ^{26–28}. Endogenously, studies suggest that some proinflammatory stimuli, such as the prostaglandin 15d-PGJ2, can induce Nrf2 activity in macrophages ²⁹. The induction of Nrf2 largely occurs due to adduct formation between the toxicant and cysteines present on Keap1. Because of their lower Pka, these thiol residues act as electrophile sensors ^{11–13}. Additionally, studies have shown that induction of Nrf2 by modification of Keap1 cysteines is stimulus-specific. For instance, cysteine 151 is necessary for induction of Nrf2 by both tBHQ and another Nrf2 activator, sulfurophane (Sp)^{26,27}. Furthermore, cysteines 273 and 288 are required for Keap1-mediated Nrf2 suppression ²⁷. Other stimuli, such as hydrogen peroxide, do not form adducts with Keap1, but instead cause conformational changes within Keap1, facilitating the liberation of Nrf2³⁰. Further adding to the complexity of the activation of Nrf2, some stimuli have been shown to fully liberate Nrf2 from Keap1; others act as a hinge and latch, only dissociating the low affinity DLG motif from Keap1, and others serve to cause the degradation of Keap1 itself ^{18,19,31,32}.

Regardless of the mechanism of activation, activated Nrf2 accumulates within the nucleus, where it heterodimerizes with proteins, such as small Mafs, and acts as a master regulator of the cell stress response ^{33,34}. To date, Nrf2 has been shown to regulate well over 100 genes that contain the cis-acting regulatory element known as the antioxidant response element or ARE ³⁵. Binding of Nrf2 to the ARE results in the recruitment of transcriptional machinery and subsequent transcription of the gene target. Some examples of these genes include glutathione S-transferase Ya and NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase ^{33,34}.

Post-translational regulation of Nrf2

Classical regulation of Nrf2 is often considered to be facilitated by Keap1, however a number of studies indicate that post-translational modification of Nrf2 plays a critical role, albeit complex. Whereas reactive oxygen species and electrophilic compounds control the entry of Nrf2 into the nucleus by modification of Keap1 directly, phosphorylation of Nrf2 has been shown to play a similar role ^{36,37}. For example, phosphorylation of Nrf2 within the Neh2 domain by PKC results in the liberation of Nrf2 from Keap1 and its subsequent accumulation in the nucleus ^{37–39}. Other kinases such as PI3K and PERK activate Nrf2 in a similar manner ^{40–42}. Although some studies have shown JNK and ERK to activate Nrf2, subsequent work mutating the sites of MAPK phosphorylation show similar activation, implying regulation of Nrf2 regulation by multiple multiple pathways and interactions ³⁷.

Phosphorylation of Nrf2 has, by contrast, also been shown to facilitate Nrf2 turnover ⁴³. Canonically, nuclear accumulation of Nrf2 is associated with activation of the transcription factor, but within the nucleus some kinases have been shown to phosphorylate Nrf2, resulting in Nrf2 nuclear export. Within the cytosol, Nrf2 is again polyubiquitinated and degraded,

facilitated by interaction with Keap1 ⁴⁴. Over the last several years, however, another major mode of Nrf2 turnover has been elucidated. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3) has been shown to phosphorylate Nrf2 within the Neh6 domain, which is more C-terminal than the Neh2 domain, which interacts with Keap1 ⁴⁵. Phosphorylation of Neh6 results in recognition of Nrf2 by β -TrCP, which acts similarly to Keap1 to facilitate the interaction of Nrf2 with the Cul3/Rbx1 complex, resulting in Nrf2 degradation by the proteasome, completely independently of Keap1 ^{45,46}. Further strengthening the role of β -TrCP as a negative regulator of Nrf2, Pl3K has been shown to inhibit the activity of GSK3, promoting the stabilization of Nrf2 ^{44–47}. Conversely, using inhibitors of the Pl3K pathway results in lower levels of expression of Nrf2 target genes, such as NQO1.

Other mechanisms of Nrf2 regulation

As previously stated, in the presence of stressful stimuli, Nrf2 is no longer degraded by the proteasome, and accumulates within the nucleus of cells, where it serves as a key transcription factor, inducing cytoprotective genes. Protein turnover, however is only one mechanism of regulation. Typically, Nrf2 heterodimerizes within the nucleus with small Maf proteins, such as MafG and binds to the ARE, inducing gene transcription. Under certain circumstances, however, Nrf2 heterodimerizes with other binding partners, such as Fra-1, a member of the AP-1 family of transcription factors, among others ^{34,48–52}. This non-canonical partnering results in binding to the ARE and negative gene regulation. Interestingly, Nrf2 also autoregulates itself by upregulating key components of Nrf2 negative regulation, such as proteasomal subunits and BACH1, which can partner with Nrf2 to inhibit signaling through the ARE, similar to Fra-1. Conversely Nrf2 has been shown to drive its own transcription, adding to the complex regulation of the system ^{53–55}. Taken together, Nrf2 is regulated through a variety of mechanisms, involving several different pathways, and modifications.

Nrf2 and cancer

Shortly after the discovery of Nrf2 in the early 1990s, Nrf2-null mice were developed. Initial studies indicated that the mice developed normally and were fertile, implying that Nrf2 is not necessary for development ^{28,33}. Similarly, no changes in erythropoiesis were observed, which was interesting, given Nrf2 was discovered while cloning the beta globin control locus ²⁸. Although the Nrf2-null mice are both fertile and viable, they have been shown to be more sensitive to several disease states ⁵⁶. Interestingly, it has been shown that Nrf2 plays a critical role in the progression and chemoprevention of cancer ^{57,58}. This is somewhat counterintuitive, as Nrf2 is a master-regulator of the antioxidant response and is known to play a critical role in the amelioration of cell damage cause by oxidants, which would imply that Nrf2 functions as a tumor suppressor ^{11,56}. Consistent with this, studies done in human subjects from Qidong, China have shown that ingestion of two Nrf2 activators, Sp and oltipraz, resulted in an increase in the metabolism and excretion of aflatoxin, a fungal toxin and food contaminant known to cause hepatocellular carcinoma ^{59,60}. Furthermore, a number of cytoprotective genes are not induced in Nrf2-null mice after treatment with known oncogenic toxicants, resulting in a higher incidence of tumorigenesis ^{61,62}. Taken together, these studies demonstrate that Nrf2 has an endogenous role as a tumor suppressor, but like many biological systems, the role of Nrf2 in the development and progression of cancer is context-specific. Nrf2 has been shown to promote detoxification of cancer-causing toxicants, but the literature also shows a role for Nrf2 in the promotion of cancer. Specifically, Nrf2 is upregulated in endometrial, head and neck, lung, and gall bladder cancers, among others ^{61,63–68}. Additionally, upregulation of Nrf2 in cancer increases chemoresistance and radioresistance of tumors ^{57,65,69–71}. These studies contrast with the previously mentioned work demonstrating that Nrf2 functions endogenously as a tumor suppressor, implying Nrf2 also acts as a tumor promoter. The role of Nrf2 in the cytoprotection

of cancer cells has been termed the dark side of Nrf2 and demonstrates Nrf2 has a role in both prevention and progression of cancer ⁶⁹.

Nrf2 and immune modulation

After the development of Nrf2-null mice, it was soon discovered that female Nrf2-null mice develop a disease which resembles lupus in humans, as evidenced by presence of autoantibodies in serum targeting the host's double stranded DNA, as well as deposition of antibody complexes within the glomerulus, resulting in inflammation, glomerulonephritis, and eventual death ^{72,73}. Although the development of this autoimmune phenotype occurs in several mouse strains, the severity of disease is dependent on genetic background ^{72,74}. Further cementing the role of Nrf2 in the maintenance of proper immune response, Johnson et. al. further characterized the susceptibility of Nrf2-null mice to models of autoimmune neurodegeneration, such as experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, which is a model of multiple sclerosis 75. In these studies mice were inoculated with the MOG peptide, which is a component of the myelin sheath, which resulted in significant increases in disease scores in Nrf2-null mice. By comparison, activation of Nrf2 by a variety of compounds protected wild-type mice from neurodegeneration in multiple models of autoimmune disease, functioning through modulation of T cell and macrophage populations ^{76–79}. Similarly, studies have found Nrf2-null mice to have worsened disease phenotypes in several autoimmune models, including hemolytic anemia and experimental autoimmune hepatitis, which can be ameliorated in wild-type mice by treatment with Nrf2-activating compounds, such as CDDO-ImSp ⁸⁰⁻⁸³. Deletion of Nrf2 additionally increases the sensitivity of Nrf2-null mice to injury in inflammatory models other than autoimmunity, including traumatic brain injury, acute kidney injury, nephritis, sepsis, asthma, and injury due to hyperoxia, to name a few⁸⁴⁻⁹¹.

Numerous studies clearly demonstrate that the lack of Nrf2 results in an increased sensitivity to inflammatory disease, but the mechanism is unknown. Some early studies attempted to generate a constitutively-active Nrf2 model by knocking out Keap1, but the resulting mice died shortly after birth due to hyperkeratinization of the esophagus ⁹². As a result, studies that focus on Nrf2 are largely restricted to the use of non-specific toxicants to activate the pathway, which frequently have both Nrf2-dependent and independent effects. In macrophages and dendritic cells, activation of Nrf2 has been shown to inhibit the expression of costimulatory markers, TNFα signaling, as well as dendritic cell maturation ^{85,93–95}. Studies from our lab have shown that activation of Nrf2 by tBHQ in isolated mouse CD4 T cells results in skewing of CD4 T cell polarization toward a Th2 phenotype, which may indicate an increase in susceptibility to the development of allergy and asthma ⁹⁶. Studies from our lab also show that activation of Nrf2 modulates early cytokines, such as Interleukin- 2 (IL-2) and Interferon-gamma (IFN_X) ⁹⁶.

The effect of Nrf2 activation upon human immune response has proven to be more difficult to elucidate, as no Nrf2-specific pharmacological agents are commercially available; and, until recently, no human Nrf2-null models were known. As a consequence, the results of such studies have been difficult to interpret, as Nrf2 activators, such as tBHQ, benzo[a]pyrene, and arsenic have Nrf2-independent effects ^{97–101}. Because of this, some investigators have turned to over-expression of Nrf2 or partial knock-down of the gene using RNA interference ¹⁰². Recently, we have shown that the Nrf2 activator tBHQ suppresses IL-2 secretion by activated human T cells, in both a cell line and primary human models ^{97,98}. By knocking out Nrf2 in human Jurkat T cells, my research has shown the effect of tBHQ. However, a more potent Nrf2 activator, CDDO-Im, suppressed IL-2 secretion by activated Jurkat T cells in a Nrf2-dependent manner ¹⁰¹. These studies were the first to demonstrate that Nrf2 activation modulates human CD4 T

cell response. Moreover, epidemiological studies have indicated that polymorphisms within the Nrf2 locus result in decreases in Nrf2 expression and an increase in TNF α in primary human PBMCs ¹⁰³. Similar studies have shown certain polymorphisms to cause an increase in the risk of certain diseases, including autoimmunity and lung injury ^{104,105}. In both mice and humans, numerous studies point to a role for Nrf2 in the modulation of innate and adaptive immune response, demonstrating a need for additional studies to fully elucidate the role of Nrf2 in the immune system, as well as the mechanism by which Nrf2 mediates its effects.

Nrf2 and NFκB cross-talk

As evidenced by the post-translational modification of Nrf2 by multiple kinase cascades, the Nrf2/Keap1 system interacts with many other pathways, which is, at least partially, stimulus- and context-dependent. These pathways range from the AhR and Notch to AP-1 and nuclear factor for κ chain in B cells (NFκB) ⁵⁶. One of the best established and most studied mechanisms of cross-talk between the Nrf2/Keap1 axis and another pathway is NFkB. NFkB is a ubiquitous transcription factor that controls varying cellular functions, from stress pathways such as glutathione to induction of several cytokines, including IL-2 56,106. The mechanism and result of these interactions is highly complex and context- and model-specific. For instance, Nrf2-null mice have shown an increase in NFkB activity in several models of disease, and activation of Nrf2 has been shown to inhibit NFkB activity by multiple mechanisms, including by indirect mechanism, such as the induction of Nrf2 target genes, such as HMOX-1^{84,85,107-111}. Conversely, NFkB has also been shown to antagonize the transcriptional activity of Nrf2 by competing for the Nrf2 binding partner, CREB ¹¹². Other stimuli, such as low-density lipoprotein and shear stress have been shown to activate both pathways simultaneously, demonstrating that, although there is a well-defined interplay between the NFkB pathway and the Nrf2/Keap1 pathway, they do not simply promote or antagonize one another ^{113,114}.

T cell activation and signaling

T cells are a key player in both molding humoral responses, as well as playing an active role in direct cell killing ¹¹⁵. Activation of T cells is a highly regulated process that requires two signals, and in the absence of both signals, T cells will become unresponsive and often apoptotic ^{116,117}. The first signal is generated by the interaction of the T cell receptor complex (TCR) with the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on antigen presenting cells ¹⁰⁶. Mature MHC expressed on a cell's surface is loaded with peptides and therefore constitutively presents potential antigen to T cells, but these peptides are typically termed as self, as they are a part of the host's normal physiology ¹¹⁸. Although these self-associated peptides are not typically capable of activating T cells, they generate the basal pro-survival signal needed to inhibit apoptosis ^{118,119}. When the proper MHC-antigen combination is recognized by a T cell, the interaction between MHC and TCR will increase from less than one second, to up to 10 seconds ¹²⁰. This increase in duration and strength of signal leads to the recruitment of two Src-family kinases LCK and FYN, which in turn phosphorylate the cytoplasmic tails of the ζ -chains of the TCR ^{121–125}. This phosphorylation event serves to change the conformation of the cytoplasmic tails, allowing their use as a scaffold for other proteins, ultimately resulting in the activation of other kinase cascades, such as MAPK, JNK, and PI3K, as well as a marked increase in intracellular calcium ¹⁰⁶. These events result in the activation of several transcription factors, such as AP-1, nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), and NF κ B, which are key in the upregulation of many cytokines, such as IL-2¹²⁶.

The second signal necessary for T cell activation comes from one of several costimulatory markers. Costimulatory markers for activation of T cells are present on almost all cell types, but they are most abundantly expressed and studied on professional antigen presenting cells, such as dendritic cells and macrophages ¹²⁷. CD28 is a well-characterized costimulatory marker for T

cell priming and activation ^{128,129}. Ligation of the TCR by antibody or through interaction with loaded MHC results in the recruitment of CD28 to the immune synapse where it interacts with CD86 and/or CD80 on antigen presenting cells ¹²³. Interaction of CD28 with CD86/CD80 results in recruitment of PI3K and activation of several signal transduction cascades, including JNK, AKT, and ERK ^{130,131}. The amplification of signal through these branched pathways results in the further activation of NFkB, NFAT, and AP-1 ¹³¹. The increased strength of signal through these transcription factors allows for proper induction of IL-2, which is a key early cytokine in many immune functions. Ligation of CD28 has been shown to be the integral costimulatory mechanism by which IL-2 is fully induced and IL-2 is induced to a much lesser extent when T cell stimulation occurs through other costimulatory molecules ¹³¹.

T cell stimulation is a highly controlled, inducible process and negative regulation of T cell response plays a key role in preventing potentially life-threatening damage to the host. There are several means for shutting down signaling through the T cell receptor, including inducing cell death, thereby promoting immune contraction after infection ^{132,133}. Another means of regulating T cell activation is the coinhibitory receptor CTLA-4. After stimulation, T cells upregulate CTLA-4, which competes with CD28 for space within the immune synapse ^{134–136}. Unlike CD28, however, CTLA-4 does not induce kinase cascades, but rather recruits phosphatases to the TCR. The phosphatases remove phosphates from the signaling ζ -chains of the TCR and Zap70, thereby inhibiting signaling most proximal to the engaged TCR ^{135,136}.

IL-2 regulation

Several decades ago, scientists discovered that supernatants from activated T cells stimulate the proliferation of unstimulated T cells, when added in culture ^{137,138}. Shortly thereafter, IL-2

was discovered and was initially known as T cell growth factor. Since then, it has been determined that IL-2 plays a diverse role in many cell types, immune and non-immune alike. IL-2 is an early cytokine produced mainly by CD8 and CD4 T cells but is secreted in larger amounts in the latter ^{139,140}. After production, IL-2 acts in both an autocrine and paracrine fashion, being secreted directionally into the immune synapse ^{115,141}. Recognition of antigen loaded in the proper MHC by T cells results in a rapid upregulation of IL-2 mRNA which is stabilized by receipt of costimulatory signals propagated through CD28 ^{142–144}. The transient upregulation of IL-2 mRNA is mediated through the inducible transcription factors NFAT, AP-1, and NFkB, which accumulate within the nucleus and bind the promoter of IL-2 along with the constitutive transcription factor Oct1 ^{143,144}.

Once transcribed and translated, the half-life of IL-2 is still short, about 10-20 minutes, depending on the model. The short half-life of IL-2 is largely due to its rapid uptake by target cells, as well as IL-2 secreting cells ^{145–147}. This process is mediated by the IL-2 receptor, which is a heterotrimeric receptor composed of CD25, IL-2R β , and the common γ chain (γ_c) ¹⁴⁶. CD25 is rapidly upregulated upon IL-2 production and has a higher affinity for IL-2 than either IL-2R β or γ_c , but signaling through the IL-2 receptor by IL-2 protein results in rapid receptor-mediated endocytosis, where CD25 is recycled to the cell's surface and IL-2R β and γ_c are targeted for lysosomal degradation, serving as a mechanism to control the availability of IL-2 as well as signaling through the IL-2 receptor ¹⁴⁵.

The negative regulation of IL-2 is similarly as complex as its activation and is mediated by several mechanisms. Several mechanisms of negative IL-2 regulation exist, with one being

mediated by IL-2 itself. IL-2 has been shown to induce the transcription factor Stat5, which in turn induces transcription of Blimp1, a known negative regulator of the IL-2 promoter ^{148–150}. Furthermore, expression of TBET, the master regulator of Th1 polarization, serves to shut down the IL-2 promoter by out-competing the IL-2 promoter for p65, an integral subunit of the transcription factor NFκB, resulting in suppression of IL-2 as cells become terminally differentiated ¹⁵¹. The negative regulation of IL-2 provides a means for metered regulation of immune cell proliferation, as well as peripheral tolerance, and T cell exhaustion ^{133,150}.

Physiological role of IL-2

The physiological role of IL-2 is complex and cannot be easily categorized as either pro- or antiinflammatory. In vivo and in vitro, IL-2 has been shown to play a key role in the clonal expansion of T and B cells, but in its absence, primary immune responses to pathogens and tissue transplants are mounted ^{152–156}. Although primary immune response is not abrogated, IL-2 knock-out mice have a decreased capacity for CD8 expansion to viral infection, as well as a substantial decrease in immune memory to infection ^{152,157}. Further analysis has shown that the timing and strength of IL-2 signal during T cell activation plays a critical role in terminal differentiation, where prolonged IL-2 signal results in an increase in effector T cell development in both CD4 and CD8 T cells, and acute signaling promotes the development of memory T cells ^{158–160}. Outside of response to pathogen, IL-2 is required for the development of regulatory T cells (Treg), which serve to control and suppress immune responses, as well as to promote peripheral tolerance ^{161–163}. Further strengthening the role of IL-2 in the maintenance and development of Treg cells is seen in mice lacking IL-2, which develop severe autoimmunity ^{164,165}. Aside from the T cell response, IL-2 plays a role in other cell types, as well. For instance, IL-2 has been shown to promote antibody secretion by B cells, and to promote the cytolytic activity of natural killer cells ^{153,166}. In non-immune cells, IL-2 induces the expression of the

chemokine CCL2 and the adhesion molecule ICAM1 in fibroblasts, which aids in the recruitment and extravasation of immune cells into tissue ^{167,168}. The body of scientific literature clearly demonstrates that IL-2 is a mediator of many cellular functions and is integral to proper immune function.

NFkB. NFAT. and AP-1 regulation of IL-2 transcription

The minimal IL-2 promoter is controlled by several transcription factors, which act in concert to maximally drive its expression. NF κ B is a transcription factor that is comprised of several subunits in the Rel family of proteins, with the most prevalent being RelA (p65) ¹⁶⁹. When unstimulated, NF κ B resides in the nucleus, where it is continually repressed by Inhibitor of kappa B (I \square B). NF κ B can be induced by several kinases, including PKC, but the final activating stimuli occurs through phosphorylation of of I \square B by I \square B kinases ^{170–172}. This phosphorylation event causes the nuclear accumulation of NF κ B, where it binds the IL-2 promoter, which contains a single NF κ B binding element ^{143,144}.

AP-1 is a transcription factor that is most frequently comprised of a heterodimer of c-Fos and c-Jun, but AP-1 has been shown to be a complex of other proteins, such as Fra-1, JunD, and CREB proteins ¹⁷³. AP-1 is largely induced by phosphorylation events. Activation of the AP-1 pathway causes the accumulation of AP-1 in the nucleus, and subsequent binding to the IL-2 promoter ^{143,144}. Unlike NFκB, AP-1 has multiple binding sites within the promoter region of IL-2, both proximal and distal ¹⁷⁴. Although The proximal site is required for transcription of the gene, the distal binding site of AP-1 has been shown to serve to amplify transcription ¹⁷⁴.

Unlike AP-1 and NFκB, NFAT responds in a Ca²⁺ dependent manner. Within the cytosol, NFAT is activated in a calmodulin/calcineurin-dependent manner, where activation of the phosphatase calcineurin, by the calcium-sensing protein calmodulin, results in dephosphorylation of NFAT ^{175,176}. This dephosphorylating event results in a conformational change in NFAT, which leads to the exposure of the NFAT nuclear localization sequence, resulting in NFAT nuclear accumulation ¹⁷⁵. Within the IL-2 promoter, there are at least two NFAT binding sties, although other sites have been proposed ^{143,144,177}.

CRISPR/Cas9

Although genetic manipulation using molecular techniques has been reported and accomplished for several decades, the last five years have been a renaissance in genetic manipulation. This increase in interest and ease of targeted genetic alterations has largely occurred because of the advent of Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeat (CRISPR) as a viable and simple means to alter eukaryote genomes in a reliable manner ^{178–180}. CRISPR, endogenously, acts as a primitive bacterial immune system, providing a means for a bacterium to develop a memory of phages that have previously infected it ^{181–183}. In this system, an endonucleause, most frequently Cas9, is directed against a sequence of phage DNA which shares base complementarity with a short guide RNA (gRNA) that has been incorporated into the bacterial genome from previously survived infections ¹⁸³. Upon recognition of the gRNA and DNA complex, the CAS9 endonuclease will cleave the DNA three base pairs upstream of the Protospacer-Adjacent Motif (PAM), which is an NGG, where N depicts any DNA base, resulting in a double strand DNA break ¹⁸⁴. This process has, over the last several years, been successfully used to target mammalian DNA for genetic manipulation (Fig. 2). Double strand DNA breaks induced by Cas9 results in the endogenous repair machinery to undergo nonhomologous end joining, which can be error prone. This process frequently introduced

insertions and deletions (INDEL) into the DNA at the cut site ^{178–180,185}. The presence of INDELs within a gene often results in a frameshift mutation and subsequent gene knock-out. Although shown to be highly efficient in the generation of gene knock-out models, CRISPR technology is capable of a more fine-tuned approach to genetic manipulation. With the development of catalytically dead Cas9 and Cas9 which only cuts one strand of DNA, CRISPR has the ability to, with high fidelity, induce genes, knock-in genes, as well as repress (but not knock-out) gene transcription ^{186,187}. Accordingly, this technology is a powerful tool to investigate molecular mchanism of biological processes.



Figure 2: Depiction of CRISPR/Cas9 molecule interacting with genomic DNA

Rationale of the present studies

Work done by our group and others has shown that Nrf2 plays a role in the modulation of the immune response. Until recently, however, the role of the Nrf2/Keap1 system was largely studies in mouse models, with very few studies involving human immune models. The purpose of this dissertation was to address the role of the Nrf2/Keap1 system in the modulation of the early events of human Jurkat T cell activation. This was accomplished through use of multiple Nrf2 activating compounds, as well as development and implementation of both Nrf2-null and Keap1-null Jurkat cell lines. Together, these studies provide the models necessary to definitively determine the role of the Nrf2/Keap1 system in the early events of Jurkat T cell activation, as well as a model to study if the effects of other immunotoxicants, such as arsenic, are mediated through the Nrf2/Keap1 axis.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. Rushmore, T. H. & Pickett, C. B. Transcriptional regulation of the rat glutathione Stransferase Ya subunit gene. Characterization of a xenobiotic-responsive element controlling inducible expression by phenolic antioxidants. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 14648–53 (1990).
- 2. Friling, R. S., Bensimon, A., Tichauer, Y. & Daniel, V. Xenobiotic-inducible expression of murine glutathione S-transferase Ya subunit gene is controlled by an electrophile-responsive element. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **87**, 6258–62 (1990).
- Li, Y. & Jaiswal, A. K. Regulation of human NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase gene. Role of AP1 binding site contained within human antioxidant response element. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267, 15097–104 (1992).
- 4. Moi, P. *et al.* Isolation of NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a NF-E2-like basic leucine zipper transcriptional activator that binds to the tandem NF-E2/AP1 repeat of the f-globin locus control region. *Genetics* **91**, 9926–9930 (1994).
- 5. Itoh, K., Igarashi, K., Hayashi, N., Nishizawa, M. & Yamamoto, M. Cloning and Characterization of a Novel Erythroid Cell-Derived CNC Family Transcription Factor Heterodimerizing with the Small Maf Family Proteins. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**, 4184–4193 (1995).
- 6. Mohler, J., Mahaffey, J. W., Deutsch, E. & Vani, K. Control of Drosophila head segment identity by the bZIP homeotic gene cnc. *Development* **121**, 237–247 (1995).
- 7. Chan, J. Y., Hant, X.-L. & Kan, Y. W. Cloning of Nrfl, an NF-E2-related transcription factor, by genetic selection in yeast. *Genetics* **90**, 11371–11375 (1993).
- 8. Kobayashi, A. *et al.* Molecular cloning and functional characterization of a new Cap'n' collar family transcription factor Nrf3. *J. Biol. Chem.* **274**, 6443–52 (1999).
- 9. Igarashi, K. *et al.* Regulation of transcription by dimerization of erythroid factor NF-E2 p45 with small Maf proteins. *Nature* **367**, 568–572 (1994).
- 10. Itoh, K. *et al.* Keap1 represses nuclear activation of antioxidant responsive elements by Nrf2 through binding to the amino-terminal Neh2 domain. *Genes Dev.* **13**, 76–86 (1999).
- 11. Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. *et al.* Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants.
- 12. Kobayashi, M. *et al.* The antioxidant defense system Keap1-Nrf2 comprises a multiple sensing mechanism for responding to a wide range of chemical compounds. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **29**, 493–502 (2009).
- 13. McMahon, M., Lamont, D. J., Beattie, K. A. & Hayes, J. D. Keap1 perceives stress via three sensors for the endogenous signaling molecules nitric oxide, zinc, and alkenals.

Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107, 18838-43 (2010).

- 14. Cullinan, S. B., Gordan, J. D., Jin, J., Harper, J. W. & Diehl, J. A. The Keap1-BTB protein is an adaptor that bridges Nrf2 to a Cul3-based E3 ligase: oxidative stress sensing by a Cul3-Keap1 ligase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **24**, 8477–86 (2004).
- 15. Furukawa, M. & Xiong, Y. BTB Protein Keap1 Targets Antioxidant Transcription Factor Nrf2 for Ubiquitination by the Cullin 3-Roc1 Ligase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **25**, 162–171 (2005).
- Kobayashi, A. *et al.* Oxidative stress sensor Keap1 functions as an adaptor for Cul3based E3 ligase to regulate proteasomal degradation of Nrf2. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 7130–9 (2004).
- 17. Zhang, D. D., Lo, S.-C., Cross, J. V, Templeton, D. J. & Hannink, M. Keap1 is a redoxregulated substrate adaptor protein for a Cul3-dependent ubiquitin ligase complex. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **24**, 10941–53 (2004).
- Tong, K. I. *et al.* Keap1 recruits Neh2 through binding to ETGE and DLG motifs: characterization of the two-site molecular recognition model. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26, 2887– 900 (2006).
- 19. McMahon, M., Thomas, N., Itoh, K., Yamamoto, M. & Hayes, J. D. Dimerization of substrate adaptors can facilitate cullin-mediated ubiquitylation of proteins by a "tethering" mechanism: a two-site interaction model for the Nrf2-Keap1 complex. *J. Biol. Chem.* **281**, 24756–68 (2006).
- 20. Dhakshinamoorthy, S. & Jaiswal, A. K. Functional characterization and role of INrf2 in antioxidant response element-mediated expression and antioxidant induction of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase1 gene. *Oncogene* **20**, 3906–17 (2001).
- 21. Kaspar, J. W. & Jaiswal, A. K. An autoregulatory loop between Nrf2 and Cul3-Rbx1 controls their cellular abundance. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 21349–21358 (2010).
- Niture, S. K., Jain, A. K. & Jaiswal, A. K. Antioxidant-induced modification of INrf2 cysteine 151 and PKC-δ-mediated phosphorylation of Nrf2 serine 40 are both required for stabilization and nuclear translocation of Nrf2 and increased drug resistance. *J. Cell Sci.* **122**, 4452–4464 (2009).
- 23. Itoh, K. *et al.* Keap1 regulates both cytoplasmic-nuclear shuttling and degradation of Nrf2 in response to electrophiles. *Genes Cells* **8**, 379–91 (2003).
- 24. McMahon, M., Itoh, K., Yamamoto, M. & Hayes, J. D. Keap1-dependent proteasomal degradation of transcription factor Nrf2 contributes to the negative regulation of antioxidant response element-driven gene expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 21592–21600 (2003).
- 25. Nguyen, T., Sherratt, P. J., Huang, H.-C., Yang, C. S. & Pickett, C. B. Increased protein stability as a mechanism that enhances Nrf2-mediated transcriptional activation of the antioxidant response element. Degradation of Nrf2 by the 26 S proteasome. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 4536–41 (2003).
- 26. Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. *et al.* Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **99**, 11908–13 (2002).
- 27. Zhang, D. D. & Hannink, M. Distinct cysteine residues in Keap1 are required for Keap1dependent ubiquitination of Nrf2 and for stabilization of Nrf2 by chemopreventive agents and oxidative stress. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **23**, 8137–51 (2003).
- 28. Chan, K., Lu, R., Chang, J. C. & Kan, Y. W. NRF2, a member of the NFE2 family of transcription factors, is not essential for murine erythropoiesis, growth, and development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **93**, 13943–8 (1996).
- 29. Itoh, K. *et al.* Transcription factor Nrf2 regulates inflammation by mediating the effect of 15-deoxy-Delta(12,14)-prostaglandin j(2). *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **24**, 36–45 (2004).
- 30. Fourquet, S., Guerois, R., Biard, D. & Toledano, M. B. Activation of NRF2 by nitrosative agents and H2O2 involves KEAP1 disulfide formation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 8463–71 (2010).
- 31. LEVONEN, A.-L. *et al.* Cellular mechanisms of redox cell signalling: role of cysteine modification in controlling antioxidant defences in response to electrophilic lipid oxidation products. *Biochem. J.* **378**, 373–382 (2004).
- 32. Zhang, D. D. *et al.* Ubiquitination of Keap1, a BTB-Kelch substrate adaptor protein for Cul3, targets Keap1 for degradation by a proteasome-independent pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 30091–9 (2005).
- Itoh, K. *et al.* An Nrf2/Small Maf Heterodimer Mediates the Induction of Phase II Detoxifying Enzyme Genes through Antioxidant Response Elements. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 236, 313–322 (1997).
- 34. Venugopal, R., Jaiswal, A. K. & Kan, Y. W. Nrf1 and Nrf2 positively and c-Fos and Fra1 negatively regulate the human antioxidant response element-mediated expression of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 gene. *Pharmacology* **93**, 14960–14965 (1996).
- 35. Kwak, M.-K. *et al.* Modulation of Gene Expression by Cancer Chemopreventive Dithiolethiones through the Keap1-Nrf2 Pathway. IDENTIFICATION OF NOVEL GENE CLUSTERS FOR CELL SURVIVAL. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 8135–8145 (2003).
- 36. Huang, H. C., Nguyen, T. & Pickett, C. B. Regulation of the antioxidant response element by protein kinase C-mediated phosphorylation of NF-E2-related factor 2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **97**, 12475–80 (2000).
- 37. Sun, Z., Huang, Z., Zhang, D. D., Lee, H. & Hyun, J. Phosphorylation of Nrf2 at Multiple Sites by MAP Kinases Has a Limited Contribution in Modulating the Nrf2-Dependent Antioxidant Response. *PLoS One* **4**, e6588 (2009).
- 38. Numazawa, S., Ishikawa, M., Yoshida, A., Tanaka, S. & Yoshida, T. Atypical protein kinase C mediates activation of NF-E2-related factor 2 in response to oxidative stress. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* **285**, C334-42 (2003).

- Bloom, D. A. & Jaiswal, A. K. Phosphorylation of Nrf2 at Ser40 by protein kinase C in response to antioxidants leads to the release of Nrf2 from INrf2, but is not required for Nrf2 stabilization/accumulation in the nucleus and transcriptional activation of antioxidant response element-mediated NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase-1 gene expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 44675–82 (2003).
- 40. Nakaso, K. *et al.* PI3K is a key molecule in the Nrf2-mediated regulation of antioxidative proteins by hemin in human neuroblastoma cells. *FEBS Lett.* **546**, 181–184 (2003).
- 41. Xu, C. *et al.* Mechanism of action of isothiocyanates: the induction of ARE-regulated genes is associated with activation of ERK and JNK and the phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of Nrf2. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* **5**, (2006).
- 42. Cullinan, S. B. *et al.* Nrf2 Is a Direct PERK Substrate and Effector of PERK-Dependent Cell Survival. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **23**, 7198–7209 (2003).
- Keum, Y.-S. *et al.* Mechanism of Action of Sulforaphane: Inhibition of p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Isoforms Contributing to the Induction of Antioxidant Response Element–Mediated Heme Oxygenase-1 in Human Hepatoma HepG2 Cells. *Cancer Res.* 66, (2006).
- 44. Jain, A. K. & Jaiswal, A. K. GSK-3beta acts upstream of Fyn kinase in regulation of nuclear export and degradation of NF-E2 related factor 2. *J. Biol. Chem.* **282**, 16502–10 (2007).
- Chowdhry, S. *et al.* Nrf2 is controlled by two distinct β-TrCP recognition motifs in its Neh6 domain, one of which can be modulated by GSK-3 activity. *Oncogene* **32**, 3765–3781 (2013).
- 46. Rada, P. *et al.* Structural and functional characterization of Nrf2 degradation by the glycogen synthase kinase 3/β-TrCP axis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **32**, 3486–99 (2012).
- 47. Rojo, A. I., Sagarra, M. R. de & Cuadrado, A. GSK-3beta down-regulates the transcription factor Nrf2 after oxidant damage: relevance to exposure of neuronal cells to oxidative stress. *J. Neurochem.* **105**, 192–202 (2008).
- 48. Nguyen, T., Huang, H. C. & Pickett, C. B. Transcriptional regulation of the antioxidant response element. Activation by Nrf2 and repression by MafK. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 15466–73 (2000).
- Ansell, P. J. *et al.* Repression of cancer protective genes by 17β-estradiol: Liganddependent interaction between human Nrf2 and estrogen receptor α. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 243, 27–34 (2005).
- 50. Brown, S. L., Sekhar, K. R., Rachakonda, G., Sasi, S. & Freeman, M. L. Activating Transcription Factor 3 Is a Novel Repressor of the Nuclear Factor Erythroid-Derived 2– Related Factor 2 (Nrf2)–Regulated Stress Pathway. *Cancer Res.* **68**, (2008).
- 51. Ikeda, Y. *et al.* Suppression of rat thromboxane synthase gene transcription by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma in macrophages via an interaction with NRF2. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 33142–50 (2000).

- 52. Wang, X. J., Hayes, J. D., Henderson, C. J. & Wolf, C. R. Identification of retinoic acid as an inhibitor of transcription factor Nrf2 through activation of retinoic acid receptor alpha. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **104,** 19589–94 (2007).
- 53. Jyrkkänen, H.-K. *et al.* Novel insights into the regulation of antioxidant-responseelementmediated gene expression by electrophiles: induction of the transcriptional repressor BACH1 by Nrf2. *Biochem. J.* **440**, (2011).
- 54. Kwak, M.-K., Cho, J.-M., Huang, B., Shin, S. & Kensler, T. W. Role of increased expression of the proteasome in the protective effects of sulforaphane against hydrogen peroxide-mediated cytotoxicity in murine neuroblastoma cells. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **43**, 809–817 (2007).
- 55. Kapeta, S., Chondrogianni, N. & Gonos, E. S. Nuclear erythroid factor 2-mediated proteasome activation delays senescence in human fibroblasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 8171–84 (2010).
- 56. Kensler, T. W., Wakabayashi, N. & Biswal, S. Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1 Nrf2 ARE pathway. *Annu.Rev.Pharmacol.Toxicol.* **47**, 89–116 (2007).
- 57. Singh, A. *et al.* RNAi-Mediated Silencing of Nuclear Factor Erythroid-2–Related Factor 2 Gene Expression in Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer Inhibits Tumor Growth and Increases Efficacy of Chemotherapy. *Cancer Res.* **68**, (2008).
- 58. DeNicola, G. M. *et al.* Oncogene-induced Nrf2 transcription promotes ROS detoxification and tumorigenesis. *Nature* **475**, 106–109 (2011).
- Kensler, T. W. *et al.* Effects of Glucosinolate-Rich Broccoli Sprouts on Urinary Levels of Aflatoxin-DNA Adducts and Phenanthrene Tetraols in a Randomized Clinical Trial in He Zuo Township, Qidong, People's Republic of China. *Cancer Epidemiol. Prev. Biomarkers* 14, (2005).
- 60. Wang, J. S. *et al.* Protective alterations in phase 1 and 2 metabolism of aflatoxin B1 by oltipraz in residents of Qidong, People's Republic of China. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **91**, 347–54 (1999).
- 61. Singh, A. *et al.* Dysfunctional KEAP1?NRF2 Interaction in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *PLoS Med.* **3**, e420 (2006).
- 62. Ramos-Gomez, M. *et al.* Sensitivity to carcinogenesis is increased and chemoprotective efficacy of enzyme inducers is lost in nrf2 transcription factor-deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 3410–5 (2001).
- 63. Jiang, T. *et al.* High Levels of Nrf2 Determine Chemoresistance in Type II Endometrial Cancer. *Cancer Res.* **70**, (2010).
- 64. Zhang, P. *et al.* Loss of Kelch-Like ECH-Associated Protein 1 Function in Prostate Cancer Cells Causes Chemoresistance and Radioresistance and Promotes Tumor Growth. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* **9**, (2010).

- 65. Shibata, T. *et al.* Genetic alteration of Keap1 confers constitutive Nrf2 activation and resistance to chemotherapy in gallbladder cancer. *Gastroenterology* **135**, 1358–1368, 1368–4 (2008).
- 66. Stacy, D. R. *et al.* Increased expression of nuclear factor E2 p45-related factor 2 (NRF2) in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. *Head Neck* **28**, 813–818 (2006).
- 67. Ohta, T. *et al.* Loss of Keap1 Function Activates Nrf2 and Provides Advantages for Lung Cancer Cell Growth. *Cancer Res.* **68**, (2008).
- 68. Kim, Y. R. *et al.* Oncogenic NRF2 mutations in squamous cell carcinomas of oesophagus and skin. *J. Pathol.* **220**, 446–451 (2010).
- 69. Wang, X.-J. *et al.* Nrf2 enhances resistance of cancer cells to chemotherapeutic drugs, the dark side of Nrf2. *Carcinogenesis* **29**, 1235–43 (2008).
- Singh, A., Bodas, M., Wakabayashi, N., Bunz, F. & Biswal, S. Gain of Nrf2 function in non-small-cell lung cancer cells confers radioresistance. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 13, 1627–37 (2010).
- 71. Shim, G., Manandhar, S., Shin, D., Kim, T.-H. & Kwak, M.-K. Acquisition of doxorubicin resistance in ovarian carcinoma cells accompanies activation of the NRF2 pathway. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **47**, 1619–1631 (2009).
- 72. Ma, Q., Battelli, L. & Hubbs, A. F. Multiorgan Autoimmune Inflammation, Enhanced Lymphoproliferation, and Impaired Homeostasis of Reactive Oxygen Species in Mice Lacking the Antioxidant-Activated Transcription Factor Nrf2. *Am. J. Pathol.* **168**, 1960–1974 (2006).
- 73. Yoh, K. *et al.* Nrf2-deficient female mice develop lupus-like autoimmune nephritis. *Kidney Int.* **60**, 1343–1353 (2001).
- 74. Hubbs, A. F. *et al.* Vacuolar Leukoencephalopathy with Widespread Astrogliosis in Mice Lacking Transcription Factor Nrf2. *Am. J. Pathol.* **170**, 2068–2076 (2007).
- 75. Johnson, D. A., Amirahmadi, S., Ward, C., Fabry, Z. & Johnson, J. A. The absence of the pro-antioxidant transcription factor Nrf2 exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Toxicol. Sci.* **114**, 237–46 (2010).
- 76. Pitarokoili, K., Ambrosius, B., Meyer, D., Schrewe, L. & Gold, R. Dimethyl fumarate ameliorates lewis rat experimental autoimmune neuritis and mediates axonal protection. *PLoS One* **10**, (2015).
- 77. Han, R., Xiao, J., Zhai, H. & Hao, J. Dimethyl fumarate attenuates experimental autoimmune neuritis through the nuclear factor erythroid-derived 2-related factor 2/ hemoxygenase-1 pathway by altering the balance of M1/M2 macrophages. *J. Neuroinflammation* **13**, (2016).
- 78. Pareek, T. K. *et al.* Triterpenoid modulation of IL-17 and Nrf-2 expression ameliorates neuroinflammation and promotes remyelination in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Sci. Rep.* **1**, 201 (2011).

- 79. Li, B. *et al.* Sulforaphane ameliorates the development of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by antagonizing oxidative stress and Th17-related inflammation in mice. *Exp. Neurol.* **250**, 239–249 (2013).
- Lee, J.-M., Chan, K., Kan, Y. W. & Johnson, J. A. Targeted disruption of Nrf2 causes regenerative immune-mediated hemolytic anemia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 101, 9751–9756 (2004).
- 81. Kawatani, Y., Suzuki, T., Shimizu, R., Kelly, V. P. & Yamamoto, M. Nrf2 and selenoproteins are essential for maintaining oxidative homeostasis in erythrocytes and protecting against hemolytic anemia. *Blood* **117**, 986–996 (2011).
- 82. Zhao, M. *et al.* Dihydroquercetin (DHQ) ameliorated concanavalin A-induced mouse experimental fulminant hepatitis and enhanced HO-1 expression through MAPK/Nrf2 antioxidant pathway in RAW cells. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* **28**, 938–944 (2015).
- 83. Osburn, W. O. *et al.* Genetic or Pharmacologic Amplification of Nrf2 Signaling Inhibits Acute Inflammatory Liver Injury in Mice. *Toxicol. Sci.* **104**, 218–227 (2008).
- 84. Rangasamy, T. *et al.* Disruption of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to severe airway inflammation and asthma in mice. *J. Exp. Med.* **202**, (2005).
- 85. Thimmulappa, R. K. *et al.* Nrf2 is a critical regulator of the innate immune response and survival during experimental sepsis. *J. Clin. Invest.* **116**, 984–95 (2006).
- 86. Kong, X. *et al.* Enhancing Nrf2 pathway by disruption of Keap1 in myeloid leukocytes protects against sepsis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **184**, 928–938 (2011).
- 87. Jiang, T. *et al.* The protective role of Nrf2 in streptozotocin-induced diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes* **59**, 850–860 (2010).
- 88. Noel, S. *et al.* T Lymphocyte-Specific Activation of Nrf2 Protects from AKI. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* **26**, 2989–3000 (2015).
- 89. Thimmulappa, R. K. *et al.* Nrf2-dependent protection from LPS induced inflammatory response and mortality by CDDO-Imidazolide. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **351**, 883–889 (2006).
- 90. Kong, X., Thimmulappa, R., Kombairaju, P. & Biswal, S. NADPH Oxidase-Dependent Reactive Oxygen Species Mediate Amplified TLR4 Signaling and Sepsis-Induced Mortality in Nrf2-Deficient Mice. *J. Immunol.* **185**, 569–577 (2010).
- 91. Reddy, N. M. *et al.* Disruption of Nrf2 Impairs the Resolution of Hyperoxia-Induced Acute Lung Injury and Inflammation in Mice. *J. Immunol.* **182**, (2009).
- 92. Wakabayashi, N. *et al.* Keap1-null mutation leads to postnatal lethality due to constitutive Nrf2 activation. *Nat. Genet.* **35**, 238–245 (2003).
- Rangasamy, T. *et al.* Nuclear Erythroid 2 p45-Related Factor 2 Inhibits the Maturation of Murine Dendritic Cells by Ragweed Extract. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* 43, 276–285 (2010).

- 94. Yeang, H. X. A. *et al.* Loss of transcription factor nuclear factor-erythroid 2 (NF-E2) p45related factor-2 (Nrf2) leads to dysregulation of immune functions, redox homeostasis,and intracellular signaling in dendritic cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **287**, 10556– 10564 (2012).
- 95. Rojo, A. I. *et al.* Nrf2 regulates microglial dynamics and neuroinflammation in experimental Parkinson's disease. *Glia* **58**, 588–598 (2010).
- 96. Rockwell, C. E., Zhang, M., Fields, P. E. & Klaassen, C. D. Th2 skewing by activation of Nrf2 in CD4(+) T cells. *J. Immunol.* **188**, 1630–7 (2012).
- 97. Zagorski, J. W. *et al.* The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, differentially affects early events following stimulation of Jurkat cells. *Toxicol. Sci.* **136**, 63–71 (2013).
- 98. Turley, A. E., Zagorski, J. W. & Rockwell, C. E. The Nrf2 activator tBHQ inhibits T cell activation of primary human CD4 T cells. *Cytokine* **71**, 289–295 (2015).
- 99. Morzadec, C. *et al.* Nrf2 expression and activity in human T lymphocytes: stimulation by T cell receptor activation and priming by inorganic arsenic and tert-butylhydroquinone. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **71**, 133–45 (2014).
- Murugaiyan, J. *et al.* Benzo[a]pyrene affects Jurkat T cells in the activated state via the antioxidant response element dependent Nrf2 pathway leading to decreased IL-2 secretion and redirecting glutamine metabolism. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 269, 307–316 (2013).
- Zagorski, J. W., Maser, T. P., Liby, K. T. & Rockwell, C. E. Nrf2-Dependent and -Independent Effects of *tert* -Butylhydroquinone, CDDO-Im, and H₂O₂ in Human Jurkat T Cells as Determined by CRISPR/Cas9 Gene Editing. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 361, 259– 267 (2017).
- 102. Sanchez-Rivera, F. J. & Jacks, T. Applications of the CRISPR?Cas9 system in cancer biology. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **15**, 387–395 (2015).
- Zhao, G. *et al.* [Functional polymorphism of NRF2 gene promoter -617C/A in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cellular inflammatory response in patients with alcoholic liver disease]. *Zhonghua nei ke za zhi* 52, 581–4 (2013).
- 104. Cho, H.-Y., Marzec, J. & Kleeberger, S. R. Functional polymorphisms in Nrf2: implications for human disease. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 88, 362–372 (2015).
- 105. Marzec, J. M. *et al.* Functional polymorphisms in the transcription factor NRF2 in humans increase the risk of acute lung injury. *FASEB J.* **21**, 2237–2246 (2007).
- 106. Cantrell, D. T CELL ANTIGEN RECEPTOR SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION PATHWAYS. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **14**, 259–274 (1996).
- 107. Jin, W. *et al.* Influence of Nrf2 genotype on pulmonary NF-κB activity and inflammatory response after traumatic brain injury. *Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci.* **38**, 221–227 (2008).

- 108. Cho, H. Y. *et al.* Antiviral activity of Nrf2 in a murine model of respiratory syncytial virus disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **179**, 138–150 (2009).
- 109. Jun, C.-D. *et al.* Gliotoxin reduces the severity of trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid-induced colitis in mice: evidence of the connection between heme oxygenase-1 and the nuclear factor-kappaB pathway in vitro and in vivo. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* **12**, 619–29 (2006).
- 110. Seldon, M. P. *et al.* Heme oxygenase-1 inhibits the expression of adhesion molecules associated with endothelial cell activation via inhibition of NF-kappaB RelA phosphorylation at serine 276. *J. Immunol.* **179**, 7840–7851 (2007).
- 111. Sarady, J. K. *et al.* Carbon monoxide protection against endotoxic shock involves reciprocal effects on iNOS in the lung and liver. *FASEB J.* **18**, 854–6 (2004).
- 112. Liu, G.-H., Qu, J. & Shen, X. NF-?B/p65 antagonizes Nrf2-ARE pathway by depriving CBP from Nrf2 and facilitating recruitment of HDAC3 to MafK. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Cell Res.* **1783**, 713–727 (2008).
- 113. Hosoya, T. *et al.* Differential Responses of the Nrf2-Keap1 System to Laminar and Oscillatory Shear Stresses in Endothelial Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 27244–27250 (2005).
- 114. Anwar, A. a *et al.* Induction of heme oxygenase 1 by moderately oxidized low-density lipoproteins in human vascular smooth muscle cells: role of mitogen-activated protein kinases and Nrf2. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **39**, 227–236 (2005).
- 115. Kenneth, M. Janeway immunobiology. Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling **53**, (2013).
- Mueller, D. L., Jenkins, M. K. & Schwartz, R. H. Clonal Expansion Versus Functional Clonal Inactivation: A Costimulatory Signalling Pathway Determines the Outcome of T Cell Antigen Receptor Occupancy. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 445–480 (1989).
- 117. Saito, T., Yokosuka, T. & Hashimoto-Tane, A. Dynamic regulation of T cell activation and co-stimulation through TCR-microclusters. *FEBS Lett.* **584**, 4865–4871 (2010).
- 118. Tanchot, C., Lemonnier, F. a, Perarnau, B., Freitas, a a & Rocha, B. Differential requirements for survival and proliferation of CD8 naive or memory T cells. *Science (80-.).* 276, 2057–2062 (1997).
- 119. Seddon, B. & Zamoyska, R. TCR signals mediated by Src family kinases are essential for the survival of naive T cells. *J. Immunol.* **169**, 2997–3005 (2002).
- 120. Davis, M. M. *et al.* LIGAND RECOGNITION BY αβ T CELL RECEPTORS. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **16**, 523–544 (1998).
- 121. Salmond, R. J., Filby, A., Qureshi, I., Caserta, S. & Zamoyska, R. T-cell receptor proximal signaling via the Src-family kinases, Lck and Fyn, influences T-cell activation, differentiation, and tolerance. *Immunol. Rev.* **228**, 9–22 (2009).
- 122. Parsons, S. J. & Parsons, J. T. Src family kinases, key regulators of signal transduction. *Oncogene* **23**, 7906–7909 (2004).

- 123. Holdorf, A. D. *et al.* Proline residues in CD28 and the Src homology (SH)3 domain of Lck are required for T cell costimulation. *J. Exp. Med.* **190**, 375–84 (1999).
- 124. Hofmann, G. *et al.* Binding, Domain Orientation, and Dynamics of the Lck SH3?SH2 Domain Pair and Comparison with Other Src-Family Kinases [?] *Biochemistry* **44**, 13043– 13050 (2005).
- 125. van Oers, N. S., Killeen, N. & Weiss, A. Lck regulates the tyrosine phosphorylation of the T cell receptor subunits and ZAP-70 in murine thymocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **183**, (1996).
- 126. Cantrell, D. A. T cell antigen receptor signal transduction pathways. *Cancer Surv.* **27**, 165–175 (1996).
- 127. Liechtenstein, T., Dufait, I., Lanna, A., Breckpot, K. & Escors, D. MODULATING CO-STIMULATION DURING ANTIGEN PRESENTATION TO ENHANCE CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY. *Immunol. Endocr. Metab. Agents Med. Chem.* **12**, 224–235 (2012).
- 128. Shahinian, A. *et al.* Differential T cell costimulatory requirements in CD28-deficient mice. *Science* **261**, 609–12 (1993).
- 129. June, C. H., Ledbetter, J. A., Gillespie, M. M., Lindsten, T. & Thompson, C. B. T-cell proliferation involving the CD28 pathway is associated with cyclosporine-resistant interleukin 2 gene expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **7**, 4472–81 (1987).
- 130. Boomer, J. S. & Green, J. M. An enigmatic tail of CD28 signaling. *Cold Spring Harbor* perspectives in biology **2**, (2010).
- 131. Janardhan, S. V., Praveen, K., Marks, R. & Gajewski, T. F. Evidence implicating the Ras pathway in multiple CD28 costimulatory functions in CD4 + T cells. *PLoS One* **6**, (2011).
- 132. Parijs, L. V. Homeostasis and Self-Tolerance in the Immune System: Turning Lymphocytes off. *Science (80-.).* **280**, 243–248 (1998).
- 133. Lenardo, M. J. Interleukin-2 programs mouse alpha beta T lymphocytes for apoptosis. *Nature* **353**, 858–861 (1991).
- 134. Linsley, P. S. *et al.* CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. *J. Exp. Med.* **174**, 561–569 (1991).
- 135. Yokosuka, T. *et al.* Spatiotemporal Basis of CTLA-4 Costimulatory Molecule-Mediated Negative Regulation of T Cell Activation. *Immunity* **33**, 326–339 (2010).
- 136. Yokosuka, T. *et al.* Programmed cell death 1 forms negative costimulatory microclusters that directly inhibit T cell receptor signaling by recruiting phosphatase SHP2. *J. Exp. Med.* **209**, 1201–1217 (2012).
- 137. Morgan, D., Ruscetti, F. & Gallo, R. Selective in vitro growth of T lymphocytes from normal human bone marrows. *Science (80-.).* **193**, 1007–1008 (1976).
- 138. Gillis, S., Baker, P. E., Ruscetti, F. W. & Smith, K. A. Long-term culture of human antigen-

specific cytotoxic T-cell lines. J Exp Med 148, 1093–1098 (1978).

- 139. Granucci, F. *et al.* Inducible IL-2 production by dendritic cells revealed by global gene expression analysis. *Nat. Immunol.* **2**, 882–888 (2001).
- 140. Yui, M. A., Sharp, L. L., Havran, W. L. & Rothenberg, E. V. Preferential Activation of an IL-2 Regulatory Sequence Transgene in TCRγδ and NKT Cells: Subset-Specific Differences in IL-2 Regulation. *J. Immunol.* **172**, (2004).
- 141. Huse, M., Lillemeier, B. F., Kuhns, M. S., Chen, D. S. & Davis, M. M. T cells use two directionally distinct pathways for cytokine secretion. *Nat. Immunol.* **7**, 247–255 (2006).
- 142. Rogers, W. O. *et al.* Visualization of antigen-specific T cell activation and cytokine expression in vivo. *J. Immunol.* **158**, 649–57 (1997).
- 143. Serfling, E., Avots, A. & Neumann, M. The architecture of the interleukin-2 promoter: a reflection of T lymphocyte activation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1263**, 181–200 (1995).
- 144. Jain, J., Loh, C. & Rao, A. Transcriptional regulation of the IL-2 gene. *Current Opinion in Immunology* **7**, 333–342 (1995).
- 145. Yu, A., Olosz, F., Choi, C. Y. & Malek, T. R. Efficient internalization of IL-2 depends on the distal portion of the cytoplasmic tail of the IL-2R common gamma-chain and a lymphoid cell environment. *J. Immunol.* **165**, 2556–62 (2000).
- 146. Hémar, A. *et al.* Endocytosis of interleukin 2 receptors in human T lymphocytes: distinct intracellular localization and fate of the receptor alpha, beta, and gamma chains. *J. Cell Biol.* **129**, 55–64 (1995).
- 147. Yu, A. & Malek, T. R. The proteasome regulates receptor-mediated endocytosis of interleukin-2. *J. Biol. Chem.* **276**, 381–385 (2001).
- 148. Villarino, A. V. *et al.* Helper T cell IL-2 production is limited by negative feedback and STAT-dependent cytokine signals. *J. Exp. Med.* **204**, 65–71 (2007).
- 149. Gong, D. & Malek, T. R. Cytokine-dependent Blimp-1 expression in activated T cells inhibits IL-2 production. *J. Immunol.* **178**, 242–252 (2007).
- 150. Shin, H. *et al.* A Role for the Transcriptional Repressor Blimp-1 in CD8+ T Cell Exhaustion during Chronic Viral Infection. *Immunity* **31**, 309–320 (2009).
- 151. Hwang, E. S., Hong, J.-H. & Glimcher, L. H. IL-2 production in developing Th1 cells is regulated by heterodimerization of RelA and T-bet and requires T-bet serine residue 508. *J. Exp. Med.* **202**, 1289–300 (2005).
- 152. D'Souza, W. N. & Lefrancois, L. IL-2 Is Not Required for the Initiation of CD8 T Cell Cycling but Sustains Expansion. *J. Immunol.* **171**, 5727–5735 (2003).
- 153. Mingari, M. C. *et al.* Human interleukin-2 promotes proliferation of activated B cells via surface receptors similar to those of activated T cells. *Nature* **312**, 641–3 (1984).

- 154. Kundig, T. *et al.* Immune responses in interleukin-2-deficient mice. *Science (80-.).* **262**, 1059–1061 (1993).
- 155. Steiger, J., Nickerson, P. W., Steurer, W., Moscovitch-Lopatin, M. & Strom, T. B. IL-2 knockout recipient mice reject islet cell allografts. *J Immunol* **155**, 489–498 (1995).
- 156. Dai, Z., Konieczny, B. T., Baddoura, F. K. & Lakkis, F. G. Impaired alloantigen-mediated T cell apoptosis and failure to induce long-term allograft survival in IL-2-deficient mice. *J. Immunol.* **161**, 1659–63 (1998).
- 157. Williams, M. A., Tyznik, A. J. & Bevan, M. J. Interleukin-2 signals during priming are required for secondary expansion of CD8+ memory T cells. *Nature* **441**, 890–893 (2006).
- 158. Kalia, V. *et al.* Prolonged Interleukin-2Rα Expression on Virus-Specific CD8+ T Cells Favors Terminal-Effector Differentiation In Vivo. *Immunity* **32**, 91–103 (2010).
- 159. Obar, J. J. *et al.* CD4+ T cell regulation of CD25 expression controls development of short-lived effector CD8+ T cells in primary and secondary responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **107**, 193–8 (2010).
- 160. Pepper, M., Pagán, A. J., Igyártó, B. Z., Taylor, J. J. & Jenkins, M. K. Opposing Signals from the Bcl6 Transcription Factor and the Interleukin-2 Receptor Generate T Helper 1 Central and Effector Memory Cells. *Immunity* **35**, 583–595 (2011).
- 161. Sakaguchi, S. Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory t cells for immunologic self-tolerance and negative control of immune responses. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **22**, 531–562 (2004).
- 162. Fontenot, J. D., Rasmussen, J. P., Gavin, M. A. & Rudensky, A. Y. A function for interleukin 2 in Foxp3-expressing regulatory T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **6**, 1142–1151 (2005).
- 163. Almeida, A. R. M., Legrand, N., Papiernik, M. & Freitas, A. A. Homeostasis of peripheral CD4+ T cells: IL-2R alpha and IL-2 shape a population of regulatory cells that controls CD4+ T cell numbers. *J. Immunol.* **169**, 4850–60 (2002).
- 164. Sadlack, B. *et al.* Ulcerative colitis-like disease in mice with a disrupted interleukin-2 gene. *Cell* **75**, 253–261 (1993).
- Sadlack, B. *et al.* Generalized autoimmune disease in interleukin-2-deficient mice is triggered by an uncontrolled activation and proliferation of CD4+ T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25, 3053–3059 (1995).
- Siegel, J. P., Sharon, M., Smith, P. L. & Leonard, W. J. The IL-2 receptor beta chain (p70): role in mediating signals for LAK, NK, and proliferative activities. *Science* 238, 75– 8 (1987).
- 167. Gruss, H. J., Scott, C., Rollins, B. J., Brach, M. A. & Herrmann, F. Human fibroblasts express functional IL-2 receptors formed by the IL-2R alpha- and beta-chain subunits: association of IL-2 binding with secretion of the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. *J. Immunol.* **157**, 851–7 (1996).
- 168. Piaisance, S. et al. The IL-2 receptor present on human embryonic fibroblasts is

functional in the absence of P64/IL-2R 2 chain. Int. Immunol. 5, 843-848 (1993).

- 169. Oh, H. & Ghosh, S. NF-κB: Roles and regulation in different CD4+ T-cell subsets. *Immunol. Rev.* **252**, 41–51 (2013).
- 170. Ghosh, S. & Baltimore, D. Activation in vitro of NF-kappa B by phosphorylation of its inhibitor I kappa B. *Nature* **344**, 678–82 (1990).
- 171. Zandi, E., Rothwarf, D. M., Delhase, M., Hayakawa, M. & Karin, M. The IkappaB kinase complex (IKK) contains two kinase subunits, IKKalpha and IKKbeta, necessary for IkappaB phosphorylation and NF-kappaB activation. *Cell* **91**, 243–252 (1997).
- 172. Mercurio, F. *et al.* IKK-1 and IKK-2: cytokine-activated IkappaB kinases essential for NFkappaB activation. *Science* **278**, 860–6 (1997).
- 173. Karin, M., Liu, Z. G. & Zandi, E. AP-1 function and regulation. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* **9**, 240–246 (1997).
- 174. Jain, J. *et al.* Analysis of the AP-1 sites in the IL-2 promoter. *J. Immunol.* **148**, 1240–1250 (1992).
- 175. Rao, A., Luo, C. & Hogan, P. G. TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS OF THE NFAT FAMILY:Regulation and Function. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **15**, 707–747 (1997).
- 176. Crabtree, G. R. *et al.* NFAT signaling: choreographing the social lives of cells. *Cell* **109 Suppl**, S67-79 (2002).
- 177. Rooney, J. W., Sun, Y. L., Glimcher, L. H. & Hoey, T. Novel NFAT sites that mediate activation of the interleukin-2 promoter in response to T-cell receptor stimulation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**, 6299–6310 (1995).
- 178. Ran, F. A. *et al.* Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. *Nat. Protoc.* **8**, 2281–2308 (2013).
- 179. Cong, L. *et al.* Multiplex Genome Engineering Using CRISPR/Cas Systems. *Science* (80-...). **339**, (2013).
- 180. Mali, P., Esvelt, K. M. & Church, G. M. Cas9 as a versatile tool for engineering biology. *Nat Methods* **10**, 957–963 (2013).
- Gasiunas, G., Barrangou, R., Horvath, P. & Siksnys, V. Cas9-crRNA ribonucleoprotein complex mediates specific DNA cleavage for adaptive immunity in bacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **109**, E2579-86 (2012).
- 182. Jinek, M. *et al.* A Programmable Dual-RNA-Guided DNA Endonuclease in Adaptive Bacterial Immunity. *Science (80-.).* **337,** 816–821 (2012).
- 183. Garneau, J. E. *et al.* The CRISPR/Cas bacterial immune system cleaves bacteriophage and plasmid DNA. *Nature* **468**, 67–71 (2010).
- 184. Barrangou, R. et al. CRISPR Provides Acquired Resistance Against Viruses in

Prokaryotes. Science (80-.). 315, 1709–1712 (2007).

- 185. Wang, H. *et al.* One-Step Generation of Mice Carrying Mutations in Multiple Genes by CRISPR/Cas-Mediated Genome Engineering. *Cell* **153**, 910–918 (2013).
- 186. Dominguez, A. A., Lim, W. A. & Qi, L. S. Beyond editing: repurposing CRISPR–Cas9 for precision genome regulation and interrogation. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **17**, 5–15 (2015).
- 187. Hsu, P. D., Lander, E. S. & Zhang, F. Development and applications of CRISPR-Cas9 for genome engineering. *Cell* **157**, 1262–1278 (2014).

CHAPTER 2

The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, differentially affects early events following stimulation of Jurkat

cells

The work presented in the chapter has been publushed as:

Zagorski, J. W. *et al.* The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, differentially affects early events following stimulation of Jurkat cells. *Toxicol. Sci.* **136**, 63–71 (2013).

<u>Abstract</u>

Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) is a transcription factor that is activated by cellular stresses, such as oxidative compounds. After activation, Nrf2 induces transcription of its target genes, many of which have cytoprotective functions. Previously, we have shown that activation of Nrf2 by tBHQ skews murine CD4⁺T cell differentiation. Although the role of Nrf2 in murine T cells is somewhat characterized, it is largely uncharacterized in human T cells. Therefore, the aim of the current studies was to characterize the effects of the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, on the early events of human CD4⁺ T cell activation. Pretreatment of Jurkat T cells with tBHQ, prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28, diminished the production of IL-2 at both the transcript and protein levels. Similarly, the expression of CD25 also diminished, albeit moderately, after pretreatment with tBHQ. The decrease in IL-2 production was not due to decreased nuclear translocation of c-fos or c-jun. Although tBHQ caused both a delay and a decrease in Ca²⁺ influx in activated Jurkat cells, no decrease in NFAT DNA binding or transcriptional activity was observed. In contrast to NFAT, tBHQ significantly decreased NFkB transcriptional activity. Collectively, our studies show that the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, inhibits IL-2 and CD25 expression, which correlates with decreased NFkB transcriptional activity in activated Jurkat cells. Overall, our studies suggest that Nrf2 represents a novel mechanbism for the regulation of both human and mouse T cell function.

Introduction

Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) is a transcription factor that is activated by cellular stresses, such as oxidative stimuli ^{1,2}. When inactive, Nrf2 is tethered to the actin cytoskeleton within the cytosol by its repressor protein, Kelch ECH associating protein 1 (Keap1). Interaction of Nrf2 with Keap1 causes its continual ubiquitination and degradation ^{3,4}. When activated by cellular stresses, Nrf2 translocates into the nucleus and binds to the promoters of genes containing the antioxidant response element (ARE), inducing their transcription⁵⁻⁷. Genes regulated by this pathway are involved in detoxification, antioxidant response, and glutathione homeostasis among other cytoprotective functions ⁸⁻¹⁰. In mice, it has been shown that Nrf2 is inducible in leukocytes and up-regulates both Heme oxygenase-1 (Hmox-1) and NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase 1 (Nqo1) ^{11,12}. Accordingly, Nrf2 activity can be assessed by measuring induction of Hmox-1 and Nqo1 mRNA expression in addition to nuclear translocation of Nrf2.

Widely used as a preservative in food, *tert*-butylhydroquinone (tBHQ) is a well-characterized activator of Nrf2. It has been previously shown that tBHQ activates Nrf2 by interacting with thiol groups of cysteine molecules on the Keap1 protein, which interferes with the ability of Keap1 to repress Nrf2¹³. In industry, tBHQ functions as a food preservative by preventing the rancification of lipids ¹⁴. Previous studies have shown serum concentrations of tBHQ reaching the high µM range in healthy volunteers who ingested 100 – 150 mg of tBHQ ¹⁵.

Although a key player in xenobiotic detoxification and metabolism, a growing number of studies show Nrf2 also plays a role in immune cell function and in various inflammatory diseases, including autoimmune disease and allergy ¹⁶⁻¹⁸. Our previous studies demonstrate that Nrf2

activation in primary mouse splenocytes modulates murine CD4⁺ T cell differentiation ¹⁹. Studies by other groups have demonstrated that female Nrf2 knockout mice are susceptible to an autoimmune disease resembling systemic lupus erythematosus, which is characterized by the presence of antibodies targeting host dsDNA ^{20,21}. Importantly, the majority of studies investigating the role of Nrf2 in immune cells have used murine models and thus the role of Nrf2 in human immune cells remains largely uncharacterized.

Activation of CD4⁺T cells is integral to initiating a healthy immune response to a pathogen. T cells are typically in a resting, quiescent state. In order for activation to occur, the cell requires two stimuli. First, the T cell receptor (CD3) must encounter an MHC class II molecule which is loaded with antigen. A costimulatory signal is also required and can be provided by numerous costimulatory receptors and ligands²². Experimentally, T cells can be activated with antibodies directed against CD3 and CD28, which is a costimulatory receptor. These interactions lead to a cascade of signaling events, bringing about T cell activation. One of the earliest events of T cell activation is the influx of Ca²⁺ through the calcium release activated channels (CRAC) ²². This sudden change in the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration activates the calcium-sensitive transcription factor, nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), which translocates to the nucleus and binds to the promoters of target genes ²². T cell activation also initiates several kinase cascades, including RAC-JNK, PKC-SEK1-JNK, and RAS-RAF-ERK²³. The result of this signal transduction is the translocation of the transcription factors NFkB, c-fos, and c-jun which subsequently induce target genes, such as interleukin-2 (IL-2) ²². In addition to induction of IL-2, T cell activation also upregulates expression of the canonical T cell activation markers, CD25 and CD69. CD25 is the high affinity chain of the IL-2 receptor, and CD69 is a lectin-type receptor, both become highly expressed after activation. These early events of T cell activation are vital in initiating an effective immune response.

Our previous studies demonstrated that activation of Nrf2 skews murine CD4⁺T cell differentiation; however the role of Nrf2 in T cell activation itself was not investigated. The purpose of the present studies was not only to determine the effect of the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, on the early events of T cell activation, but to do so in a human T cell model.

Materials and Methods

Materials:

tBHQ, and all other reagents, were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO), unless otherwise specified.

Cell culture:

Human Jurkat E6-1 cells were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). Cells were then cultured in RPMI 1640 media, with the addition of 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Biowest LLC, Kansas City, MO), 25 mM HEPES, 1 mM sodium pyruvate , 10 mM nonessential amino acids, 100 u/mL penicillin, and 100 u/mL streptomycin. All treatments and activation of Jurkat T cells are discussed in figure legends.

mRNA quantification by real-time PCR:

Total RNA was isolated from 2 x 10⁶ Jurkat T cells using TRIzol Reagent, per the manufacturer's protocol (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). After isolation, reverse transcription was performed prior to Sybr green real-time PCR analysis. Relative mRNA expression was calculated by DDCt, normalized to ribosomal protein L13a, using Ct values

quantified by Life Technologies/Applied Biosystems Sequence Detection System 7500 (Grand Island, NY). All primer sequences were retrieved from qPrimerDepot (http://primerdepot.nci.nih.gov/) and synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). The primer sequences are as follows: RPL13A forward primer, 5'GTTGATGCCTTCACAGCGTA-3' and RPL13A reverse primer, 5'-AGATGGCGGAGGTGCAG-3'; Nrf2 forward primer, 5'-TCTTGCCTCCAAAGTATGTCAA-3' and Nrf2 reverse primer, 5'-CACGGTCCACAGCTCATC-3'; NQO1 forward primer, 5'-TCCTTTCTTCAAAGCCG-3' and NQO1 reverse primer, 5'-GGACTGCACCAGAGCCAT-3'; HMOX-1 forward primer, 5'-GGCTTCCCTCTGGGAGTCT-3' and HMOX-1 reverse primer, 5'-AGCTGCTGACCCATGACAC-3'; IL-2 forward primer, 5'-GCACTTCCTCCAGAGGTTTG-3' and IL-2 reverse primer 5'-TCACCAGGATGCTCACATTT-3'; CD69 forward primer, 5'-ACAGGAACTTGGAAGGACCC-3' and CD69 reverse primer, 5'-AGAACAGCTCTTTGCATCCG-3'; CD25 forward primer, 5'-TAGGCCATGGCTTGAATGT-3' and CD25 reverse primer, 5'-ATACCTGCTGATGTGGGGAC-3'

IL-2 quantification by ELISA:

Jurkat T cells were cultured in 96-well plates (1 x 10⁵ cells/well), treated as described and cell supernatants were harvested 24h after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. IL-2 was quantified from cell supernatants by the use of a commercially available kit per the manufacturer's protocol (BioLegend, San Diego, CA). Relative light intensity was quantified at 450 nm by Bio-Tek µQuant microplate reader (Highland Park, VT). The IL-2 concentrations of each sample were then calculated using a linear standard curve on Microsoft Excel (Microsoft, Redmond, WA).

Measurement of extracellular markers by flow cytometry:

Jurkat T cells were labeled with anti-CD69/PECy7 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA) and anti-CD25/APC (eBioscience, San Diego, CA). The cells were then washed, resuspended in FACS buffer and subsequently analyzed by flow cytometry using the BD Accuri C6 (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA). Fluorescence was quantified using CFlow software (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA).

*Measurement of Ca*²⁺ *influx by flow cytometry*:

Jurkat T cells were labeled, at a density of 1x10⁶ cells per mL, with Fluo-4, AM (Life Technologies) per the manufacturer's protocol. The cells were then washed and analyzed by flow cytometry using a BD Accuri C6 (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA). Fluorescence was quantified using CFlow software (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA).

Protein isolation:

Nuclei were extracted from 1x10⁷ Jurkat T cells, 3h after activation by anti-CD3/anti-CD28. Cells were lysed using a solution containing 10 mM HEPES, 100 mM KCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EGTA, 0.5 mM DTT, 0.5% NP-40 substitute, and 1x Halt protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). The cells were then spun down and resuspended in nuclear extraction buffer containing 10 mM HEPES, 420 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EGTA, 0.5 mM DTT, 5% glycerol, and 1x Halt protease inhibitor cocktail. Samples were kept in nuclear extraction buffer for 1h, vortexing intermittently. After incubation, samples were spun down and supernatants containing the nuclear fraction of the protein extract were collected. Nuclear protein was quantified via Bradford assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA).

Western blotting:

After quantification, nuclear protein was diluted in Laemmli Sample Buffer (Bio-Rad) supplemented with 2-mercaptoethanol so that each well contained 10µg of nuclear protein. Samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. Membranes that were probed for histone H3 were blocked with 5% chicken albumin, from egg white (Sigma-Aldrich), in phosphate-buffered saline containing 0.05% Tween 20 (PBST). Blots targeting c-fos, c-jun, and Nrf2 were blocked with 5% nonfat dry milk (NFDM) in 0.05% PBST. Histone H3 primary antibody (FL-136) was diluted 1:100 in 0.05% PBST containing 2% chicken albumin. Primary antibodies for Nrf2 (H-300), c-Jun (D), and c-Fos (H-125) were diluted 1:1000 in 0.05% PBST containing 2% NFDM. All primary antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). The secondary antibody was HRP-linked and was diluted 1:2000 in 0.05% PBST containing 2% of the blocking compound. The anti-rabbit IgG was obtained from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). All blots were developed via ECL Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Scientific) per the manufacturer's protocol. The bands were visualized by the LI-COR Odyssey FC infrared imaging system (Lincoln, NE).

ELISA based DNA binding assay.

One hour after activation by anti-CD3/anti-CD28, nuclear protein was extracted from 1x10⁷ Jurkat T cells, using a commercially available kit (Active Motif, Carlsbad, CA). After extraction, nuclear protein was quantified via the Bradford assay (BioRad). 1µg of nuclear protein was used to quantify NFAT DNA binding, using a commercially available ELISA-based DNA binding assay (Active Motif). Assays were done per the manufacturer's protocol.

Transient transfection and luciferase assay:

Human Jurkat T cells were reverse transfected with 1.5 μ g of plasmid and 3 μ l of Lipofectamine 2000 (Life Technologies) per 5x10⁵ cells for 12h in complete media. After 12h the cells were washed and resuspended at a concentration of 5x10⁵ cells/mL in complete media. After resuspension, the cells were seeded in a 96 well plate at a volume of 200 μ l per well. The cells were then treated as described in the figure legends and incubated for 12h. After incubation, the luciferase activity was measured via a commercially-available kit, using the manufacturer's protocol (Promega, Madison, WI). Luciferase luminescence was quantified by the Tecan Infinite M1000 Pro Microplate Reader (Tecan, San Jose, CA).

Plasmids:

The NFAT luciferase reporter plasmid was obtained from Signosis, Inc. (Sunnyvale, CA). The AP-1 and NFκB luciferase reporters were purchased from Promega (Madison, WI).

Statistical analysis:

For each treatment group, the mean \pm the standard error was calculated. One-way ANOVA followed by the Dunnett post hoc test was used to determine statistical significance at p<0.05, compared to the vehicle control. All statistical analyses were calculated by SigmaPlot 12.3 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA)

<u>Results</u>

The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, inhibits production of IL-2.

We have previously demonstrated that activation of Nrf2 by the food preservative, tBHQ, modulates T cell differentiation in primary murine CD4⁺ T cells ¹⁹. However, the role of Nrf2 and the effect of tBHQ in human CD4⁺ T cells remain largely uncharacterized. Therefore, the purpose of our current studies was to investigate the effects of tBHQ on the early events of T cell activation in human Jurkat T cells. The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, markedly decreased IL-2 production by Jurkat T cells activated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 (Fig. 1). The decrease in IL-2 by tBHQ was concentration-dependent and was observed at both the mRNA and protein levels. Decreased IL-2 protein production by tBHQ occurred at concentrations as low as 0.1 µM. No decrease in cellular viability were seen at the concentrations used in this study (data not shown). Consistent with our previous findings in murine T cells, these data suggest that tBHQ modulates cytokine production in human T cells as well.



Α

Figure 3: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, inhibits production of IL-2. The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, inhibits both mRNA and protein production of IL-2 in human Jurkat T cells. Jurkat T cells received activator alone (0), were left untreated (BKG), or were pretreated with either tBHQ (0.1, 0.5, 1, or 5 µM) or the vehicle (VH) control (0.01% ethanol). Pretreatment of cells with both VH and tBHQ occurred 30 min prior to activation of the cells by anti-CD3/anti-CD28. A) 6h post activation, cells were harvested and mRNA collected. Quantification of IL2 mRNA was then performed by real-time PCR. B) 24h after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28, cell supernatants were collected and II-2 protein quantified by ELISA. * represents p<0.05 versus VH.

Activation of Nrf2 by tBHQ in Jurkat T cells.

To determine whether activation of Nrf2 may play a role in inhibition of IL-2 by tBHQ, we investigated whether Nrf2 is activated by tBHQ in Jurkat cells. tBHQ caused an increase in Nrf2 in nuclear protein extracts as determined by western blot analysis, which is consistent with increased nuclear translocation (Fig. 2). Although tBHQ tended to increase Nrf2 mRNA levels, this effect was not statistically significant (Fig. 3a). In addition, mRNA levels of the Nrf2 target genes NQO1 and HMOX-1 were substantially increased by tBHQ, at concentrations as low as 0.1 μ M (Fig. 3b and 3c). Overall, these data strongly suggest that tBHQ activates Nrf2 in Jurkat T cells, as has been observed in other cell types.



Figure 4: tBHQ, causes nuclear translocation of Nrf2 in Jurkat T cells. Jurkat T cells received activator alone (0), were left untreated (BKG), or were pretreated with either tBHQ (0.1, 0.5, 1, or 5 μ M) or the vehicle (VH) control (0.01% ethanol). Pretreatment of cells with both VH and tBHQ occurred 30 min prior to activation of the cells by anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 3h after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28, cells were harvested and nuclear protein extracted. Western analysis was performed and the resulting blot was probed for Nrf2. Histone H3 was used as the loading control.



Figure 5: tBHQ causes induction of Nrf2 target genes in Jurkat T cells. Jurkat T cells received activator alone (0), were left untreated (BKG), or were pretreated with either tBHQ (0.1, 0.5, 1,

Figure 5: (cont'd) or 5 μ M) or the vehicle (VH) control (0.01% ethanol). Pretreatment of cells with both VH and tBHQ occurred 30 min prior to activation of the cells by anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 6h post activation, cells were harvested and mRNA collected. Quantification of A) Nrf2, B.) HMOX-1 or C.) NQO1 mRNA was performed by real-time PCR. * represents p<0.05 versus VH.

Differential effects of tBHQ on CD25 and CD69 expression in Jurkat cells.

Because tBHQ markedly suppressed IL-2 production by activated Jurkat cells (Fig. 1), we next investigated the effects of tBHQ on other early events of T cell activation. The high affinity chain of the IL-2 receptor (CD25) is an early activation marker in CD4⁺T cells. Although treatment of Jurkat T cells with tBHQ caused a statistically-relevant decrease in CD25 expression at both the protein and mRNA levels, the effect of tBHQ on CD25 was more modest than that observed in IL-2 production (Fig. 4). In addition to CD25, CD69, a lectin-type receptor, is also a marker of early T cell activation. Although tBHQ caused a modest decrease in CD69 protein expression, this was not observed at the mRNA level. Taken together, the data suggest that Nrf2 activation may moderately decrease CD25 expression.



Figure 6:The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, causes a modest reduction in CD25 expression in activated <u>Jurkat cells</u>. Jurkat T cells received activator alone (0), were left untreated (BKG), or were

Figure 6: (cont'd). pretreated with either tBHQ (0.1, 0.5, 1, or 5 µM) or the vehicle (VH) control (0.01% ethanol). Pretreatment of cells with both VH and tBHQ occurred 30 min prior to activation by anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 24h post activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28, Jurkat T cells were isolated and labeled with anti-CD25/APC and anti-CD69/PECy7. CD25 and CD69 expression was analyzed by flow cytometry using the BD Accuri C6. The percentage of CD25-and CD69-positive cells was measured using CFlow software. For mRNA analysis, cells were harvested 6 h after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 for RNA isolation. CD25 and CD69 mRNA were measured by real-time PCR. A) Representative dot plots from flow cytometry. B) Graphical representation of CD25-positive cells by flow cytometry. C) Quantification of CD25 mRNA. D) Graphical representation of CD69-positive cells by flow cytometry. E) Quantification of CD69 mRNA. * represents p<0.05 versus VH.

Effect of tBHQ on nuclear translocation of the transcription factors, c-fos and c-jun.

To determine the mechanism by which tBHQ suppresses IL-2 production in Jurkat cells, we next examined the effect of tBHQ on the nuclear translocation of c-fos and c-jun, known regulators of IL-2 transcription. As expected, activation of Jurkat T cells caused robust nuclear translocation of both c-fos and c-jun (Fig. 5). Pretreatment with tBHQ did not decrease nuclear translocation of c-fos or c-jun and in fact, appears to cause a modest increase at the highest concentration (5 μ M). These data suggest that inhibition of IL-2 by tBHQ is not due to decreased nuclear

translocation of c-fos/c-jun.



Figure 7: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, has a modest effect on the nuclear translocation of c-fos and c-jun. Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG), or were pretreated with nothing (0), tBHQ (1, or 5μ M) or the vehicle (VH) control (0.01% ethanol), 30 min prior to activation with anti-

Figure 7: (cont'd) CD3/anti-CD28. 3h after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28, cells were harvested and nuclear protein extracted. Nuclear translocation of c-fos and c-jun was determined by western analysis. Histone H3 was used as the loading control. Visualization of the resulting western blots was performed by the LI-COR Odyssey FC infrared imaging system.

tBHQ inhibits calcium influx in activated Jurkat T cells.

Calcium influx is a critical event in the activation of T cells. Calcium is integral in many cellular processes, including the activation of the transcription factor, NFAT ²². NFAT is a calcium-sensitive transcription factor that has multiple binding sites on the promoter of the IL-2 gene. The lack of effect of tBHQ on either c-fos or c-jun suggests that Nrf2 is inhibiting the expression of this gene by another means, such as inhibition of calcium influx. Thus, calcium influx in Jurkat T cells was measured over time following cell activation. After measurement for 1.5 min to establish baseline, anti-CD3/anti-CD28 was added to the suspension, which caused a subsequent spike in calcium influx a couple of minutes later (Fig. 6a). Cells that were pretreated with tBHQ displayed significant reduction in both fluorescent intensity and number of cells that were positive for calcium influx at both 1 and 5 μ M tBHQ (Fig. 6b-d). In addition, tBHQ caused a delay in calcium influx (Fig. 6a). Overall, these data demonstrate that tBHQ causes both a delay and a decrease in calcium influx in activated Jurkat T cells.



Figure 8: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, delays and decreases the magnitude of calcium influx in <u>activated Jurkat T cells</u>. Jurkat T cells were pretreated with either tBHQ (1 or 5 μ M) or the vehicle (VH) control (0.01% ethanol) and loaded with Fluo-4/AM prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. Calcium influx was determined by an increase in Fluo-4 fluorescence and measured over time by flow cytometry, using the BD Accuri C6 flow cytometer in conjunction with CFlow software. 1.5 minutes after beginning the analysis, anti-CD3/anti-CD28 was added to each sample and measurements continued for another 6 minutes. A) Fluo-4 fluorescence as measured over time by flow cytometry. B) Histograms of Fluo-4 fluorescence. Graphical representation of C) MFI or D) percentage Fluo-4^{hi} cells. * represents p<0.05 versus VH.

The activity of the transcription factor NFAT is unaffected by the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ.

The decrease in calcium influx by tBHQ prompted us to investigate DNA binding and transcriptional activity of the calcium-sensitive transcription factor, NFAT. Toward this end, we quantified NFAT DNA binding with an ELISA-based assay and transcriptional activity with an NFAT-luciferase reporter assay. Unexpectedly, NFAT DNA binding and transcriptional activity was largely unaffected by tBHQ (Fig. 7a-b). Collectively, these data indicate that tBHQ does not impair NFAT activity.



Figure 9: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, does not affect NFAT DNA binding or transcriptional activity in activated Jurkat cells. A) Jurkat T cells were pretreated with 5 μ M tBHQ or vehicle (VH) control (0.01% ethanol), 30 min prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 1h post activation, nuclear proteins were extracted. NFAT DNA binding was quantified using an ELISA-based assay. B) Jurkat T cells were transiently transfected with an NFAT luciferase reporter plasmid. After transfection the cells received activator alone (0), were left untreated (BKG), or were pretreated with either tBHQ (0.1, 0.5, 1, or 5 μ M) or vehicle (VH) control (0.01% ethanol),30 min prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 12h post activation, cells were harvested and luciferase luminescence was measured using a Tecan Infinite m1000 Pro Microplate Reader. None of the groups were statistically different from the VH control.

The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, modulates AP-1 and NFkB activity

The lack of effect of tBHQ on NFAT activity was an unexpected finding and prompted us to investigate the activity of other transcription factors that regulate IL-2 transcription. Thus, the transcriptional activity of AP-1 (c-fos/c-jun) and NF κ B, was investigated using luciferase reporter genes. At the highest concentration (5 \square M), tBHQ markedly increased AP-1 luciferase activity (Fig. 8a). Conversely, tBHQ caused a concentration-dependent decrease in NF κ B luciferase activity (Fig. 8b). Taken together, these data show that the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, causes an increase in AP-1 transcriptional activity and a concurrent decrease in NF κ B transcriptional activity in activated Jurkat T cells.



Figure 10: The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, modulates AP-1 and NF κ B transcriptional activity in <u>activated Jurkat cells</u>. Jurkat T cells were transiently transfected with either A.) AP-1 luciferase reporter or B) NF κ B luciferase reporter plasmid. After transfection, the cells received activator alone (0), were left untreated (BKG), or were pretreated with either tBHQ (0.1, 0.5, 1, or 5 μ M) or vehicle (VH) control (0.01% ethanol), 30 min prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 12h post activation, cells were harvested and luciferase luminescence was measured using a Tecan Infinite m1000 Pro Microplate Reader. * p < 0.05 as compared to the VH control.

Discussion

The purpose of the current studies was to characterize the effect of the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, on the early events of T cell activation in a human T cell model. The data from these studies suggest that Nrf2 is activated by tBHQ in human Jurkat T cells, as evidenced by nuclear translocation of Nrf2 and up-regulation of the Nrf2 target genes, HMOX-1 and NQO1. The current studies also indicate that the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, inhibits IL-2 secretion as well as the expression of CD25 on the cell surface, but only a modest reduction was observed in the expression of CD69. The decrease in IL-2 by tBHQ is consistent with what has recently been observed with benzo(a)pyrene, which is also a Nrf2 activator ²⁴. Although tBHQ decreased calcium influx in activated Jurkat cells, NFAT DNA binding and transcriptional activity were not diminished, which was an unexpected finding. In contrast, tBHQ increased AP-1 transcriptional activity at 5µM and dose-dependently decreased NFkB activity. Collectively, these data suggest that the inhibition of IL-2 secretion by tBHQ is due to decreased NFkB transcriptional activity.

Nrf2 is an important player in modulating the immune response in several models of inflammation and has been shown to be a potential therapeutic target in the treatment of inflammatory diseases, such as sepsis and brain inflammation ^{11,16,25}. Additionally, our lab has shown that activation of Nrf2 skews CD4⁺ T cell differentiation in primary murine CD4⁺ T cells ¹⁹. Although the role of Nrf2 in the regulation of murine T cell function has been somewhat characterized, the role of Nrf2 in human T cells remains largely unexplored. Similar to our previous studies in murine T cells, the current study suggests Nrf2 also plays a role in the regulation of human T cell function.

The current study demonstrates that the Nrf2 activator tBHQ has an inhibitory effect on some of the early events of T cell activation, including calcium influx. In contrast to the current study, a previous study showed the Nrf2 activator, bis (tri-n-butyltin) oxide (TBTO), increased calcium influx in Jurkat cells ²⁶. There are many differences between the two studies, however, including the kinetics of calcium influx and the Nrf2 activators used. In addition to effects on T cell activation, treatment of Jurkat cells by tBHQ has also been shown to regulate chromatin remodeling in a mechanism that involves the tumor suppressor, phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) ²⁷.

Additives to food, such as tBHQ, are widely used today to increase shelf life and decrease spoilage ¹⁴. The presence of the preservative, tBHQ, can be seen in products ranging from vegetable oil to crackers and cereal. Previously, the primary concern in using tBHQ, and similar compounds was carcinogenesis and thus early toxicological analyses focused on genotoxicity. In contrast, there are few published studies on the potential immunotoxic effects of tBHQ. The current study shows decreased IL-2 protein production at concentrations of tBHQ as low as 0.1 μ M and a decrease in CD25 protein expression at concentrations as low as 0.5 μ M. A previous study reported that treatment of human male subjects with 100-150 mg of tBHQ produces plasma concentrations of tBHQ in the high micromolar range suggesting that the treatment range in the current study (0.1 to 5 μ M) is relevant to humans ¹⁵.

Within T cells, an increase in intracellular calcium is essential for full activation. Upon an increase in intracellular calcium, the transcription factor NFAT, translocates to the nucleus and binds to the promoters of its target genes, such as IL-2²². Jurkat T cells treated with tBHQ prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 demonstrated a decrease in number of cells positive for calcium influx, a delay in influx, and a decrease in the magnitude of calcium influx. The lack of effect of tBHQ on the binding and activity of the calcium-sensitive transcription factor, NFAT,
was unexpected and suggested that the decrease in calcium influx by tBHQ was not great enough to diminish NFAT activation. Alternatively, the decreased calcium influx by tBHQ may rebound at some later time point, ultimately allowing for full NFAT activation. These observations also suggested that the decrease in IL-2 production by tBHQ was not due to impaired NFAT activity.

Along with the influx of Ca²⁺ into the cell upon ligation of the TCR and coreceptor, one of the earliest events of T cell activation is the initiation and propagation of kinase cascades. These signal transduction cascades result in the activation of transcription factors that regulate IL-2 transcription, such as AP-1 (c-fos/c-jun) and NF κ B. The current study shows that treatment of cells with 5 μ M tBHQ causes a significant increase in AP-1 activity. It has been shown previously that Nrf2 can heterodimerize with AP-1 and increase the transcription of AP-1 target genes. In contrast, tBHQ caused a marked concentration-dependent decrease in NF κ B activity. Previously published data have shown that Nrf2 has the ability to inhibit the activity of NF κ B by inhibition of IKK, the kinase responsible for phosphorylation and activation of NF κ B ^{28,29}. Activation of NF κ B is necessary for IL-2 transcription, thus it seems likely that the decrease in IL-2 production by tBHQ in activated Jurkat T cells is due to the decrease in NF κ B, transcriptional activity.

Although well known for its cytoprotective functions and detoxification activity, the role of Nrf2 in the immune system remains unclear. Numerous studies indicate an anti-inflammatory role for Nrf2 in models of inflammatory disease, but the specific cellular and molecular mechanisms are not known. Our previous study demonstrated that activation of Nrf2 moulates murine CD4⁺ T cell differentiation and our current studies suggest suppression of several key events of early T

cell activation by tBHQ in human Jurkat T cells. Taken together, our studies in human and murine T cells suggest Nrf2 represents a novel mechanism for the regulation of T cell function and may provide insight into the mechanism of some disease states, such as SLE. These studies suggest that activation of Nrf2 by tBHQ may inhibit IL-2 production and CD25 expression, but further studies will be needed to clarify the role of Nrf2 more conclusively. In addition, further studies will be needed to determine the immunomodulatory effects of tBHQ in humans.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1 Chan, K., Lu, R., Chang, J. C. & Kan, Y. W. NRF2, a member of the NFE2 family of transcription factors, is not essential for murine erythropoiesis, growth, and development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **93**, 13943-13948 (1996).
- 2 Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. *et al.* Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 11908-11913, doi:10.1073/pnas.172398899 (2002).
- 3 McMahon, M., Itoh, K., Yamamoto, M. & Hayes, J. D. Keap1-dependent proteasomal degradation of transcription factor Nrf2 contributes to the negative regulation of antioxidant response element-driven gene expression. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **278**, 21592-21600, doi:10.1074/jbc.M300931200 (2003).
- 4 Itoh, K. *et al.* Keap1 represses nuclear activation of antioxidant responsive elements by Nrf2 through binding to the amino-terminal Neh2 domain. *Genes & development* **13**, 76-86 (1999).
- 5 Venugopal, R. & Jaiswal, A. K. Nrf1 and Nrf2 positively and c-Fos and Fra1 negatively regulate the human antioxidant response element-mediated expression of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase1 gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **93**, 14960-14965 (1996).
- 6 Itoh, K. *et al.* An Nrf2/small Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **236**, 313-322 (1997).
- 7 Kensler, T. W., Wakabayashi, N. & Biswal, S. Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway. *Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology* **47**, 89-116, doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.46.120604.141046 (2007).
- 8 Lee, J. M. *et al.* Nrf2, a multi-organ protector? *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* **19**, 1061-1066, doi:10.1096/fj.04-2591hyp (2005).
- Li, J., Stein, T. D. & Johnson, J. A. Genetic dissection of systemic autoimmune disease in Nrf2-deficient mice. *Physiological genomics* 18, 261-272, doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00209.2003 (2004).
- 10 Maher, J. M. *et al.* Oxidative and electrophilic stress induces multidrug resistanceassociated protein transporters via the nuclear factor-E2-related factor-2 transcriptional pathway. *Hepatology* **46**, 1597-1610, doi:10.1002/hep.21831 (2007).
- 11 Thimmulappa, R. K. *et al.* Nrf2-dependent protection from LPS induced inflammatory response and mortality by CDDO-Imidazolide. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **351**, 883-889, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.10.102 (2006).

- 12 Kim, H. J. & Nel, A. E. The role of phase II antioxidant enzymes in protecting memory T cells from spontaneous apoptosis in young and old mice. *Journal of immunology* **175**, 2948-2959 (2005).
- 13 Li, W. & Kong, A. N. Molecular mechanisms of Nrf2-mediated antioxidant response. *Molecular carcinogenesis* **48**, 91-104, doi:10.1002/mc.20465 (2009).
- 14 Shahidi, F. Antioxidants in food and food antioxidants. *Die Nahrung* **44**, 158-163, doi:10.1002/1521-3803(20000501)44:3<158::AID-FOOD158>3.0.CO;2-L (2000).
- 15 WHO. *Toxicological evaluation of some food colours, thickening agents, and certain other substances.* (World Health Organization, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 1975).
- 16 Innamorato, N. G. *et al.* The transcription factor Nrf2 is a therapeutic target against brain inflammation. *Journal of immunology* **181**, 680-689 (2008).
- 17 Rangasamy, T. *et al.* Disruption of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to severe airway inflammation and asthma in mice. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **202**, 47-59, doi:10.1084/jem.20050538 (2005).
- 18 Johnson, D. A., Amirahmadi, S., Ward, C., Fabry, Z. & Johnson, J. A. The absence of the pro-antioxidant transcription factor Nrf2 exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Toxicological sciences : an official journal of the Society of Toxicology* **114**, 237-246, doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfp274 (2010).
- 19 Rockwell, C. E., Zhang, M., Fields, P. E. & Klaassen, C. D. Th2 skewing by activation of Nrf2 in CD4(+) T cells. *Journal of immunology* **188**, 1630-1637, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101712 (2012).
- 20 Yoh, K. *et al.* Nrf2-deficient female mice develop lupus-like autoimmune nephritis. *Kidney international* **60**, 1343-1353, doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.00939.x (2001).
- 21 Ma, Q., Battelli, L. & Hubbs, A. F. Multiorgan autoimmune inflammation, enhanced lymphoproliferation, and impaired homeostasis of reactive oxygen species in mice lacking the antioxidant-activated transcription factor Nrf2. *The American journal of pathology* **168**, 1960-1974, doi:10.2353/ajpath.2006.051113 (2006).
- 22 Cantrell, D. T cell antigen receptor signal transduction pathways. *Annual review of immunology* **14**, 259-274, doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.259 (1996).
- Kim, H. P., Imbert, J. & Leonard, W. J. Both integrated and differential regulation of components of the IL-2/IL-2 receptor system. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews* **17**, 349-366, doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2006.07.003 (2006).
- 24 Murugaiyan, J. *et al.* Benzo[a]pyrene affects Jurkat T cells in the activated state via the antioxidant response element dependent Nrf2 pathway leading to decreased IL-2 secretion and redirecting glutamine metabolism. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology* **269**, 307-316, doi:10.1016/j.taap.2013.03.032 (2013).

- 25 Kataoka, K., Handa, H. & Nishizawa, M. Induction of cellular antioxidative stress genes through heterodimeric transcription factor Nrf2/small Maf by antirheumatic gold(I) compounds. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **276**, 34074-34081, doi:10.1074/jbc.M105383200 (2001).
- 26 Katika, M. R., Hendriksen, P. J., van Loveren, H. & Peijnenburg, A. Exposure of Jurkat cells to bis (tri-n-butyltin) oxide (TBTO) induces transcriptomics changes indicative for ER- and oxidative stress, T cell activation and apoptosis. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology* **254**, 311-322, doi:10.1016/j.taap.2011.04.021 (2011).
- 27 Sakamoto, K., Iwasaki, K., Sugiyama, H. & Tsuji, Y. Role of the tumor suppressor PTEN in antioxidant responsive element-mediated transcription and associated histone modifications. *Molecular biology of the cell* **20**, 1606-1617, doi:10.1091/mbc.E08-07-0762 (2009).
- 28 Thimmulappa, R. K. *et al.* Nrf2 is a critical regulator of the innate immune response and survival during experimental sepsis. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **116**, 984-995, doi:10.1172/JCI25790 (2006).
- 29 Kwon, K. H., Barve, A., Yu, S., Huang, M. T. & Kong, A. N. Cancer chemoprevention by phytochemicals: potential molecular targets, biomarkers and animal models. *Acta pharmacologica Sinica* **28**, 1409-1421, doi:10.1111/j.1745-7254.2007.00694.x (2007).

CHAPTER 3

Nrf2-dependent and –independent effects of tBHQ, CDDO-Im, and H₂O₂ in human Jurkat T cells as determined by CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing

Reprinted with permission of the American Society for Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics. All rights reserved.:

Zagorski, J. W., Maser, T. P., Liby, K. T. & Rockwell, C. E. Nrf2-Dependent and -Independent Effects of *tert* -Butylhydroquinone, CDDO-Im, and H₂O₂ in Human Jurkat T Cells as Determined by CRISPR/Cas9 Gene Editing. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **361**, 259–267 (2017).

Abstract

Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) is a stress activated transcription factor, activated by stimuli such as electrophilic compounds and other reactive xenobiotics. Previously, we have shown that the commonly-used food additive and Nrf2 activator, tert-butylhydroquinone (tBHQ), suppresses IL-2 production, CD25 expression, and NFkB activity in human Jurkat T cells. The purpose of the current studies was to determine whether these effects were dependent upon Nrf2 by developing a human Nrf2-null T cell model using CRISPR/Cas9 technology. The current studies show that suppression of CD25 expression by tBHQ is partially dependent on Nrf2, whereas inhibition of IL-2 secretion is largely Nrf2-independent. Interestingly, tBHQ inhibited NFkB activation in a Nrf2-independent manner. This was an unexpected finding since Nrf2 inhibits NFkB activation in other models. These results lead us to investigate another more potent Nrf2 activator, the synthetic triterpenoid CDDO-Imidazolide (CDDO-Im). Treatment of wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells with CDDO-Im resulted in a Nrf2-dependent suppression of IL-2. Furthermore, susceptibility to reactive oxygen species was significantly enhanced in the Nrf2-null clones as determined by decreased mitochondrial membrane potential and cell viability. Importantly, this study is the first to describe the generation of a human Nrf2-null model, which is likely to have multiple applications in immunology and cancer biology. Collectively, this study demonstrates a role for Nrf2 in the effects of CDDO-Im on CD25 and IL-2 expression, whereas the effect of tBHQ on these parameters is complex and likely involves modulation of multiple stress-activated transcription factors, including NFkB and Nrf2.

Introduction

As indicated previously in the first two chapters, Nrf2 is activated by cell stressors, such as electrophilic xenobiotics ¹⁻³. In the absence of stress, Nrf2 is quickly turned over, through interaction with Keap1, which is an E3 ubiquitin ligase adapter protein ^{4,5}. Activated Nrf2 accumulates in the nucleus, where it trans-activates well over 100 target genes, many of which are involved in the resolution of stress, including efflux pumps and glutathione metabolism. In the present study, and as was done previously, NQO1 mRNA levels and Nrf2 nuclear accumulation were used as markers of Nrf2 activation ^{3,7}.

Nrf2 is activated by numerous chemicals, including environmental contaminants, such as heavy metals; synthetic compounds, such as CDDO-Imidazolide (CDDO-Im); and food preservatives, such as *tert*-butylhydroquinone (tBHQ) and butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA). The present studies focused on tBHQ, as it activates Nrf2, is a widely used food preservative, and has robust immunomodulatory effects in T cells at low concentrations ^{8,9}. In the food industry, tBHQ is often added to oils (vegetable, soybean, etc.) to increase shelf life, but it has numerous applications and is found in a variety of foods ¹⁰. It has been previously shown that human consumption of 100-150mg bolus doses of tBHQ can result in serum concentrations in the high micromolar range. Thus, in addition to serving as a useful tool for activating Nrf2, tBHQ is also relevant to human exposure at the concentrations used in the present studies ^{8,9,11}.

The role of Nrf2 in antioxidant and metabolic responses to reactive toxicants is well described, but it is also has a strong anti-inflammatory role. For instance, Nrf2-null mice are more sensitive to insults in a host of inflammatory models, including traumatic brain injury, models of multiple sclerosis, and models of sepsis, among others ¹²⁻¹⁴. Nrf2 has also been implicated in the

development of autoimmunity, as female Nrf2-null mice develop a disease similar to systemic lupus erythematosus in humans ¹³⁻¹⁸. In humans, the role of Nrf2 is less clear, but our previous studies demonstrate that a known Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, inhibits several events of T cell activation in both primary human T cells as well as in human Jurkat T cells, which suggests Nrf2 may play a role in regulating human T cell activation ^{8,9}.

In chapter 1, the necessity of two signals for proper activation of T cells was discussed, with the first signal occurring through interaction of the T cell receptor complex with antigen loaded and presented by MHC molecules. The second signal occurs through interaction of costimulatory markers, such as CD28¹⁹. Experimentally, we activate T cells with antibodies targeting both CD3 and CD28 with antibodies, resulting in a signaling cascade and the activation of NFκB and other transcription factors, induction of the early cytokine IL-2, as well as the expression of early activation markers CD25 and CD69.

Use of clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) in conjunction with the endonuclease CRISPR associated protein 9 (Cas9), isolated from *Streptococcus pyogenes*, to mediate targeted gene disruption, has greatly increased over the last several years due to the high efficiency of CRISPR/Cas9 over other methods of gene editing. This technology relies on Watson-Crick base pairing and complementarity of a guide RNA to a specific site within the genome to target the endonuclease Cas9 to the gene of interest and facilitate a double strand DNA break. The cell then initiates non-homologous end joining, which can be error prone. Subsequent insertions or deletions (INDEL) at the site of DNA repair can result in a frame shift mutation, early stop codon, and/or a gene knock out ²⁰⁻²³.

The characterization of the physiological and pathophysiological effects of Nrf2 activators on human cells is vital given the ubiquitous nature of such chemicals in the human environment. However, these studies are hampered by lack of adequate tools for mechanistic research, including availability of Nrf2-null human cells. The purpose of the present studies was to address this problem by generating Nrf2-null Jurkat T cell clones as well as to use these clones to determine the role of Nrf2 on T cell function when activated with tBHQ, CDDO-Im and H₂O₂.

Materials and Methods

<u>Materials</u>:

Unless specified, reagents, including tBHQ, were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO).

<u>Plasmids</u>

The NFκB luciferase reporter was purchased from Promega (Madison, WI). The CRISPR-Cas9 plasmid (PX458) was purchased from Addgene (Cambridge, MA).

Cell culture:

Human Jurkat E6-1 cells were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). Cells were then cultured in RPMI 1640 media, with the addition of 10% FBS, 25 mM HEPES, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 1x nonessential amino acids, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 U/mL streptomycin. FBS was purchased from BioWest (Riverside, MO). The protocols for tBHQ treatment of Jurkat T cells are described in the corresponding figure legends.

Generation of CRISPR-Cas9 plasmids:

A CRISPR-Cas9 plasmid (PX458) lacking a gRNA sequence was purchased from Addgene (Cambridge, MA). gRNA sequences targeting different locations within *Nfe2l2* (the Nrf2 gene) were chosen from http://arep.med.harvard.edu/human_crispr/, and Nrf2 specificity was verified using http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi. Oligos for the identified gRNA sequences were generated by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA), and restriction digest cloning was performed as described by the Zhang lab ²⁴. After CRISPR-Cas9-transformed bacterial clones were identified, the plasmids were isolated by QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Plasmids were sent to Genewiz (South Plainfield, NJ), using the following primer sequence: 5'-GGGCCTATTTCCCATGATTC-3', to ensure proper cloning of the gRNA sequence into the PX458 vector.

Transient transfection of CRISPR-Cas9 plasmids:

Human Jurkat T cells were reverse transfected with 1.5 µg of plasmid and 3 µl of Lipofectamine 2000 (Life Technologies) per 5x10⁵ cells for 12h in complete media. After 12h the cells were washed and resuspended at a concentration of 5x10⁵ cells/mL, in complete media. After resuspension, the cells were seeded in a 48-well plate at a volume of 1 mL per well. The cells were then incubated at 37° C for 36 h. After incubation, the cells were sorted by GFP expression and a single GFP-positive cell was deposited per well of a 96-well tissue culture plate, using a BD Influx flow cytometer (San Jose, CA) and allowed to clonally expand.

Identification of Nrf2 mutants by Sanger sequencing:

Genomic DNA was extracted from Jurkat clones, using DNeasy Blood and Tissue kit from Qiagen (Valencia, CA). The region of Nrf2 containing the targeted cut site was then amplified using the high fidelity Herculase II fusion DNA polymerase kit by Agilent Genomics (Santa Clara, CA). The primers used are as follows: exon 2 of Nrf2 forward primer: 5'-GAGGCTGAGGTTGGAAAGTAG-3' reverse primer: 5'-CAGCGACGGAAAGAGTATGAG-3' exon 5 of Nrf2 forward primer 5'-TCTACAGGGAATGGGATATGGA-3' reverse primer 5'-CTACTTGGCCTCAGTGATTCTG -3. DNA extracts from individual clones were then sent to Genewiz (South Plainfield, NJ) for Sanger sequencing, using the forward primer from the PCR reaction for sequencing.

mRNA quantification by real-time PCR:

Total RNA was isolated from 2 x 10⁶ wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells using TRIzol Reagent, per the manufacturer's protocol (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). After isolation, reverse transcription was performed prior to Sybr green real-time PCR analysis. Relative mRNA expression was calculated by DDCt, normalized to the housekeeping gene, ribosomal protein RPL13a, which has previously been shown to be a stable housekeeping gene in T cell analysis ²⁵, using Ct values quantified by Life Technologies/Applied Biosystems Sequence Detection System 7500 (Grand Island, NY). All primer sequences were retrieved from Primer Depot (http://primerdepot.nci.nih.gov/) and synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). The primer sequences are as follows: RPL13A forward primer, 5'GTTGATGCCTTCACAGCGTA-3' and RPL13A reverse primer, 5'-AGATGGCGGAGGTGCAG-3'; NQO1 forward primer, 5'-TCCTTTCTTCAAAGCCG-3' and NQO1 reverse primer, 5'-GGACTGCACCAGAGCCAT-3'.

IL-2 quantification by ELISA:

Wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells were cultured in 96-well plates (1 x 10⁵ cells/well), treated as described and cell supernatants were harvested 24 h after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. IL-2 was quantified from cell supernatants by the use of a commercially available ELISA kit (BioLegend, San Diego, CA), per the manufacturer's protocol. The relative light intensity was quantified at 450 nm using a Tecan m1000 Pro microplate reader (Männedorf, Switzerland).

Measurement of extracellular markers by flow cytometry:

Wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells were labeled with anti-CD69/PECy7 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA) and anti-CD25/APC (eBioscience, San Diego, CA). After labeling, cells were washed and resuspended in FACS buffer. After resuspension, cells were analyzed by flow cytometry using the BD Accuri C6 (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA). Fluorescence was quantified using CFlow software (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA)

Quantification of mitochondrial membrane potential and viability by flow cytometry:

2x10⁵ cells were stained with MitoProbe DilC1(5) per manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen, Eugene, OR). Immediately prior to analysis by flow cytometry, 5µl of propidium iodide (Biolegend, San Diego, CA) was added to each sample. All samples were analyzed by flow cytometry using the BD Accuri C6 (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA). Fluorescence was quantified using CFlow software (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA)

Nuclear protein isolation:

Wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells (1x10⁷ cells) were collected 3 h after activation by anti-CD3/anti-CD28. Cells were lysed using a solution containing 10mM HEPES, 100mM KCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EGTA, 0.5mM DTT, 0.5% NP-40 substitute, and 1x Halt protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). After lysis, lysates were spun down and resuspended in nuclear extraction buffer containing 10mM HEPES, 420mM NaCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.1mM EGTA, 0.5mM DTT, 5% glycerol, and 1x Halt protease inhibitor cocktail. Samples were kept in nuclear extraction buffer for 1 h, vortexing intermittently. After incubation, samples were spun down and supernatants containing the nuclear fraction of the protein extract were collected. Nuclear protein was quantified via Bradford assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA).

Western Analysis:

After quantification, nuclear protein was diluted in Laemmli Sample Buffer (Bio-Rad) supplemented with 2-mercaptoethanol so that each well contained 10µg of nuclear protein. Samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. Membranes were blocked with 5% NFDM (non-fat dehydrated milk) in PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20 (PBST). Histone H3 (7074S) and Nrf2 (H-300) primary antibodies were diluted 1:1000 in PBST containing 5% NFDM. The H3 primary antibody was purchased from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). The Nrf2 primary antibody was obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). The secondary antibody was HRP-linked and was diluted 1:2000 in 0.05% PBST containing 2% NFDM. The anti-rabbit IgG secondary was obtained from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). All blots were developed via Pierce ECL Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL) per the manufacturer's protocol. The bands were visualized by the LI-COR Odyssey FC infrared imaging system (Lincoln, NE).

Transient transfection and luciferase assay

Wild-type and Nrf2-null human Jurkat T cells were reverse transfected with 1.5 µg of plasmid and 3 µl of Lipofectamine 2000 (Life Technologies) per 5x10⁵ cells for 12h in complete media. After 12h, the cells were washed and resuspended at a concentration of 5x10⁵ cells/mL in complete media. After resuspension, the cells were seeded in a 96-well plate at a volume of 200µl per well. The cells were then treated as described in the figure legends and incubated for 12h. After incubation, the luciferase activity was measured via a commercially-available luciferase assay system kit, using the manufacturer's protocol (Promega, Madison, WI). Luciferase luminescence was quantified by the Tecan Infinite M1000 Pro Microplate Reader (Tecan, San Jose, CA).

Statistical analysis:

The mean ± standard error was determined for each treatment group in the individual experiments. Data were determined to be homogenous upon passing both the Shapiro-Wilk normality test and equal variance test. Homogeneous data were subsequently evaluated by two-way parametric analysis of variance (in which genotype was one factor and cell treatment was a second factor). When significant differences were observed, the Holm-Sidak post-hoc test was used to compare treatment groups to the vehicle (VEH) control using SigmaPlot 12.3 software (Systat Software, Inc., Chicago, IL).

<u>Results</u>

CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing causes INDEL formation in Nrf2

Previously, we have shown that the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, causes a significant suppression in the secretion of IL-2, cell surface expression of CD25, and transactivation activity of NF B, in human Jurkat T cells ⁸. The purpose of the present studies was to determine if these effects are dependent upon Nrf2. Toward that end, CRISPR-Cas9 mediated gene editing was implemented. Guide RNA sequences were selected from a database listing the optimal guide RNA sequences for 40% of the human exome ²². The selected sequences were cloned into empty Cas9 vectors coexpressing GFP, as described previously ²⁴. Sanger sequencing of the resulting Jurkat clones revealed that both guide RNAs were successful in generating INDELs at the Cas9 cut site (Fig. 9). Four clones with frame-shift mutations from each guide RNA were then selected to begin screening for Nrf2 disruption.



Figure 11: CRISPR-Cas9 induced INDEL formation in Jurkat T cells. Wild-type Jurkat E6-1 cells were transiently transfected with one of two CRISPR-Cas9 plasmids coexpressing GFP, targeting different sites within the genome. The two plasmids (panels A and B) contained different guide RNA sequences and targeted different exons on the plus and minus strands of Nrf2, respectively. After sorting positive transfectants, cells were clonally expanded and analyzed by Sanger sequencing. INDEL mutations are listed in red font.

CRISPR/Cas9-mediated gene editing results in Nrf2 deficiency

Jurkat clones identified as having frameshift mutations were then screened for Nrf2 activity, as ascertained by Nrf2 translocation and induction of Nrf2 target genes when treated with tBHQ. Wild-type Jurkat T cells displayed robust nuclear accumulation 3 h after treatment with 10µM tBHQ. In contrast, none of the CRISPR-Cas9 clones showed nuclear accumulation under the same conditions (Fig. 10a). Furthermore, tBHQ potently induced expression of the Nrf2 target gene Nqo1 in wild-type, but not pooled Nrf2-null clones (Fig. 10b). Likewise, basal expression of Nqo1 was decreased in the Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells as compared to wild-type cells.



Figure 12: tBHQ increases Nrf2 nuclear accumulation and target gene expression in wild-type cells, but not Nrf2-null clones. (A) Wild-type Jurkat T cells or Nrf2-null Jurkat clones were treated with 10 μ M tBHQ for 3 h. Nuclear protein was then isolated and expression of Nrf2 and the housekeeper histone H3 was probed by western analysis. (B) Wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG) or pretreated with vehicle (VEH) control (0.001% ethanol) or tBHQ (0.1 – 1 \Box M) prior to activation by anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 6 h post activation, cells were harvested and total RNA was collected. Quantification of NQO1 was performed by SYBR Green real-time PCR. The data (n=3) are presented as mean ± SE. a = p<0.05 versus wild-type VEH, b = p<0.05 versus Nrf2-null VEH, c = p<0.05 between the wild-type and Nrf2-null genotypes.

The effect of tBHQ on IL-2 is largely independent of Nrf2

We have previously shown that the secretion of IL-2 by activated Jurkat T cells is suppressed by the Nrf2 activator tBHQ ⁸. To test whether this effect was dependent upon Nrf2, we pretreated wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells with tBHQ (0.1-1µM) 30 min prior to T cell stimulation. IL-2 secretion was evaluated 24 h later. Our data show that suppression of IL-2 by tBHQ is largely independent of Nrf2, as tBHQ inhibits IL-2 production in both genotypes, although the Nrf2-null Jurkat cells were slightly less sensitive (Fig. 11). In the present study, only non-cytotoxic concentrations of tBHQ were used. In order to determine whether the effect of tBHQ on T cells is similar at physiological oxygen concentrations, we treated Jurkat cells with tBHQ and cultured the cells at 5% oxygen to better mimic physiological oxygen concentrations in blood. However, the effect of tBHQ on IL-2 production was similar at 5% oxygen concentration (data not shown).



Figure 13: Suppression of IL-2 production by tBHQ is largely independent of Nrf2. Human Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG), pretreated with vehicle (VEH) control (0.001% ethanol), or tBHQ (0.1-1 μ M) for 30 min prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. After 24 h, the supernatants were collected and IL-2 was detected and quantified via ELISA. The data (n=3)

Figure 13: (cont'd) are presented as mean \pm SE. a = p<0.05 versus wild-type VEH, b = p<0.05 versus Nrf2-null VEH, c = p<0.05 between the wild-type and Nrf2-null genotypes, ND = not detectable.

Suppression of CD25 by tBHQ is partially Nrf2-dependent

In addition to the suppression of IL-2, we have previously shown that tBHQ suppresses the cell surface expression of CD25, the high affinity chain of the IL-2 receptor ⁸. To determine the role of Nrf2 in the suppression of CD25 by tBHQ, wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells were pretreated with tBHQ prior to T cell stimulation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 24h post stimulation, the expression of CD25 and CD69 was quantified by flow cytometry. CD25 and CD69 are cell surface molecules that are rapidly upregulated after T cell activation and thus serve as early markers of T cell activation. The data indicate that the inhibition of CD25 expression by tBHQ is partially dependent on the expression of Nrf2, as Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells are more sensitive than wild-type cells to tBHQ treatment. Additionally, tBHQ had little effect on CD69 expression, which is consistent with previous studies (Fig. 12).





Figure 14: Treatment of Jurkat T cells with tBHQ suppresses CD25 in a partly Nrf2-dependent manner. Human Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG), pretreated with vehicle (VEH) control (0.001% ethanol), or tBHQ (0.1-1 μ M) for 30 min prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. After 24 h, the percentage of cells expressing (A) CD25 and (B) CD69 was quantified by flow cytometry. The data (n=3) are presented as mean ± SE. a = p<0.05 versus wild-type VEH, b = p<0.05 versus Nrf2-null VEH, c = p<0.05 between the wild-type and Nrf2-null genotypes.

A.)

NFkB luciferase activity is inhibited by tBHQ in a Nrf2-independent manner

Previous studies have established there is cross-talk between the Nrf2 and NFκB signaling pathways, where activation of Nrf2 inhibits the phosphorylation of inhibitor of kappa B kinase, resulting in a loss of NFκB activity ^{14,26}. We have previously shown that tBHQ suppresses NFκB transcriptional activity in Jurkat T cells ⁸. To assess the role of Nrf2 in tBHQ-induced suppression of NFκB, we transiently transfected a NFκB luciferase reporter into wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells 12 h prior to treatment with tBHQ and T cell activation. Genotypes were normalized to their own vehicle control to control for potential differences in transfection efficiency. These data demonstrate that the inhibition of NFκB activity by tBHQ occurs independently of Nrf2, as both genotypes display similar inhibition of NFκB (Fig. 13).



Figure 15: NF κ B transcriptional activity is decreased by tBHQ treatment independently of Nrf2. Human Jurkat T cells were transfected with luciferase reporter plasmids driven by NF κ B 12 h prior to tBHQ treatment and activation. Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG), pretreated with vehicle (VEH) control (0.001% ethanol), or tBHQ (0.1-1 μ M) for 30 min prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 12 h post stimulation, luciferase activity was measured by luminescence, using a Tecan microplate reader. The data (n=3) are presented as mean ± SE. a = p<0.05

Figure 15: (cont'd) versus wild-type VEH, b = p<0.05 versus Nrf2-null VEH, c = p<0.05 between the wild-type and Nrf2-null genotypes.

CDDO-Im inhibits IL-2 secretion in a Nrf2-dependent manner

The current data show that the inhibition of IL-2 secretion and NFkB activity by tBHQ is largely independent of the transcription factor Nrf2. To further investigate the role of Nrf2 in the early events following T cell activation, we investigated the effects of another, more potent, Nrf2 activator, CDDO-Im ²⁷. Wild-type and Nrf2-null T cells were treated with CDDO-Im (0.001-0.01µM) for 30 min prior to stimulation of T cells with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. After 24h, analysis of cell supernatants demonstrated a Nrf2-dependent suppression of IL-2 secretion in wild-type Jurkat T cells (Fig. 14). Interestingly, treatment of Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells resulted in a Nrf2-independent increase in IL-2 secretion (Fig 14). In the present study, only non-cytotoxic concentrations of CDDO-Im were used. Overall, these data demonstrate that the inhibition of IL-2 secretion by CDDO-Im in activated Jurkat T cells occurs through Nrf2.



Figure 16: Suppression of IL-2 production by CDDO-Im is Nrf2-dependent. Human Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG), pretreated with vehicle (VEH) control (0.001% DMSO), or CDDO-Im (0.001-0.01 μ M) for 30 min prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. After 24 h, the

Figure 16: (cont'd). supernatants were collected and IL-2 was detected and quantified via ELISA. The data (n=3) are presented as mean \pm SE. a = p<0.05 versus wild-type VEH, b = p<0.05 versus Nrf2-null VEH, c = p<0.05 between the wild-type and Nrf2-null genotypes, ND = not detectable.

Suppression of CD25 by CDDO-Im is partially Nrf2-dependent

To further characterize CDDO-Im in activated Jurkat T cells, we quantified expression of CD25 and CD69. Wild-type and Nrf2-null T cells were treated with CDDO-Im (0.001-0.01µM) for 30 min prior to T cell stimulation. After a 24h incubation, the expression of CD25 and CD69 was quantified by flow cytometry. Similar to tBHQ (Fig 12a), CDDO-Im suppressed CD25 expression in a partially Nrf2-dependent manner (Fig. 15a), but had little effect on CD69 expression (Fig. 15b). Taken together, these results demonstrate that CDDO-Im has both Nrf2-dependent and -independent effects upon early events following activation of Jurkat T cells.



Figure 17: Treatment of Jurkat T cells with CDDO-Im suppresses CD25 in a partly Nrf2dependent manner. Human Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG), pretreated with vehicle (VEH) control (0.001% DMSO), or CDDO-Im (0.001-0.01 μ M) for 30 min prior to activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. After 24 h, the percentage of cells expressing (A) CD25 and (B) CD69 was quantified by flow cytometry. The data (n=3) are presented as mean ± SE. a = p<0.05 versus wild-type VEH, b = p<0.05 versus Nrf2-null VEH, c = p<0.05 between the wild-type and Nrf2-null genotypes.

Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells are more sensitive to H_2O_2

Reactive oxygen species play an important role in the immune response, both as cytotoxic agents against pathogens as well as signaling molecules. Accordingly, such reactive moieties contribute to and are frequently present during the course of an immune response and thus represent potential endogenous activators of Nrf2 in immune cells. Although important contributors to host defense, reactive oxygen species produced by classically-activated macrophages and other leukocytes can also damage immune cells in the vicinity of the pathogens. To determine the role of Nrf2 in providing protection against oxidative insult, Jurkat T cells were treated with cytotoxic levels of hydrogen peroxide $(10 - 1000 \square M)$. Mitochondrial membrane potential was assessed with the cell permeant dye, DilC, which accumulates in mitochondria with normal membrane potential. A reduction in DilC fluorescence indicates a disruption of mitochondrial membrane potential and mitochondrial stress. Hydrogen peroxide caused a significant decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential in Jurkat T cells that was more pronounced in the Nrf2-null clones (Fig. 8a). The mitochondrial stress correlated with a decrease in cell viability as assessed by propidium iodide exclusion. The loss of cell viability by hydrogen peroxide was significantly greater in the Nrf2-null clones (Fig. 8b). These data demonstrate that Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells are more sensitive to oxidative stress induced by hydrogen peroxide than wild-type cells, which suggests that Nrf2 may provide protection against endogenous reactive oxygen species produced during the course of an immune response.



Figure 18: Nrf2-null Jurkat clones are more sensitive to exposure to hydrogen peroxide. Human Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG), treated with vehicle (VEH) control (0.01% water in RPMI), or H_2O_2 (1-1000µM) for 16 h prior to flow cytometry analysis for (A) mitochondrial membrane potential as measured using the cell permeable dye DilC1(5) and (B) cell viability as quantified by propidium iodide exclusion. The data (n=3) are presented as mean \pm SE. a = p<0.05 versus wild-type VEH, b = p<0.05 versus Nrf2-null VEH, c = p<0.05 between the wild-type and Nrf2-null genotypes.

Discussion

Nrf2 has emerged as a critical signaling pathway in detoxification, cell survival, and immune regulation ^{3,28}. There is also a growing body of evidence to suggest Nrf2 may play an important role in the promotion of tumorigenesis in some models ²⁹. Accordingly, investigation into the multiple and complex roles of Nrf2 has become a very active area of research. We have developed the first human Nrf2-null model using CRISPR/Cas9 technology. As such, we believe this model will be a useful tool for a variety of different studies. In addition, the model may help to distinguish between therapeutically beneficial and adverse effects of Nrf2 activation in human immune response and in human cancer, which has been difficult to parse apart thus far.

In the literature, the role of Nrf2 in human T cell function has been unclear. We have previously shown in both cell lines and primary human T cells that the Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, suppresses cytokine production, expression of surface markers of activation, and activity of NF B^{8,9}. Other groups have utilized other Nrf2 activators, including Benzo[a]pyrene and arsenic compounds, to both implicate and absolve Nrf2 in immune modulation ³⁰⁻³³. In addition, the Jurkat cell line has been used to observe the role of Nrf2 in cellular function apart from T cell activation, including measurement of glutathione induction by Nrf2, as well as antioxidant response ^{34,35}. As pharmacological tools specifically modulating Nrf2 are not readily available, the field as a whole has been reliant upon techniques such as siRNA and shRNA, which result in less than total knockout and thus make the data difficult to interpret. Ultimately, these technical problems have left the question of Nrf2-specific effects in human T cells largely unanswered.

For the current studies, we used this model to address a long-standing question in our laboratory, and the Nrf2 community, concerning the role of Nrf2 in the early events following T cell activation. Our results suggest that the activation of Nrf2 by tBHQ in this setting is complex; while inhibition of IL-2 production by tBHQ appears to be largely Nrf2-independent, the suppression of CD25 expression by tBHQ appears to be partially Nrf2-dependent. The decrease in NFkB activity by tBHQ appears to be Nrf2-independent. With respect to cell stress caused by a Nrf2 activator that is endogenously produced, hydrogen peroxide, we found that absence of Nrf2 increased the susceptibility of Jurkat T cells to mitochondrial stress and loss of viability.

Although the effects of tBHQ upon the early events of human T cell activation were determined to be independent of Nrf2, the overarching goal of these studies was to determine the role of Nrf2 in human T cell activation. Toward this end, we utilized the synthetic triterpenoid, CDDO-Im, which is widely used as a potent Nrf2 activator. Treatment of wild-type and Nrf2-null human Jurkat T cells with CDDO-Im resulted in a Nrf2-dependent suppression of IL-2 secretion. Importantly, this is the first time to our knowledge, in which activation of Nrf2 has been shown to modulate a human immune response, which is consistent with a role for Nrf2 as an important regulator of human immune function. The concentrations of CDDO-Im used in the present studies were markedly lower than those of tBHQ because CDDO-Im is a more potent activator of Nrf2 ^{27,36}. Furthermore, higher concentrations of CDDO-Im were cytotoxic to both wild-type and Nrf2- null cells (data not shown).

One of the unexpected findings of the current studies was that the inhibition of NFκB activation by tBHQ seems to be independent of Nrf2. This was surprising since tBHQ is a strong Nrf2

activator and activation of Nrf2 has been previously shown to inhibit NF κ B activation in immune cells ¹⁴. The regulation of NF κ B is quite complex. Classical activation of NF κ B involves a series of phosphorylation events that culminates in the phosphorylation of inhibitor of \Box B \Box (\Box B \Box), which is subsequently degraded by the proteasome and thus liberates the p65/p50 homodimer, resulting in activation ³⁷. However, in addition to this component of NF κ B activation, it is also well established that reactive oxygen intermediates also play an essential role. Accordingly, a number of structurally disparate antioxidants have been shown to inhibit NF κ B activation in immune cells, including butylated hydroxyanisole, an antioxidant that is structurally similar to tBHQ ³⁸. Thus, it seems plausible that the inhibition of NF κ B transactivation activity by tBHQ may instead be due to direct antioxidant effects.

Recent evidence has led some researchers to suggest that Nrf2 may be a proto-oncogene because it functions endogenously to resolve cell stress to xenobiotics and reactive oxygen species, but the system appears to be hijacked in certain types of cancer ³⁹. One of the hallmarks of cancer is immune cell evasion, and this occurs by several mechanisms, such as the upregulation of the T cell inhibitory marker PD-L1. Notably, we have shown previously that tBHQ inhibits Th1 differentiation in a Nrf2-dependent manner ⁴⁰. This potentially adds another mechanism by which Nrf2 may promote the survival of tumor cells, as the Th1 response is known to be crucial for tumor cell surveillance. Our current model is unique in that it has applicability beyond immune endpoints. The Jurkat E6-1 cell line is a T cell leukemia. Until recently, determining the role of Nrf2 in human cancer biology has been difficult in that it has relied upon either overexpression or knock down of Nrf2 mRNA, both of which may result in the generation of artifacts ⁴¹. The implementation of CRISPR-Cas9 methodology has, for the first time, provided a model in which the role of Nrf2 can be studied, without the addition of such confounding factors. Furthermore, our data demonstrate that in the absence of Nrf2, Jurkat T

cells are significantly more sensitive to oxidative stress induced by hydrogen peroxide, further supporting the hypothesis that Nrf2 promotes tumor cell survival.

Overall, this study is novel because, to our knowledge, it is the first to generate a human Nrf2null model using a genome editing approach, which is a significant improvement over RNA interference previously utilized by our lab and others. In most model systems and particularly in immune cells, targeting Nrf2 using shRNA or siRNA has fallen far short of full gene knockout. Our data demonstrate that targeting Nrf2 by CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing essentially abrogated Nrf2 expression and function. Using this model, we determined that the inhibition of IL-2 and its receptor, CD25, by the widely used food additive tBHQ is complex, with Nrf2dependent and Nrf2–independent components. The data also suggest a role for NFkB in this process, which likely occurs through direct antioxidant effects of tBHQ. Furthermore, utilization of a second, more potent, Nrf2 activator, CDDO-Im, resulted in a Nrf2-dependent suppression of IL-2 secretion, as well as a partially Nrf2-dependent suppression of the early activation marker, CD25. Collectively, these studies demonstrate that low concentrations of tBHQ that are relevant to human exposure modulate multiple stress-activated transcription factors, which ultimately impairs early T cell response following activation. Furthermore, these studies also showed that Nrf2 activation by CDDO-Im suppresses IL-2 secretion after T cell stimulation, demonstrating that Nrf2 is a regulator of early events following activation of human Jurkat T cells.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1 Chan, K., Lu, R., Chang, J. C. & Kan, Y. W. NRF2, a member of the NFE2 family of transcription factors, is not essential for murine erythropoiesis, growth, and development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **93**, 13943-13948 (1996).
- 2 Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. *et al.* Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **99**, 11908-11913, doi:10.1073/pnas.172398899 (2002).
- 3 Kensler, T. W., Wakabayashi, N. & Biswal, S. Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway. *Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology* **47**, 89-116, doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.46.120604.141046 (2007).
- 4 Itoh, K. *et al.* Keap1 represses nuclear activation of antioxidant responsive elements by Nrf2 through binding to the amino-terminal Neh2 domain. *Genes & development* **13**, 76-86 (1999).
- 5 McMahon, M., Itoh, K., Yamamoto, M. & Hayes, J. D. Keap1-dependent proteasomal degradation of transcription factor Nrf2 contributes to the negative regulation of antioxidant response element-driven gene expression. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **278**, 21592-21600, doi:10.1074/jbc.M300931200 (2003).
- 6 Venugopal, R. & Jaiswal, A. K. Nrf1 and Nrf2 positively and c-Fos and Fra1 negatively regulate the human antioxidant response element-mediated expression of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase1 gene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **93**, 14960-14965 (1996).
- 7 Itoh, K. *et al.* An Nrf2/small Maf heterodimer mediates the induction of phase II detoxifying enzyme genes through antioxidant response elements. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **236**, 313-322 (1997).
- 8 Zagorski, J. W. *et al.* The Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, differentially affects early events following stimulation of Jurkat cells. *Toxicological sciences : an official journal of the Society of Toxicology* **136**, 63-71, doi:10.1093/toxsci/kft172 (2013).
- 9 Turley, A. E., Zagorski, J. W. & Rockwell, C. E. The Nrf2 activator tBHQ inhibits T cell activation of primary human CD4 T cells. *Cytokine* **71**, 289-295, doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2014.11.006 (2015).
- 10 Shahidi, F. Antioxidants in food and food antioxidants. *Die Nahrung* **44**, 158-163, doi:10.1002/1521-3803(20000501)44:3<158::AID-FOOD158>3.0.CO;2-L (2000).
- 11 WHO. Toxicological evaluation of some food colours, thickening agents, and certain other substances: Tertiary butyl hydroquinone. (World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 1975).

- 12 Saykally, J. N. *et al.* The nuclear factor erythroid 2-like 2 activator, tertbutylhydroquinone, improves cognitive performance in mice after mild traumatic brain injury. *Neuroscience* **223**, 305-314, doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.07.070 (2012).
- 13 Johnson, D. A., Amirahmadi, S., Ward, C., Fabry, Z. & Johnson, J. A. The absence of the pro-antioxidant transcription factor Nrf2 exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Toxicological sciences : an official journal of the Society of Toxicology* **114**, 237-246, doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfp274 (2010).
- 14 Thimmulappa, R. K. *et al.* Nrf2 is a critical regulator of the innate immune response and survival during experimental sepsis. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **116**, 984-995, doi:10.1172/JCI25790 (2006).
- 15 Rangasamy, T. *et al.* Disruption of Nrf2 enhances susceptibility to severe airway inflammation and asthma in mice. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **202**, 47-59, doi:10.1084/jem.20050538 (2005).
- 16 Li, J., Stein, T. D. & Johnson, J. A. Genetic dissection of systemic autoimmune disease in Nrf2-deficient mice. *Physiological genomics* **18**, 261-272, doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00209.2003 (2004).
- 17 Yoh, K. *et al.* Nrf2-deficient female mice develop lupus-like autoimmune nephritis. *Kidney international* **60**, 1343-1353, doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.00939.x (2001).
- 18 Ma, Q., Battelli, L. & Hubbs, A. F. Multiorgan autoimmune inflammation, enhanced lymphoproliferation, and impaired homeostasis of reactive oxygen species in mice lacking the antioxidant-activated transcription factor Nrf2. *The American journal of pathology* **168**, 1960-1974, doi:10.2353/ajpath.2006.051113 (2006).
- 19 Cantrell, D. A. T cell antigen receptor signal transduction pathways. *Cancer surveys* **27**, 165-175 (1996).
- 20 Wang, H. *et al.* One-step generation of mice carrying mutations in multiple genes by CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome engineering. *Cell* **153**, 910-918, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.04.025 (2013).
- 21 Cong, L. *et al.* Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. *Science* **339**, 819-823, doi:10.1126/science.1231143 (2013).
- 22 Mali, P. *et al.* RNA-guided human genome engineering via Cas9. *Science* **339**, 823-826, doi:10.1126/science.1232033 (2013).
- 23 Mali, P., Esvelt, K. M. & Church, G. M. Cas9 as a versatile tool for engineering biology. *Nature methods* **10**, 957-963, doi:10.1038/nmeth.2649 (2013).
- Ran, F. A. *et al.* Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. *Nature protocols* 8, 2281-2308, doi:10.1038/nprot.2013.143 (2013).
- 25 Mane, V. P., Heuer, M. A., Hillyer, P., Navarro, M. B. & Rabin, R. L. Systematic method for determining an ideal housekeeping gene for real-time PCR analysis. *J Biomol Tech* **19**, 342-347 (2008).
- Liby, K. *et al.* Prevention and treatment of experimental estrogen receptor-negative mammary carcinogenesis by the synthetic triterpenoid CDDO-methyl ester and the rexinoid LG100268. *Clin Cancer Res* **14**, 4556-4563 (2008).
- 27 Liby, K. T. & Sporn, M. B. Synthetic Oleanane Triterpenoids: Multifunctional Drugs with a Broad Range of Applications for Prevention and Treatment of Chronic Disease. *Pharmacol Rev* 64, 972-1003 (2012).
- 28 Ma, Q. Role of Nrf2 in Oxidative Stress and Toxicity. *Annu Rev Pharmacol* **53**, 401-+ (2013).
- 29 De Nicola, G. M. *et al.* Oncogene-induced Nrf2 transcription promotes ROS detoxification and tumorigenesis. *Nature* **475**, 106-U128 (2011).
- 30 Murugaiyan, J. *et al.* Benzo[a]pyrene affects Jurkat T cells in the activated state via the antioxidant response element dependent Nrf2 pathway leading to decreased IL-2 secretion and redirecting glutamine metabolism. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology* **269**, 307-316, doi:10.1016/j.taap.2013.03.032 (2013).
- 31 Katika, M. R., Hendriksen, P. J., van Loveren, H. & Peijnenburg, A. Exposure of Jurkat cells to bis (tri-n-butyltin) oxide (TBTO) induces transcriptomics changes indicative for ER- and oxidative stress, T cell activation and apoptosis. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology* **254**, 311-322, doi:10.1016/j.taap.2011.04.021 (2011).
- 32 Kaufmann, K. B. *et al.* The anti-inflammatory effects of E-alpha-(p-methoxypheny1)-2 ',3,4,4 '-tetramethoxychalcone are mediated via HO-1 induction. *Int Immunopharmacol* **35**, 99-110, doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2016.03.018 (2016).
- 33 Morzadec, C. *et al.* Nrf2 expression and activity in human T lymphocytes: stimulation by T cell receptor activation and priming by inorganic arsenic and tert-butylhydroquinone. *Free Radical Bio Med* **71**, 133-145, doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.03.006 (2014).
- 34 Kataoka, K., Handa, H. & Nishizawa, M. Induction of cellular antioxidative stress genes through heterodimeric transcription factor Nrf2/small Maf by antirheumatic gold(I) compounds. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **276**, 34074-34081, doi:10.1074/jbc.M105383200 (2001).
- 35 Ogasawara, Y. *et al.* Significance of the rapid increase in GSH levels in the protective response to cadmium exposure through phosphorylated Nrf2 signaling in Jurkat T-cells. *Free Radical Bio Med* **69**, 58-66, doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.01.005 (2014).
- 36 Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. *et al.* Extremely potent triterpenoid inducers of the phase 2 response: Correlations of protection against oxidant and inflammatory stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **102**, 4584-4589 (2005).
- 37 Flohe, L., Brigelius-Flohe, R., Saliou, C., Traber, M. G. & Packer, L. Redox regulation of NF-kappa B activation. *Free radical biology & medicine* **22**, 1115-1126 (1997).

- 38 Schulze-Osthoff, K., Beyaert, R., Vandevoorde, V., Haegeman, G. & Fiers, W. Depletion of the mitochondrial electron transport abrogates the cytotoxic and gene-inductive effects of TNF. *The EMBO journal* **12**, 3095-3104 (1993).
- 39 Shelton, P. & Jaiswal, A. K. The transcription factor NF-E2-related factor 2 (Nrf2): a protooncogene? *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* **27**, 414-423, doi:10.1096/fj.12-217257 (2013).
- 40 Rockwell, C. E., Zhang, M., Fields, P. E. & Klaassen, C. D. Th2 skewing by activation of Nrf2 in CD4(+) T cells. *Journal of immunology* **188**, 1630-1637, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101712 (2012).
- 41 Sanchez-Rivera, F. J. & Jacks, T. Applications of the CRISPR-Cas9 system in cancer biology. *Nat Rev Cancer* **15**, 387-395 (2015).

CHAPATER 4

The Nrf2/Keap1 system alters early human Jurkat T cell activation

Abstract

The stress activated transcription factor, Nrf2, has been previously shown to suppress IL-2 secretion in human Jurkat T cells, in response to the synthetic triterpenoid, CDDO-Im. The previous studies, did not address the question of basal genotype differences between wild-type and Nrf2-null cells; only changes in response to toxicant were reported. In the current study, we have generated Keap1-null Jurkat T cells by use of CRISPR-Cas9 technology. The purpose of the present study was to determine the effect of the removal of Nrf2 and Keap1 expression in Jurkat T cell activation. The data demonstrate that targeting of Keap1 by CRISPR-Cas9 is efficient in generating Keap1-null Jurkat clones, and the resulting transgenic clones have constitutive Nrf2 nuclear accumulation, as well as induction of the Nrf2 target gene NQO1. Additionally, Nrf2-null cells have increased IL-2 secretion. Conversely, Keap1-null cells have a significant decrease in IL-2 secretion, as compared to wild-type. Interestingly, Keap1-null cells also have a robust diminution in CD25 expression, post stimulation by the T cell receptor and co-receptor. Unexpectedly, little effect was observed on c-jun and p65 nuclear accumulation, indicating that the decrease in CD25 expression in the Keap1-null cells is not likely to be due to effects on AP-1 or NF B. Furthermore, Keap1-null cells have a dramatic increase in caspase 3/7 activity, indicative of an increase in apoptosis. Additional studies are needed to determine if the suppression of IL-2 secretion is due to an increase in activation-induced cell death, or other mechanisms, such as an increase in uptake of IL-2 by the IL-2 receptor.

Introduction

Physiologically, Nrf2 is considered to be a master regulator of many detoxification pathways, as well as the anti-inflammatory response ^{1–6}. The study of Nrf2 has been, until recently, relegated to the use of compounds that activate Nrf2 through stress signals, such as reactive oxygen species and electrophilic compounds which are thiol-reactive ^{7,8}. As no known Nrf2-null human T cell models were previously known to exist, the investigation of Nrf2 in human systems was previously confined to imperfect systems, such as activators with off-target effects and/or partial knock down of Nrf2 by RNA interference ⁹. Moreover, generation of Keap1-null mice was initially complicated by the death of Keap1-null mice shortly after birth due to hyperkeratinization of the esophagus, which resulted in starvation ¹⁰. Conditional Keap1 knock-out mice have since demonstrated that after maturity, Keap1 removal does not result in a decrease in organismal viability, indicating that this may be a suitable target to generate a constitutively-active Nrf2 human cell line ¹¹. Although multiple mouse models exist, it has proven difficult to determine the role of Nrf2 and Keap1 in human models.

Over the past several years, our group and others have demonstrated that Nrf2 not only serves to induce antioxidant and anti-inflammatory pathways, but also plays a crucial role in proper immune homeostasis ^{5,11–14}. A number of Nrf2 activators have been shown to alter immune response in multiple species and models, including primary mouse, mouse cell lines, primary human, and in human cell line models ^{15–19}. Furthermore, Keap1 conditional knock-out mice, also display modulation of immune endpoints, including hematopoiesis ^{20,21}. Collectively, a compelling body of scientific literature shows the Nrf2/Keap1 pathway to be immune modulatory in multiple models, however the field needs additional methods, which do not rely on non-specific activators, to study the role of these proteins in the human immune response.

Discussed in more depth in chapter one, T cells requires signal transduction through both the T cell receptor complex, as well as a co-receptor ^{22,23}. Experimentally, in the present studies, we have used antibodies ligating CD3 and CD28, to mimic physiological activation. This process results in the activation of several signal transduction cascades and the eventual nuclear accumulation of key transcription factors AP-1, NFkB, and NFAT, which are responsible for the transcription of many immune related genes, including interleukin-2 (IL-2) ²². IL-2 is a cytokine which acts in both an autocrine and paracrine fashion and has broad ranging effects on the immune response, including development of memory cells and clonal expansion of T cells in response to infection ^{24–26}. Alterations in IL-2 have been implicated in disease states, including autoimmune disease ²⁷.

Our most recent study was the first to demonstrate that Nrf2 modulates human T cell response, in which we showed the potent Nrf2 activator, CDDO-Im, suppressed IL-secretion in a completely Nrf2-dependent manner and CD25 in a largely Nrf2-dependent manner ¹⁵. The purpose of the present studies was to determine the basal genotype differences in Nrf2-null and Keap1-null Jurkat T cells, as compared to wild-type, by use of CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing. Genetic manipulation of Jurkat T cells allows for the analysis of the role of both Nrf2 and Keap1, without the confounding variable of potential off-target effects of Nrf2 activators.

Materials and Methods

Materials:

Unless specified, reagents, including tBHQ, were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO).

<u>Plasmids</u>

The CRISPR-Cas9 plasmid (PX458) was purchased from Addgene (Cambridge, MA).

Cell culture:

Human Jurkat E6-1 cells were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). Cells were then cultured in RPMI 1640 media, with the addition of 10% FBS, 25 mM HEPES, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 1x nonessential amino acids, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 U/mL streptomycin. FBS was purchased from BioWest (Riverside, MO).

Generation of CRISPR-Cas9 plasmids:

A CRISPR-Cas9 plasmid (PX458) lacking a gRNA sequence was purchased from Addgene (Cambridge, MA). The gRNA sequence targeting Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1) was chosen from http://arep.med.harvard.edu/human_crispr/, and Nrf2 specificity was verified using http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi. Oligos for the identified gRNA sequences were generated by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA), and restriction digest cloning was performed as described by the Zhang lab. After CRISPR-Cas9-transformed bacterial clones were identified, the plasmids were isolated by QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Plasmids were sent to Genewiz (South Plainfield, NJ), using the following primer

sequence: 5'-GGGCCTATTTCCCATGATTC-3', to ensure proper cloning of the gRNA sequence into the PX458 vector.

Transient transfection of CRISPR-Cas9 plasmids:

Human Jurkat T cells were reverse transfected with 1.5 µg of plasmid and 3 µl of Lipofectamine 2000 (Life Technologies) per 5x10⁵ cells for 12h in complete media. After 12h the cells were washed and resuspended at a concentration of 5x10⁵ cells/mL, in complete media. After resuspension, the cells were seeded in a 48-well plate at a volume of 1 mL per well. The cells were then incubated at 37° C for 36 h. After incubation, the cells were sorted by GFP expression and a single GFP-positive cell was deposited per well of a 96-well tissue culture plate, using a BD Influx flow cytometer (San Jose, CA) and allowed to clonally expand.

Identification of Nrf2 mutants by Sanger sequencing:

Genomic DNA was extracted from Jurkat clones, using DNeasy Blood and Tissue kit from Qiagen (Valencia, CA). The region of Nrf2 containing the targeted cut site was then amplified using the high fidelity Herculase II fusion DNA polymerase kit by Agilent Genomics (Santa Clara, CA). The primers used are as follows for Keap1: forward primer: 5'-GGAAACAGCCTCAGGAAGAATA-3' reverse primer: 5'-GTCAAGTACGACTGCGAACA-3' DNA extracts from individual clones were then sent to Genewiz (South Plainfield, NJ) for Sanger sequencing, using the forward primer from the PCR reaction for sequencing.

mRNA quantification by real-time PCR:

Total RNA was isolated from 2 x 10⁶ wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells using TRIzol Reagent, per the manufacturer's protocol (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). After isolation, reverse transcription was performed prior to Sybr green real-time PCR analysis. Relative mRNA expression was calculated by DDCt, normalized to the housekeeping gene, ribosomal protein RPL13a, using Ct values quantified by Life Technologies/Applied Biosystems Sequence Detection System 7500 (Grand Island, NY). All primer sequences were retrieved from Primer Depot (http://primerdepot.nci.nih.gov/) and synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). The primer sequences are as follows: RPL13A forward primer, 5'GTTGATGCCTTCACAGCGTA-3' and RPL13A reverse primer, 5'-AGATGGCGGAGGTGCAG-3'; NQO1 forward primer, 5'-TCCTTTCTTCAAAGCCG-3' and NQO1 reverse primer, 5'-GGACTGCACCAGAGCCAT-3'.

IL-2 quantification by ELISA:

Wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null Jurkat T cells were cultured in 96-well plates (1 x 10⁵ cells/well), and cell supernatants were harvested 24 h after activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28. IL-2 was quantified from cell supernatants by the use of a commercially available ELISA kit (BioLegend, San Diego, CA), per the manufacturer's protocol. The absorbance was quantified at 450 nm using a Tecan m1000 Pro microplate reader (Männedorf, Switzerland).

Measurement of extracellular markers by flow cytometry:

Wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null Jurkat T cells were labeled with anti-CD69/PECy7 (BioLegend, San Diego, CA) and anti-CD25/APC (eBioscience, San Diego, CA). After labeling, cells were washed and resuspended in FACS buffer. After resuspension, cells were analyzed by flow cytometry using the BD Accuri C6 (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA). Fluorescence was quantified using CFlow software (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA)

Quantification of caspase 3/7 activity by flow cytometry:

2x10⁵ cells were stained with the fluorogenic substrate CellEvent and were treated per manufacturer's protocol (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). All samples were analyzed by flow cytometry using the BD Accuri C6 to determine the functional activity of caspase 3/7 (BD Accuri, San Jose, CA).

Nuclear and whole cell lysate protein isolation:

Wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null Jurkat T cells (1x10⁷ cells) were collected 3 h after activation by anti-CD3/anti-CD28. Cells were lysed using a solution containing 10mM HEPES, 100mM KCl, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EGTA, 0.5mM DTT, 0.5% NP-40 substitute, and 1x Halt protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). After lysis, lysates were spun down and resuspended in nuclear extraction buffer containing 10mM HEPES, 420mM NaCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.1mM EGTA, 0.5mM DTT, 5% glycerol, and 1x Halt protease inhibitor cocktail. Samples were kept in nuclear extraction buffer for 1 h, vortexing intermittently. After incubation, samples were spun down and supernatants containing the nuclear fraction of the protein extract were collected. Nuclear protein was quantified via Bradford assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). Wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null Jurkat T cells (4x10^6) were lysed using RIPA buffer in PBS containing 1% IGEPAL CA-630, 0.5% Sodium Deoxycholate, and 0.5% SDS. The resulting cell lysates were then spun at 10,000 x g for 10min, and the supernatants were

collected.

Western Analysis:

After quantification, nuclear protein was diluted in Laemmli Sample Buffer (Bio-Rad) supplemented with 2-mercaptoethanol so that each well contained either 10µg of nuclear protein or 30µg of whole cell lysates. Samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE and subsequently transferred to a PVDF membrane. Membranes were blocked with 5% NFDM (non-fat dehydrated milk) in PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20 (PBST). Histone H3 (7074S), Nrf2 (H-300), Keap1 (D1G10), c-jun (60A8), and p65 (7970) primary antibodies were diluted 1:1000 in PBST containing 5% NFDM. The H3 primary antibody was purchased from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). The Nrf2 primary antibodies were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). The Keap1 and c-jun antibodies were purchased from Cell signaling (Danvers, MA), and the primary p65 antibody was purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, UK) The secondary antibody was obtained from Cell Signaling 2% NFDM. The anti-rabbit IgG secondary was obtained from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). All blots were developed via Pierce ECL Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL) per the manufacturer's protocol. The bands were visualized by the LI-COR Odyssey FC infrared imaging system (Lincoln, NE).

Statistical analysis:

The mean ± standard error was determined for each treatment group in the individual experiments. Homogeneous data were subsequently evaluated by two-way parametric analysis of variance. When significant differences were observed, the Holm-Sidak post-hoc test was used to compare treatment groups to the vehicle (VEH) control using SigmaPlot 12.3 software (Systat Software, Inc., Chicago, IL).

Results

CRISPR-Cas9 technology is efficient in generating Keap1-null Jurkat cells

The generation of CRISPR-Cas9 plasmids was accomplished as previously described, using a database containing gRNA sequences for 40% of the human exome. After selection of a gRNA sequence targeting Keap1, BLAST (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi) analysis was done to determine that the previously selected sequence was unique. The resulting unique sequence was cloned into an empty CRISPR-Cas9 vector, which co-expresses GFP, and this was done as has been previously reported. After transfection of the plasmid into wild-type Jurkat T cells, the positive transfectants were sorted by expression of GFP signal, and allowed to clonally expand. The resulting Jurkat clones were Sanger sequenced and those containing insertions and deletions at the gRNA cut-site (data not shown) were analyzed by Western blot for Keap1 protein expression. To determine Keap1 deficiency, whole cell lysates were analyzed by PAGE/Western blotting (Fig. 17). The resulting blot showed multiple Keap1-null clones were present, and eight were retained for analysis of immune endpoints, as was done previously with Nrf2-null Jurkat clones.



Figure 19: CRISPR-Cas9 targeting of Keap1 results in Keap1-null clones. Wild-type Jurkat T cells or Keap1-null Jurkat clones were lysed using RIPA buffer and whole cell lysates were analyzed for expression of Keap1 and the housekeeper GAPDH by western blot analysis.

Keap1 deficiency results in constitutive Nrf2 activity

The generation of Keap1 null clones led us to determine if Keap1 deficiency resulted in constitutive Nrf2 activity, as measured by nuclear accumulation and induction of the Nrf2 target gene NQO1. Wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null Jurkat T cells were either left untreated or treated with 10µM tBHQ. tBHQ treatment resulted in a marked nuclear accumulation of Nrf2 in wild-type Jurkat cells, but no detectable Nrf2 protein was present in the Nrf2-null cell line, which has been reported previously. Additionally, Keap1-null Jurkat T cells had a robust nuclear accumulation of Nrf2 in the untreated background group, which was not observed in either the wild-type or Nrf2-null cells (Fig. 18a.). Furthermore, nuclear accumulation of Nrf2 was approximately the same in untreated and tBHQ-treated KEAP1-null cells, indicating that tBHQ was not able to boost nuclear accumulation any further in the absence of Keap1. We next measured NQO1, a known Nrf2-sensitive gene, in all three genotypes (Fig. 18b.). Similar to what was observed in the previous Western blot, wild-type cells had marked induction of NQO1 with treatment of tBHQ, and no induction was measured in Nrf2-null lines. Keap1-null clones, however, showed increased NQO1 expression in untreated cells, at levels well above the tBHQtreated wild-type cells, which was maintained, but not increased, with tBHQ treatment. Taken together, these data demonstrate that Keap1-deficient cells have constitutive Nrf2 nuclear accumulation and transcriptional activity.



Figure 20: Keap1-null Jurkat T cells have constitutive Nrf2 activity. (A) Wild-type, Nrf2-null, or Keap1-null Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG) or treated with 10 µM tBHQ for 3 h. Nuclear protein was then isolated and expression of Nrf2 and the housekeeper histone H3 was probed by western analysis. (B) Wild-type, Nrf2-null, or Keap1-null Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG) or pretreated with vehicle (VEH) control (0.01% ethanol) or tBHQ (10 \square M) prior to activation by anti-CD3/anti-CD28. 6 h post activation, cells were harvested and total RNA was collected. Quantification of NQO1 was performed by SYBR Green real-time PCR. The data are presented as mean ± SE. a = p<0.05 within WT, compared to aCD3/aCD28, b = p<0.05 within Nrf2-null, compared to aCD3/aCD28, c = p<0.05 within Keap1-null, compared to aCD3/aCD28, d = p<0.05 compared to WT.

Nrf2-deficiency increases IL-2 secretion, whereas Keap1-deficiency decreases IL-2 secretion in Jurkat T cells

Our previous studies have demonstrated that activation of Nrf2 suppresses secretion of IL-2 in the human Jurkat T cell line ¹⁷. In the current studies, we measured basal genotype differences between wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null cells with respect to the magnitude of IL-2 induction after T cell activation (Fig. 19). All three genotypes were either left untreated or activated with antibody targeting CD3 and CD28, the T cell receptor and a co-receptor. 24h later, cell supernatants were harvested and IL-2 was measured by commercially available sandwich ELISA. Analysis of IL-2 in supernatants demonstrated a more than two-fold increase in IL-2 secretion in Nrf2-null cells, as compared to wild type. Keap1-null cells, in contrast, secrete approximately half as much IL-2 as wild-type cells.





Figure 21: (cont'd) presented as mean \pm SE. a = p<0.05 within WT, compared to aCD3/aCD28, b = p<0.05 within Nrf2-null, compared to aCD3/aCD28, c = p<0.05 within Keap1-null, compared to aCD3/aCD28, d= p<0.05 compared to WT, ND = not detectable.

Nrf2-null and Keap1-null Jurkat T cells express significantly less CD25 after stimulation

To further characterize Nrf2-null and Keap1-null cell lines, we analyzed the expression of two markers of T cell activation, CD25 and CD69, where CD25 is the high affinity chain of the IL-2 receptor, and CD69 is a C-type lectin. Both proteins are highly expressed within 24h after T cell activation. Cells were harvested 24h after activation and analyzed by flow cytometry, measuring cell surface expression of both CD25 (Fig. 20 a/b.) and CD69 (Fig. 20 b/c). Consistent with our previous studies, modulation of the Nrf2/Keap1 axis had little to no effect on the percentage of CD69 positive cells. In contrast, expression of CD25 was modestly decreased in the Nrf2-null cells and substantially decreased in the Keap1-null cells, which is consistent with our previous study, showing activation of Nrf2 inhibits CD25 expression.





Figure 22: (cont'd) were left untreated (BKG) or activated with with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 (aCD3aCD28). After 24 h, the percentage of cells expressing (A, B) CD25 and (A, C) CD69 was quantified by flow cytometry. The data are presented as mean \pm SE. a = p<0.05 within WT, compared to aCD3/aCD28, b = p<0.05 within Nrf2-null, compared to aCD3/aCD28, c = p<0.05 within Keap1-null, compared to aCD3/aCD28, d = p<0.05 compared to WT.

Nrf2 inhibits c-jun nuclear accumulation

Our previous findings on the secretion of IL-2 in mutant cell lines led us to investigate the nuclear accumulation of c-jun, a member of the AP-1 family of transcription factors, which is known to be necessary for IL-2 transcription (Fig. 21). Wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null cells were either left untreated or activated via antibody ligating CD3 and CD28. Three hours after activation, nuclear protein was isolated and analyzed for c-jun nuclear accumulation. Western blots of nuclear protein demonstrated a robust nuclear accumulation of c-jun, post activation of wild-type cells. Nrf2-null Jurkat cells showed a greater increase in c-jun nuclear accumulation, as compared to wild-type, as well as a marked increase in the untreated group. Conversely, Keap1-null cells had a modest decrease in the c-jun nuclear translocation.



Figure 23: Nrf2 inhibits c-jun nuclear accumulation in Jurkat T cells. (A)Wild-type, Nrf2-null, or Keap1-null Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG) or activated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 (ACT). After 3 hours, nuclear protein was then isolated and expression of c-jun and the housekeeper histone H3 was probed by western analysis, (B) and band density is depicted in arbitrary units, as compared to loading control.

Keap1 inhibits p65 nuclear accumulation

As Nrf2 and Keap1 were shown to have opposite effects on c-jun nuclear accumulation, we next investigated p65 nuclear accumulation. P65 (ReIA) is a member of the NFkB family, which is known to be important in the control of cellular events, such as apoptosis, as well as many immune endpoints, such as transcription of IL-2. All three genotypes of Jurkat cells were either left untreated or activated via antibody ligating CD3 and CD28. Three hours after activation, nuclear protein was isolated and analyzed for p65 nuclear accumulation (Fig. 22). As was expected, T cell activation resulted in an increase in nuclear p65 in wild-type cells. Untreated Nrf2-null cells had comparable nuclear p65 as activated wild-type cells but was not inducible with T cell activation. The basal increase in p65 nuclear accumulation in the Nrf2-null cells is supported by published studies, which show Nrf2 can antagonize NFkB activity ⁽¹³⁾. Interestingly, Keap1-null cells had an approximately two-fold increase in p65 nuclear accumulation of the signaling attention as compared to wild-type, further demonstrating alteration of other signaling pathways by the Nrf2/Keap1 pathway.



Figure 24: The Nrf2 Keap1 axis alters p65 nuclear accumulation. (A) Wild-type, Nrf2-null, or Keap1-null Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG) or activated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 (ACT). After 3 hours, nuclear protein was then isolated and expression of c-jun and the housekeeper histone H3 was probed by western analysis, (B) and band density is depicted in arbitrary units, as compared to loading control.

Keap1-null T cells have increased apoptosis in response to CD3 and CD28 stimulation as compared to wild-type and Nrf2-null cells

Increases in p65 nuclear accumulation observed in the Keap1-null genotype in response to T cell stimulation, next led us to investigate cell death and apoptosis. Toward this end, Jurkat T cells were analyzed for caspase 3/7 catalytic activity and viability, by flow cytometry, using a commercially available kit (Fig. 23). Untreated or activated T cells were stained with fluorescent caspase substrate 24h after T cell activation and were subsequently analyzed by flow cytometry. Background samples of all three genotypes were over 90% viable, and had only minor caspase activity. As was expected, activation of both wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells resulted in modest increases in early apoptosis and slight increases in cell death, consistent with activation-induced cell death. Unexpectedly and unlike both wild-type and Nrf2-null cells, Keap1-null cells demonstrated marked increases in both caspase activity, as well as cell death. These observations were surprising, given Keap1-null cells show constitutive Nrf2 activity, which has been associated with increased cell viability to toxicants and oxidative stress.





Figure 25: Keap1-null Jurkat clones have increased caspase activity and cell death after <u>activation with anti-CD3/anti-CD28</u>. Wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null human Jurkat T cells were left untreated (BKG) or activated with with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 (aCD3aCD28). After 16 h, cells were analyzed, observing functional caspase 3/7 activity (A,B) and cell viability (A, C), by flow cytometry.

Discussion

Over the last several years, an increasing body of work has proven the role of endogenous role of Nrf2 and Keap1 to be quite complex. It is well established that the Nrf2/Keap1 pathway is integral in the amelioration of oxidative stress and inflammation ^{6,28,29}. In addition to these responses, Nrf2 and Keap1 have been shown to be intimately involved in formation of proper immune responses, as knock-out animals for both genes have alterations in immune response to pathogen, self-tolerance, hematopoiesis, and other immune anomalies ^{11–13,15,16,30}. In addition to the effects of genetic knockout of Nrf2/Keap1 on murine immune response, numerous studies also indicate that acute Nrf2 activation by pharmacological activators also modulates immune response ^{16,20,21}.

Until recently, these studies had been done almost entirely in mouse models. This is largely due to the lack of commercially available compounds known to specifically target the pathway, as well as no known polymorphisms which confer knock-out of either protein in human populations. Therefore, we have been limited to indirect means, such as toxicants, or incomplete knock-down, to infer the role of both Nrf2 and Keap1 in human models ^{9,17,18}. In the present studies, we have aimed to answer questions left largely unanswered in our previous studies. Our previous studies determined Nrf2-dependent and independent effects of different Nrf2 activators on endpoints of early T cell activation, including cytokine secretion and expression of cell surface markers of activation ¹⁵. These previous studies were the first to demonstrate Nrf2 activation to be immunomodulatory in human models, but it did not address

any basal genotype differences in human models of T cell activation. Therefore, we have again implemented CRISPR-Cas9 to knock-out Keap1. The resulting three genotypes were then used to observe the role of the Nrf2/Keap1-axis on a human model of T cell activation.

Using this approach, we demonstrated that, as expected, knocking out Keap1 in human Jurkat T cells resulted in constitutive Nrf2 activity, measured by constitutive, non-inducible, nuclear accumulation, as well as a marked increase in NQO1 transcription in untreated cells ^{11,20,31}. These data supported our hypothesis that lack of Keap1 expression is adequate to cause constitutive Nrf2 activation. Further analysis of wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null Jurkat genotypes demonstrated that knocking out Nrf2 resulted in a marked increase in the amount of IL-2 secreted. This aligns with what we have previously observed with Nrf2 activation by CDDO-Im, which resulted in a suppression of IL-2 induction ¹⁵. Furthermore, Keap1-null cells had a significant decrease in IL-2 secretion. These data are significant in that they demonstrate that alterations in Nrf2 expression alone, without the use of xenobiotic, markedly alter cytokine secretion. Likewise, Keap1-null cells demonstrated increased Nrf2 activity and suppressed IL-2 secretion, which further supports a role for Nrf2 as a regulator of IL-2 in this model.

Moreover, alterations in IL-2 secretion may have pleiotropic effects in the immune system. IL-2 is a key cytokine in the development and maintenance of regulatory T cells, which help to shut down immune responses and maintain peripheral tolerance. In addition, IL-2 is involved in the development of a proper memory response, facilitates clonal expansion, and can influence the polarization of T cell subsets ^{32–35}. Taken together, the current studies in conjunction with previously published studies, strongly suggest a critical role for the Nrf2/Keap1 pathway in regulating immune response.

The current studies suggest Nrf2 has differential effects on the induction of CD25 and CD69. In all three genotypes, CD69 was not dramatically affected. Although there was a very modest, albeit statistically significant, decrease in CD69 expression in the Keap1-null cells, this effect is not likely to be biologically relevant. In contrast, CD25 expression varied greatly between genotypes. There was a minor, albeit statistically significant, decrease in the number of CD25-positive cells in the Nrf2-null cells as compared to wild-type; whereas CD25 positive cells were diminished by approximately half in the Keap1-null genotype. These data indicate a potential deficiency in IL-2 signaling, as CD25 is the high affinity chain of the IL-2 receptor and necessary for optimal signal transduction ^{36,37}. Published studies have shown modulations in CD25 signaling can lead to dysregulation of immune cell polarization, leading to a Th2 phenotype by inducing STAT5 driven IL-4 expression ^{38,39}.

Numerous studies have shown that Nrf2 and Keap1 directly interact with other signal transduction pathways, including NFκB and AP-1 ³. In terms of IL-2, NFκB ad AP-1 are known to be necessary for optimal IL-2 transcription⁴⁰. We first analyzed the nuclear accumulation of c-jun, a member of the AP-1 family, which has been shown in previous studies to be suppressed by Nrf2. As was expected, Nrf2-null cells had a robust increase in c-jun nuclear accumulation as compared to wild-type cells. Similar to what was observed with IL-2 secretion, Keap1-null Jurkat cells had slightly less nuclear c-jun protein than wild-type cells. The robust increase in nuclear c-jun in Nrf2-null cells may be the mechanism by which IL-2 is increased in the Nrf2-null genotype, as there are multiple known AP-1 binding sites in the IL-2 promoter, with at least one being necessary for transcription ^{40,41}.

Investigation of p65 nuclear accumulation proved to be somewhat more complex. It is known that activation of T cells results in nuclear accumulation of NF κ B within the nucleus, which we observed in wild-type cells ^{22,40}. In Nrf2-null cells, both unactivated and activated groups exhibited nuclear accumulation of p65 at approximately the same level as activated wild-type cells. These data indicate that Nrf2 inhibits NF κ B activity, which has been shown by other groups ^{13,42}. Surprisingly, Keap1-null cells had more nuclear p65 than either genotype after T cell activation. Previous studies have shown that Keap1 can interact directly with IKK β , which is responsible for NF κ B activation. Nonetheless, these data were unexpected because the Keap1-null cells have constitutive activation of Nrf2, which is also known to be inhibitory to NF κ B ^{13,43}. The potential effects of increased NF κ B signaling are wide ranging, from inducing transcription of genes such as IL-2, but under some circumstances NF κ B also induces apoptosis ⁴⁴.

The results from the p65 Western blots lead us to investigate potential changes in apoptosis after T cell activation. We observed the catalytic activity of executioner caspases 3 and 7 by flow cytometry. After activation, it is physiologically normal for a fraction of T cells to undergo apoptosis, a process known as activation-induced cell death ⁴⁵. This aids in the protection of the host from an over-response to pathogen. In the cell lines used in these studies, a minor increase in functional caspase was observed in both wild-type and Nrf2-null genotypes after T cell activation, as predicted. In contrast, Keap1-null cells had a profound increase in caspase activity, indicating a large apoptotic population, which was also accompanied by a distinct increase in cell death in these cells, which may be responsible for the decrease in IL-2 secretion observed in Keap1-null cells.

Taken together, these studies are both novel and high impact for several reasons. First, this is the first time, to our knowledge, that a human model has shown that changes in expression of Nrf2 and Keap1 result in marked changes in immune cell function. Our present studies show that the overall expression of Nrf2 and Keap1, independent of the activation of Nrf2 by xenobiotics and cell stress, alter early events of human T cell activation. Second, these results have implications beyond immunology. Nrf2 and Keap1 have been shown to be involved in the progression of many types of cancer. This is profound because the Jurkat E6-1 cell line is a T cell leukemia, and previously, we showed ablation of Nrf2 to cause an increase in sensitivity to oxidative stress induced by hydrogen peroxide, which further implicates Nrf2 to be a pseudooncogene. These studies go a step further. Although Keap1-null Jurkat cells have constitutively active Nrf2, they also show a marked decrease in viability by apoptosis after stimulation through the T cell receptor and co-receptor. Finally, these studies demonstrate that targeting Keap1 to investigate the effects of constitutive Nrf2 activation comes with its own complications, as Keap1 knock-out appears to have effects on T cell activation that may be separate from Nrf2. To determine Nrf2-specific from Keap1-specific effects, additional studies using Nrf2/Keap1 double-knock-out cells will be needed.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. Venugopal, R., Jaiswal, A. K. & Kan, Y. W. Nrf1 and Nrf2 positively and c-Fos and Fra1 negatively regulate the human antioxidant response element-mediated expression of NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 gene. *Pharmacology* **93**, 14960–14965 (1996).
- Itoh, K. *et al.* An Nrf2/Small Maf Heterodimer Mediates the Induction of Phase II Detoxifying Enzyme Genes through Antioxidant Response Elements. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 236, 313–322 (1997).
- 3. Kensler, T. W., Wakabayashi, N. & Biswal, S. Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1 Nrf2 ARE pathway. *Annu.Rev.Pharmacol.Toxicol.* **47**, 89–116 (2007).
- 4. Lee, J.-M. *et al.* Nrf2, a multi-organ protector? *FASEB J.* **19**, 1061–6 (2005).
- 5. Li, J., Stein, T. D. & Johnson, J. A. Genetic dissection of systemic autoimmune disease in Nrf2-deficient mice. *Physiol Genomics* **18**, 261–272 (2004).
- 6. Maher, J. M. *et al.* Oxidative and electrophilic stress induces multidrug resistanceassociated protein transporters via the nuclear factor-E2-related factor-2 transcriptional pathway. *Hepatology* **46**, 1597–1610 (2007).
- Chan, K., Lu, R., Chang, J. C. & Kan, Y. W. NRF2, a member of the NFE2 family of transcription factors, is not essential for murine erythropoiesis, growth, and development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 93, 13943–8 (1996).
- 8. Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. *et al.* Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants.
- 9. Sanchez-Rivera, F. J. & Jacks, T. Applications of the CRISPR?Cas9 system in cancer biology. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **15**, 387–395 (2015).
- 10. Wakabayashi, N. *et al.* Keap1-null mutation leads to postnatal lethality due to constitutive Nrf2 activation. *Nat. Genet.* **35**, 238–245 (2003).
- 11. Kong, X. *et al.* Enhancing Nrf2 pathway by disruption of Keap1 in myeloid leukocytes protects against sepsis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **184**, 928–938 (2011).
- 12. Yoh, K. *et al.* Nrf2-deficient female mice develop lupus-like autoimmune nephritis. *Kidney Int.* **60**, 1343–1353 (2001).
- 13. Thimmulappa, R. K. *et al.* Nrf2 is a critical regulator of the innate immune response and survival during experimental sepsis. *J. Clin. Invest.* **116**, 984–95 (2006).
- 14. Johnson, D. A., Amirahmadi, S., Ward, C., Fabry, Z. & Johnson, J. A. The absence of the pro-antioxidant transcription factor Nrf2 exacerbates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Toxicol. Sci.* **114**, 237–46 (2010).

- 15. Zagorski, J. W., Maser, T. P., Liby, K. T. & Rockwell, C. E. Nrf2-Dependent and -Independent Effects of *tert* -Butylhydroquinone, CDDO-Im, and H ₂O ₂ in Human Jurkat T Cells as Determined by CRISPR/Cas9 Gene Editing. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **361**, 259– 267 (2017).
- 16. Rockwell, C. E., Zhang, M., Fields, P. E. & Klaassen, C. D. Th2 skewing by activation of Nrf2 in CD4(+) T cells. *J. Immunol.* **188**, 1630–7 (2012).
- 17. Turley, A. E., Zagorski, J. W. & Rockwell, C. E. The Nrf2 activator tBHQ inhibits T cell activation of primary human CD4 T cells. *Cytokine* **71**, 289–295 (2015).
- 18. Zagorski, J. W. *et al.* The Nrf2 Activator, tBHQ, Differentially Affects Early Events Following Stimulation of Jurkat Cells. *Toxicol. Sci.* **136**, 63–71 (2013).
- 19. Fujita, K., Maeda, D., Xiao, Q., Srinivasula, S. M. & Jennifer Lippincott-Schwartz, by. Nrf2-mediated induction of p62 controls Toll-like receptor-4–driven aggresome-like induced structure formation and autophagic degradation. doi:10.1073/pnas.1014156108
- 20. Murakami, S. *et al.* NRF2 activation impairs quiescence and bone marrow reconstitution capacity of hematopoietic stem cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* MCB.00086-17 (2017). doi:10.1128/MCB.00086-17
- 21. Murakami, S., Shimizu, R., Romeo, P.-H., Yamamoto, M. & Motohashi, H. Keap1-Nrf2 system regulates cell fate determination of hematopoietic stem cells. *Genes to Cells* **19**, 239–253 (2014).
- 22. Cantrell, D. A. T cell antigen receptor signal transduction pathways. *Cancer Surv.* **27**, 165–175 (1996).
- 23. Mueller, D. L., Jenkins, M. K. & Schwartz, R. H. Clonal Expansion Versus Functional Clonal Inactivation: A Costimulatory Signalling Pathway Determines the Outcome of T Cell Antigen Receptor Occupancy. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **7**, 445–480 (1989).
- 24. D'Souza, W. N. & Lefrancois, L. IL-2 Is Not Required for the Initiation of CD8 T Cell Cycling but Sustains Expansion. *J. Immunol.* **171**, 5727–5735 (2003).
- 25. Williams, M. A., Tyznik, A. J. & Bevan, M. J. Interleukin-2 signals during priming are required for secondary expansion of CD8+ memory T cells. *Nature* **441**, 890–893 (2006).
- 26. Shahinian, A. *et al.* Differential T cell costimulatory requirements in CD28-deficient mice. *Science* **261**, 609–12 (1993).
- Lieberman, L. A. & Tsokos, G. C. The IL-2 defect in systemic lupus erythematosus disease has an expansive effect on host immunity. *J. Biomed. Biotechnol.* 2010, 740619 (2010).
- 28. Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. *et al.* Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **99**, 11908–13 (2002).

- 29. Ma, Q. Role of Nrf2 in Oxidative Stress and Toxicity. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 53, 401–426 (2013).
- 30. Ma, Q., Battelli, L. & Hubbs, A. F. Multiorgan Autoimmune Inflammation, Enhanced Lymphoproliferation, and Impaired Homeostasis of Reactive Oxygen Species in Mice Lacking the Antioxidant-Activated Transcription Factor Nrf2. *Am. J. Pathol.* **168**, 1960–1974 (2006).
- 31. Wakabayashi, N. *et al.* Keap1-null mutation leads to postnatal lethality due to constitutive Nrf2 activation. *Nat. Genet.* **35**, 238–45 (2003).
- 32. Mingari, M. C. *et al.* Human interleukin-2 promotes proliferation of activated B cells via surface receptors similar to those of activated T cells. *Nature* **312**, 641–3 (1984).
- 33. Kundig, T. *et al.* Immune responses in interleukin-2-deficient mice. *Science (80-.).* **262**, 1059–1061 (1993).
- 34. Hwang, E. S., Hong, J.-H. & Glimcher, L. H. IL-2 production in developing Th1 cells is regulated by heterodimerization of RelA and T-bet and requires T-bet serine residue 508. *J. Exp. Med.* **202**, 1289–300 (2005).
- Sadlack, B. *et al.* Generalized autoimmune disease in interleukin- 2- deficient mice is triggered by an uncontrolled activation and proliferation of CD4+ T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25, 3053–3059 (1995).
- 36. Yu, A., Olosz, F., Choi, C. Y. & Malek, T. R. Efficient internalization of IL-2 depends on the distal portion of the cytoplasmic tail of the IL-2R common gamma-chain and a lymphoid cell environment. *J. Immunol.* **165**, 2556–62 (2000).
- 37. Hémar, A. *et al.* Endocytosis of interleukin 2 receptors in human T lymphocytes: distinct intracellular localization and fate of the receptor alpha, beta, and gamma chains. *J. Cell Biol.* **129**, 55–64 (1995).
- 38. Cote-Sierra, J. *et al.* Interleukin 2 plays a central role in Th2 differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **101**, 3880–3885 (2004).
- 39. Liao, W. *et al.* Priming for T helper type 2 differentiation by interleukin 2-mediated induction of interleukin 4 receptor alpha-chain expression. *Nat. Immunol.* **9**, 1288–96 (2008).
- 40. Serfling, E., Avots, A. & Neumann, M. The architecture of the interleukin-2 promoter: a reflection of T lymphocyte activation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1263**, 181–200 (1995).
- 41. Jain, J. *et al.* Analysis of the AP-1 sites in the IL-2 promoter. *J. Immunol.* **148**, 1240–1250 (1992).
- 42. Jin, W. *et al.* Influence of Nrf2 genotype on pulmonary NF-κB activity and inflammatory response after traumatic brain injury. *Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci.* **38**, 221–227 (2008).
- 43. Kim, J.-E. *et al.* Suppression of NF-κB signaling by KEAP1 regulation of IKKβ activity through autophagic degradation and inhibition of phosphorylation. *Cell. Signal.* **22**, 1645–

1654 (2010).

- 44. Barkett, M. & Gilmore, T. D. Control of apoptosis by Rel/NF-kappaB transcription factors. *Oncogene* **18**, 6910–6924 (1999).
- 45. Green, D. R., Droin, N. & Pinkoski, M. Activation-induced cell death in T cells. *Immunol. Rev.* **193**, 70–81 (2003).

CHAPTER 5

Summary, significance, and future directions

Summary of findings

Previously, the work done implicating the stress activated transcription factor Nrf2 in the modulation of immune response had primarily been accomplished in mouse models. Although mouse models are extremely useful for in vivo and mechanistic studies, species differences between mice and humans exist. Therefore, our initial studies aimed at determining the role of the synthetic food preservative and Nrf2 activator, tBHQ, in the early events of human CD4 T cell activation, implementing a human Jurkat T cell model ¹. Our hypothesis was that pretreatment of Jurkat T cells with tBHQ, prior to T cell stimulation through the T cell receptor and co-receptor would result in suppression of cytokine production (chapter 2). These studies demonstrated that tBHQ has differential effects on the early events following Jurkat T cell activation. As hypothesized, tBHQ suppressed induction of IL-2, a key early cytokine. Furthermore, pretreatment with tBHQ also inhibited the expression of CD25 mRNA and protein expression, but there was no effect on the level of CD69 mRNA or protein expression. Continued analysis demonstrated a similar differential effect on transcription factors known to drive the IL-2 promoter, with NFkB being suppressed with increasing concentration of tBHQ, but there was no observed suppression of either NFAT or AP-1. These data indicate that overall T cell activation is not inhibited as a whole, but rather, only specific endpoints are affected by tBHQ. These studies indicated that Nrf2 may have a role in the regulation of human T cell activation, but the question remained whether the effects of tBHQ were due to activation of Nrf2 or were occurring through off-target effects of tBHQ.

One difficulty of many human studies within the Nrf2 field is the off-target effects of many of the Nrf2 activators. Because no commercially available Nrf2 specific activators or inhibitors are currently available, studies rely on overexpression of Nrf2, as well as its incomplete knock down using siRNA and shRNA techniques. The resulting data are often difficult to interpret, leaving
the role of Nrf2 in the human immune response largely unanswered. These same issues left the role of Nrf2 in our previous studies ambiguous. To address this, wenext developed a Nrf2null human model, using CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing. These studies aimed at determining if the previously described immunotoxicological effects of tBHQ were Nrf2-dependent (chapter 3). After development of a Nrf2-null model, we hypothesized that the suppression of IL-2 by tBHQ is dependent upon Nrf2 expression, leading us to expect to observe suppression of IL-2 in only wild-type Jurkat T cells treated with tBHQ. However, in opposition to our hypothesis, a similar suppression of IL-2 secretion was observed in both wild-type and Nrf2-null genotypes, showing the effects of tBHQ on this endpoint to be independent of Nrf2². Although counter to the hypothesis, these data are not entirely surprising, as tBHQ activates Nrf2 through modifications of key cysteines on Keap1, and similar modifications are likely occurring on other molecules within the cell. Additionally, tBHQ also inhibited p65, a member of the NFkB family, in a Nrf2independent manner, which may be the means by which tBHQ suppresses IL-2 secretion in Jurkat T cells. We next went on to investigate the role of other Nrf2 activators on Jurkat cell function. Treatment of Jurkat T cells with the synthetic triterpenoid CDDO-Im resulted in a completely Nrf2-dependent suppression of IL-2 induction and a partially Nrf2-dependent suppression of CD25 expression, while again having no effect on CD69. These data again demonstrate that activation of Nrf2 does not completely block T cell activation which would result in a decrease in all parameters, but rather modulates only specific endpoints.

Nrf2-null mice have been shown to be deficient in the resolution of oxidative stress caused by reactive oxygen species. The immune system is uniquely sensitive to reactive oxygen species because cells within the immune system utilize reactive oxygen species as a both a means of host-defense and as a second messenger ^{3,4}. In light of this, we treated wild-type and Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells with hydrogen peroxide for 16 hours, prior to measurement of cell viability and

mitochondrial membrane potential. These data show that Nrf2-null cells have a lower basal mitochondrial membrane potential, as well as being more sensitive to H₂O₂ than wild-type cells. These studies are interesting because T cells are exposed to oxidative stress through normal immune responses. In addition, these studies also have implications in cancer biology, as Nrf2 has been shown to promote chemo- and radio-resistance of tumors, a role which these studies support, as Jurkat T cells are a T cell leukemia cell line.

Although the studies of tBHQ and CDDO-Im in Nrf2-null Jurkat cells were critical for defining the role of Nrf2 in the effects of these two activators, these studies did not approach the question of basal genotype differences between wild-type and Nrf2-null cells. Since activation of Nrf2 causes a suppression of IL-2 secretion, we hypothesized that Nrf2-null cells would basally produce more IL-2 upon T cell stimulation. Conversely, we hypothesized that ablation of the Nrf2-repressor Keap1 would result in subsequent suppression of IL-2 and constitutive Nrf2 activity (chapter 4). The initial studies using all three genotypes demonstrated that, indeed, knocking-out Keap1 results in constitutive Nrf2 nuclear accumulation and NQO-1 mRNA induction, strongly suggesting that Nrf2 is constitutively active. Furthermore, increased IL-2 induction was observed in Nrf2-null cells and decreased IL-2 induction in Keap1-null cells as compared to wild-type, which was consistent with our hypothesis. In addition, Keap1 null cells expressed about half as much CD25 after T cell stimulation compared to wild-type, which was consistent with the Nrf2 activator CDDO-Im.

Investigations into the mechanism by which these effects are mediated resulted in interesting and somewhat unexpected findings. Nrf2-null Jurkat T cells had increased c-jun nuclear accumulation in the background group, and a substantial increase upon T cell activation.

Conversely, Keap1-null cells had a slight decrease in c-jun nuclear accumulation. Taken together, it is plausible that the increase in IL-2 secretion within the Nrf2-null genotype is due to the robust increase in c-jun activity, as AP-1 has been shown to be necessary for IL-2 transcription and has several binding sites in the IL-2 promoter. The role of the Nrf2/Keap1 system on regulation of p65 nuclear accumulation was more complex. Within the Nrf2-null genotype, untreated cells had increased p65 nuclear accumulation as compared to wild-type. After T cell stimulation, there was no notable further increase in p65 nuclear accumulation within this genotype. Interestingly, Keap1-null cells had a slight increase in basal p65 nuclear accumulation, but a more robust induction of p65 than either wild-type or Nrf2-null stimulated cells. These findings were unexpected, given Nrf2 has been shown to suppress p65 activity, and both, AP-1 and NFkB are integral in driving the IL-2 promoter. Additionally, NFkB signaling has been shown to drive apoptosis in some models ⁵. This is significant as another key event in T cell activation is activation-induced cell death ⁶. In this process, some activated T cells undergo apoptosis, which is important for maintaining peripheral tolerance and immune contraction after resolution of infection. Our studies show that T cell activation results in a marked increase in caspase 3/7 activity in Keap1-null cells, which is not observed in either wildtype or Nrf2-null genotypes. Further studies must be done to determine if the changes in Keap1-null cytokine secretion are due to cell death, or some other mechanism, such as IL-2 uptake, autophagy, or mRNA stability. These studies are of importance because they are the first to show that manipulation of Nrf2 and Keap1 expression changes human T cell function. Beyond that, manipulation of Keap1 is used as a means to overexpress Nrf2 ⁷⁻⁹. Our current data suggest that this approach may have effects aside from an increase in Nrf2 signaling. which is not surprising as Keap1 has been shown to interact with several different signal transduction pathways.

Significance of the findings

The role of Nrf2 in the resolution of cell stress, including oxidative stress and electrophilic compounds, has been widely studied over the last several decades ^{10–12}. Recently, the role of Nrf2 in the murine innate and adaptive immune responses has been an accelerating area of research, as Nrf2-null mice have aberrant immune reactions, including autoimmunity ^{13–17}. Also, activation of Nrf2 in mouse models has proven to skew T cell polarization and may play a role in the development of allergy and asthma ¹⁷. With that in mind, little has been elucidated in regard to the role of Nrf2 in the human immune response, partially due to inadequate models to determine these effects. The work presented in this dissertation shows a key role for Nrf2 in the modulation of the early effects of T cell activation². This was done by implementing several different Nrf2 activators, as well as knocking out Nrf2 and Keap1 expression in the human Jurkat T cell line. These are the first studies to our knowledge in which these genetic models have been used to study Nrf2 and Keap1 expression on human T cells, showing modulation of immune endpoints from cytokine production to activation-induced cell death. Moreover, the cell lines that have been generated from these studies can be used to determine the Nrf2 specific effects of other immunotoxicants that activate Nrf2, such as arsenic and cadmium. Prior to these studies, it was difficult to determine if the effects these compounds have on the immune response are due to Nrf2 activation, as these studies frequently relied on incomplete knockdown of Nrf2. Aside from different toxicants, Nrf2-null cells provide a blank slate of sorts. A system that lacks Nrf2 will allow us to re-introduce different Nrf2-mutants into the cells, providing means by which to investigate different polymorphisms within the human population and to study the effects of those within the model. Moreover, the CRISPR-Cas9 plasmids that were utilized to generate the gene knock-outs can, in turn, be used to produce Nrf2 and Keap1 knock-outs in human hematopoietic stem cells, a model in which differentiation and polarization of T cells can be studied. Taken together, the data generated in this dissertation moves the

field forward on multiple fronts and is the first to show definitively that Nrf2 modulates human immune responses.

Future directions

Our most recent studies examining the differences between wild-type, Nrf2-null, and Keap1-null Jurkat T cells demonstrate that changes in gene expression for both Nrf2 and Keap1 result in marked changes in cytokine production, expression of cell surface markers of activation, as well as cell viability after activation. Additional studies need to be done to determine other potential pathways and mechanisms by which disruption of Nrf2 and Keap1 modulates early events of T cell activation. Recently, recent studies indicate an increasingly important role for Nrf2 and Keap1 in the maintenance of mitochondrial homeostasis, where increases in Nrf2 signaling result in increases in mitochondrial membrane potential and ATP production, and depletion of Nrf2 had the inverse effect ^{18,19}. Additionally, it has been shown that Nrf2 can be tethered to the outer membrane of the mitochondria by Keap1, where it serves to regulate mitophagy, a process in which damaged mitochondria are removed from the cell ^{20–22}.

At the site of interaction between Nrf2 and Keap1 is p62, an autophagic adapter protein and Nrf2 target gene, which in turn has been shown to induce Nrf2 in a positive regulatory loop ^{20,21}. Activation of Nrf2 can induce the transcription of p62 and target the mitochondrion for turnover. In our system, the interplay between Nrf2, Keap1, and the mitochondria may be playing multiple roles. Increased Nrf2 signaling in Keap1-null cells may be resulting in a concurrent increase in p62. Induction of p62 may increase the rate of Keap1 turnover and thereby Nrf2 signaling, which would ultimately be beneficial in mitigating stress. Overexpression of Nrf2 may, however, be detrimental to the cell, which has been shown in other systems, as increased Nrf2 signaling

has been shown to promote chemo resistance of tumors, as well as dysregulating immune endpoints, such as hematapoesis. Moreover, maintenance of mitochondrial membrane potential and apoptosis can be conjoined phenomena, where a decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential can lead to cytochrome c leakage and subsequent caspase activity, as well as decreases in ATP production ²³. Stimulation of T cells cause a rapid increase in the metabolic state of the cell, as immune responses, such as cytokine production and clonal expansion are induced ²⁴. It is reasonable to hypothesize, therefore, changes in the metabolic state of T cells may cause both increases and decreases in endpoints of activation, including cytokine production and activation-induced cell death.

Analysis of mitochondrial function, in addition to the completed studies in immune endpoints and cell death, in all three Jurkat genotypes takes strides in determining the immune modulatory effects of the Nrf2/Keap1 system within a human model. These studies do not definitively determine if the phenotype observed in the Keap1-null cells is due to overexpression of Nrf2 or ablation of Keap1, as both proteins have been shown to interact with and modulate several different pathways, including AP-1, NFkB, as well as other P45 family members ¹⁰. Furthermore, numerous studies demonstrate that modulation of both Nrf2 and Keap1 individually can modulate the immune response in murine models ^{8,25}. Accordingly, it is plausible that, although knocking out Keap1 results in constitutive Nrf2 activity, it also has effects on T cell activation that are Nrf2-independent. One approach to determine Nrf2-specific vs. Nrf2-independent effects on the early events of human T cell activation, is the development of Nrf2/Keap1 double knock out clones, by CRISPR-Cas9. Analysis of Nrf2 and Keap1 double-knock outs will provide the tools necessary to delineate the role of each individual protein on T cell activation. Given the heterogeneity of the Jurkat cell line, as well as the possible off-target effects of techniques, such as CRISPR-Cas9, double knock-outs must be analyzed from both

Nrf2-null and Keap1-null parent populations. Analysis of single knock-out clones, as well as double knock-out clones will additional insight on the role of Nrf2 upon the early events of T cell activation. Currently, the data suggest that modulation of Keap1 expression to generate constitutively-active Nrf2 clones has its shortcomings, which suggests the need for alternative approaches.

One significant contribution of this dissertation is the development of a Nrf2-null human T cell model, which was previously unavailable. This model provides a system in which one can reexpress varying polymorphisms of Nrf2 and study their function on T cell activation. This is important because there are a number of Nrf2 polymorphisms that have been identified within the human population; many of these have been shown to be either associated with, or causative, in human disease ²⁶. These diseases include systemic lupus erythematosus, several cancers, and acute lung injury ²⁶. Because of the limitations of the field, however, the mechanisms by which these diseases arise have gone understudied in human models. As many of the diseases which are associated with Nrf2 polymorphisms are mediated by aberrant immune responses, including asthma and lupus, re-expression of these polymorphisms into the pre-existing Nrf2-null T cell line will begin to allow the study of the mechanism(s) by which altered Nrf2 function may modulate T cell activation and, in turn, result in dysregulation of immune function and the development of disease.

Understanding the role of known Nrf2 polymorphisms within the human population is paramount, but much can still be gleaned from a model in which Nrf2 is not able to be adequately repressed and has constitutive activity. Modulation of Keap1 has been previously shown to affect immune endpoints in mouse models, including hematopoiesis. Discussed in chapter one, canonically, negative regulation of Nrf2 occurs by interaction with Keap1 and subsequent degradation by the proteasome ¹². The interaction of Nrf2 with Keap1 is mediated through the N-terminal Neh2 domain, specifically the ETGE and DLG motifs, with the first having greater affinity for Keap1 ¹⁰. Studies have shown that mutations within the ETGE and DLG motifs results in an increase in Nrf2 signaling ²⁷. One approach to generating a constitutively-active Nrf2 model, with minimal off targets, is the lentiviral transduction of Nrf2 mutants, which lack the DLG, ETGE, or both DLG and ETGE motifs within the Nrf2-null Jurkat cell line. Expression of these Nrf2 mutant constructs within Nrf2-null cells will provide a model in which the only functional Nrf2 present can no longer be repressed by Keap1. Although other means of Nrf2 degradation exist, such as β-TrCP, our previous data, as well as studies by other groups, suggest that the major pathway of Nrf2 negative regulation is through Keap1, suggesting that disruption of the interaction between Nrf2 and Keap1 may be sufficient for constitutive Nrf2 activation ^{28,29}. Ultimately, this could produce a model which no longer requires non-specific stimuli to activate Nrf2, such as tBHQ and CDDO-Im, which are known to interact with other pathways, including NFκB.

Generation of constitutive Nrf2-mutants, by removal of either the DLG or ETGE is applicable in models beyond the Jurkat T cell. Currently, as the field lacks pharmacologic Nrf2-specific activators or suppressors, Nrf2 activation is studied by use of compounds, such as arsenic, which activate pathways other than Nrf2. There is a need for models in which the function of Nrf2 can be studied, without the off-target effects of many of the compounds currently in use. One approach to meeting this need would be the generation of transgenic mice, which confer the same mutations described above, lacking the DLG, ETGE, or both motifs of Nrf2. This approach will allow for the in-vivo analysis of immune endpoints, using wild-type, Nrf2-null, and constitutively-active Nrf2 models. With respect to previous studies in our lab, this model could

be used to further characterize the mechanism by which Nrf2 skews CD4 T cells toward a Th2 phenotype. Beyond this, Th2 polarization has effects on other immune endpoints, such as the development of Th1 cells, which is suppressed by Th2 polarization. In terms of immune response, Th1 cells are integral in the response to intracellular pathogens, such as viruses. It is reasonable to hypothesize that, if Nrf2 skews CD4 T cells toward a Th2 phenotype, DLG/ETGE mutant mice would be more sensitive to viral infection. Conversely, Nrf2-null mice would have increased viral clearance, as we have previously shown that Nrf2-null mice have an increase in Th1 cytokine secretion, and Th1 master regulators, such as T-BET ¹⁷.

Although these studies push the field forward in the determination of the role of Nrf2 in human T cell responses, Jurkat T cells are a leukemic cell line, and as such, are inherently different than primary cells and are not used to study T cell polarization or differentiation. Additionally, mice provide a model to determine molecular mechanism and T cell differentiation in vivo and ex vivo, but species differences can arise. Therefore, researchers must be diligent to ensure the endpoints measured are indicative of normal human physiology. The development of human CRISPR constructs to remove Nrf2 expression in Jurkat cells can also be used in other human models, including commercially available hematopoietic stem cells (HSC). As we have already shown these constructs to be efficient in targeting Nrf2, it is feasible that the same plasmids may be used in the HSCs ¹. Comparison of wild-type and Nrf2-null HSCs will allow for a beginning-to-end approach to T cell differentiation and polarization. Additionally, we have shown that mouse CD4 T cells treated with the food additive tBHQ are skewed toward the Th2 phenotype, but these studies need to be repeated in a human model. Generation of Nrf2-null human HSCs would provide the opportunity to determine the Nrf2-specificity of not just tBHQ, but also other Nrf2 activators, such as cadmium, on primary human immune cell function.

Taken together, the work that has been already accomplished in this dissertation pushes the field forward in the understanding of the role of the stress-activated transcription factor Nrf2 in modulating human T cell function. Furthermore, it provides the foundation and framework necessary to generate additional models, in which we can determine the mechanism by which human polymorphisms of Nrf2 promote the pathogenesis of various diseases. Additionally, the insight gained from the previous studies may allow for the development of constitutively-active Nrf2 models, which do not alter the expression of Keap1, decreasing the likelihood of unwanted off-target effects. Such a model could be potentially applicable to human cell lines, primary human cells and various mouse models. Finally, the CRISPR-Cas9 vectors which have been generated can be used to generate transgenic human HSCs, which will allow for the analysis of the development of the T cell niche, as well as polarization of T cells toward a terminally differentiated state, such as the Th2 subset. Furthermore, immunomodulatory molecules such as tBHQ, can be used in this model to determine the role of Nrf2 in their effects on the development and polarization of T cells. These data, as well as the other proposed future directions, would make major advances in the understanding of the role Nrf2 plays in human T cell biology.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- 1. Zagorski, J. W. *et al.* The Nrf2 Activator, tBHQ, Differentially Affects Early Events Following Stimulation of Jurkat Cells. *Toxicol. Sci.* **136**, 63–71 (2013).
- Zagorski, J. W., Maser, T. P., Liby, K. T. & Rockwell, C. E. Nrf2-Dependent and -Independent Effects of *tert* -Butylhydroquinone, CDDO-Im, and H₂O₂ in Human Jurkat T Cells as Determined by CRISPR/Cas9 Gene Editing. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 361, 259– 267 (2017).
- 3. Zhang, D. D. & Hannink, M. Distinct cysteine residues in Keap1 are required for Keap1dependent ubiquitination of Nrf2 and for stabilization of Nrf2 by chemopreventive agents and oxidative stress. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **23**, 8137–51 (2003).
- 4. Reth, M. Hydrogen peroxide as second messenger in lymphocyte activation. *Nat. Immunol.* **3**, 1129–1134 (2002).
- 5. Barkett, M. & Gilmore, T. D. Control of apoptosis by Rel/NF-kappaB transcription factors. *Oncogene* **18**, 6910–6924 (1999).
- 6. Green, D. R., Droin, N. & Pinkoski, M. Activation-induced cell death in T cells. *Immunol. Rev.* **193**, 70–81 (2003).
- 7. Wakabayashi, N. *et al.* Keap1-null mutation leads to postnatal lethality due to constitutive Nrf2 activation. *Nat. Genet.* **35**, 238–45 (2003).
- 8. Murakami, S. *et al.* NRF2 activation impairs quiescence and bone marrow reconstitution capacity of hematopoietic stem cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* MCB.00086-17 (2017). doi:10.1128/MCB.00086-17
- 9. Noel, S. *et al.* T Lymphocyte-Specific Activation of Nrf2 Protects from AKI. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* **26**, 2989–3000 (2015).
- 10. Kensler, T. W., Wakabayashi, N. & Biswal, S. Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1 Nrf2 ARE pathway. *Annu.Rev.Pharmacol.Toxicol.* **47**, 89–116 (2007).
- 11. Dinkova-Kostova, A. T. *et al.* Direct evidence that sulfhydryl groups of Keap1 are the sensors regulating induction of phase 2 enzymes that protect against carcinogens and oxidants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **99**, 11908–13 (2002).
- 12. Itoh, K. *et al.* An Nrf2/Small Maf Heterodimer Mediates the Induction of Phase II Detoxifying Enzyme Genes through Antioxidant Response Elements. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **236**, 313–322 (1997).
- 13. Yoh, K. *et al.* Nrf2-deficient female mice develop lupus-like autoimmune nephritis. *Kidney Int.* **60**, 1343–1353 (2001).
- 14. Ma, Q., Battelli, L. & Hubbs, A. F. Multiorgan Autoimmune Inflammation, Enhanced

Lymphoproliferation, and Impaired Homeostasis of Reactive Oxygen Species in Mice Lacking the Antioxidant-Activated Transcription Factor Nrf2. *Am. J. Pathol.* **168**, 1960–1974 (2006).

- 15. Kong, X. *et al.* Enhancing Nrf2 Pathway by Disruption of Keap1 in Myeloid Leukocytes Protects against Sepsis. *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* **184**, 928–938 (2011).
- 16. Thimmulappa, R. K. *et al.* Nrf2 is a critical regulator of the innate immune response and survival during experimental sepsis. *J. Clin. Invest.* **116**, 984–95 (2006).
- 17. Rockwell, C. E., Zhang, M., Fields, P. E. & Klaassen, C. D. Th2 skewing by activation of Nrf2 in CD4(+) T cells. *J. Immunol.* **188**, 1630–7 (2012).
- 18. Holmström, K. M. *et al.* Nrf2 impacts cellular bioenergetics by controlling substrate availability for mitochondrial respiration. *Biol. Open* **2**, 761–70 (2013).
- 19. Kovac, S. *et al.* Nrf2 regulates ROS production by mitochondria and NADPH oxidase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gen. Subj.* **1850**, 794–801 (2015).
- 20. Komatsu, M. *et al.* The selective autophagy substrate p62 activates the stress responsive transcription factor Nrf2 through inactivation of Keap1. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **12**, 213–223 (2010).
- 21. Jain, A. *et al.* p62/SQSTM1 is a target gene for transcription factor NRF2 and creates a positive feedback loop by inducing antioxidant response element-driven gene transcription. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 22576–22591 (2010).
- 22. Ichimura, Y. *et al.* Phosphorylation of p62 Activates the Keap1-Nrf2 Pathway during Selective Autophagy. *Mol. Cell* **51**, 618–631 (2013).
- 23. Green, D. R. & Reed, J. C. Mitochondria and apoptosis. *Science (80).* **281,** 1309–1312 (1998).
- 24. Sena, L. A. *et al.* Mitochondria Are Required for Antigen-Specific T Cell Activation through Reactive Oxygen Species Signaling. *Immunity* **38**, 225–236 (2013).
- 25. Murakami, S., Shimizu, R., Romeo, P.-H., Yamamoto, M. & Motohashi, H. Keap1-Nrf2 system regulates cell fate determination of hematopoietic stem cells. *Genes to Cells* **19**, 239–253 (2014).
- 26. Cho, H.-Y., Marzec, J. & Kleeberger, S. R. Functional polymorphisms in Nrf2: implications for human disease. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* **88**, 362–372 (2015).
- 27. Shibata, T. *et al.* Cancer related mutations in NRF2 impair its recognition by Keap1-Cul3 E3 ligase and promote malignancy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **105**, 13568–73 (2008).
- 28. Rada, P. *et al.* Structural and functional characterization of Nrf2 degradation by the glycogen synthase kinase 3/β-TrCP axis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **32**, 3486–99 (2012).
- Chowdhry, S. *et al.* Nrf2 is controlled by two distinct β-TrCP recognition motifs in its Neh6 domain, one of which can be modulated by GSK-3 activity. *Oncogene* **32**, 3765–3781 (2013).